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I.-  INTRODUCTION

This qui tam action alleges violations of the federal False Claims Act, 31 U.5.C. § 3729,
el seq., and analogous state false claims acts related tv emergency room (*ER”) care provided in
facilities owned, managed, or operated by Defendant Health Management Associates, [nc.
(“HMA™). Qu: Tam Relators Thomas L. Mason, M.D., Steven G. Folstad, M.D. and Mid-
Atlantic Emergency Medical Associates, PA (“MEMA?™), through their legal counsel Pietragallo
Gordon Alfano Bosick & Raspanti, LLP and Wyatt & Blake, LLP bring this action on their own
behalf, and on behalf of the United States of America and the States of North Carolina, Florida,
Georgia, Oklahoma, Tennessee and Texas, against Defendants HMA, Lake Norman Regional
Medical Center, Davis Regional Medical Center, Emergency Medical Services Corporation
(“EMSC™), EmCare, Inc, {“EmCare”), EmCare Holdings, Inc. (“EmCare Holdings”), and
Emergency Medical Services, LP. (“EMS LP”), collectively referrsd to hereaficr as “the EmCare
Deferdants.” Relators Folstad, Mason and MEMA also bring this action on their own behalf to
recover damages for pendent statc law claims.

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This action arises under the laws of thé United States of America fo redress
violations of the federal FCA, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 ef seq., and the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, 42
U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b).

2. Subject-matter jurisdiction fs conferred by 31 US.C. § 3732(a) and 28 US.C. §§
1331, 1345.

3. The Court has jurisdiction over Defendants’ violations of the false claims and Anti-
Kickback Statutes of the States of Noith Carolina, Florida, Georgia, Oklahoma, Tennessee and

Texas pursuant to 3] U.S.C. § 3732(b), because Defendants’ violations of these state laws and their
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violations of the federal FCA arise from the same transactions or occurrences. The Court has
pendant jurisdiction over Defendants’ state law violations and Relators’ state law causes of action
because these state law violations and claims and Defendants’ violations of the federal FCA arise
out of a common nucleus of operative facts.

4, The Court has personal jurisdiction over all of the Defendants because 31 U.S.C. §
3732(a) authorizes nationwide service of process, and because all of the defendants have at least
minimum contacts with the United States, and can be found in, transact or have transacted, business
in the Western District of North Carolina.

5. Defendants HMA and the EmCare Defendants regularly perform healthcare services
and submit or cause the submission of thousands of claims for payment to federal and state health
care programs, including, but not limited to, Medicare and Medicaid, and accordingly, are subject to
the jurisdiction of this Couwrt,

6. Venue lies under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b),(c) and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) because the
Western District of North Carolina is a district in which any one Defendant can be found or
transacts business, and an act proscribed by 31 U.S.C. § 3729 occurred within this district. The
Court also has jurisdiction over the causes of action broUght under tl.w 1aws.6f the various states for
the recovery of funds paid by a State or local government because these arise from the same facts
forming the basis of the action bt*éLtght under 31 US.C, § 3730

7. The specific facts, circumstances and allegations of the Defendants® violations of the
federal and state False Claims Acts have not been publicly disclosed in a civil suit or administrative
civil money penalty proceedings in which the government s already a party.

8. Relators Mason, Folstad and MEMA are the original source of all the information
upon which this Complaint is based with regard to HMA, Lake Norman Regional Medical Center,

Davis Regional Medical Center and the EmCare Defendants, as that phrase is vsed in the federal
2
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and state FCAs, and they have provided information of the allegations of this Complaint to all the
governments prior to filing their Complaints.

. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

9. On September 23, 2010, Qui Tam Relators Thomas L. Mason, M.D., Steven G.
Folstad, M.D. and Mid-Atlantic Emergency Medical Associates, PA ("MEMA"), filed their
Original Complaint, under seal, alleging that Defendants Health Management Association, Inc.
(“HMA™), Lake Norman Regional Medical Center, Davis Regional Medical Center, Emergency
Medical Services Corporation (“EMSC”), EmCare Holdings, Inc. (“EmCare Holdings™), and
EmCare, Inc. (“EmCare”) submitted or caused the submission of false claims to federal and state
health programs, in violation of the federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729, ef seq. and
analogous state false claims acts, Defendants HMA, Lake Norman Regional Medica! Center,
and Davis Regional Medical Center are collectively referred to as the “HMA. Defendants.”
Defendants Emergency Medical Services Corporation, EmCarc Holdings, Inc., and EmCare, Inc.
are referred to collectively as the "EmCarc Defendants,”

10.  On April 18, 2011, Qui Tam Relators ﬁ]ed, undgr seal with this Court, their First
Amended Complaint. Relators’ First Amended Complaint, amolng ot!lmer things; added factual
allegations against the HMA and EmCare Defendants, and North Carolina state law causcs of
action (Count X — Tortious Interference with a Contractual Relationship, Count XI —
Defamation and Slander Per Se, and Count XII - North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade
Practices Act) against the HMA Defendants.

I1.  On April 12, 2012, Qui Tam Relators filed, under seal with this Court, their
Second Amended Complaint. Relators’ Second Amended Complaint added factual allegations

and North Carolina state [aw causes of action (Count X — Tortious Interference with a
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Contractual Relationship, and Count XJI — North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices
Act) against the EmCare Defendants,

12.  Pursuant to this Court's Order, and the federal False Claims Act, 31 US.C. §
3730(b), this case has remained under seal while the United States and the named states of North
Carolina, California, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Touisiana, Nevada, New Jersey, New
Mexico, Oklahoma, Tennessee, Texas, and Virginia, have investigated the allegations in
Relators’ Second Amended Complaint.

13, In the fall of 2012, in the midst of the various governments’ investigations, the
United States Department of Justice advised Relators’ counsel that the United States intended, on
or before January 31, 2013, to file a Motion with the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation
(“MDL Panel™) requesting a transfer of Relators” allegations in this case against the HMA and
the EmCare Defendants. The United States also notified Relators’ counsel that it intended to
request that the MDL Panel transfer other cases against the HMA Defendants pending in other
district courts,

14 Relators have been advised that the United States will be requesting that courts in
which qui tam matters against HMA are currently pe'ndi“ng, incluaing thls one, partially lift the
seals in those cases to allow the Government to serve MDL pleadings and briefs on Defendant
HMA and the othet gui fam relators in other districts with cases against HMA.

15.  Pursuant to the request by the United States, on December 10, 2012, Relators filed
a severance motion to facilitate the Government’s presentation of the transfer motion to the
Judicial Panel for Multi-District Litigation in eases against HMA and the EmCare Defendants.

16.  While Relators consented to the United States” impending motion to the Judicial
Pane] for Multi-District Litigation, they respectfully noted for the record their objection to the

inclusion of their elaims under North Carolina law against the HMA and EmCare Defendants
4
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and thaf they intend, if necessary, and at the appropriate time, to request that those claims be
transferred back to the Western District of North Carolina for resolution of substantive motions
and trial.

17.  This severed Second Amended Complaint is being filed pursuant to the Court’s
Order dated December 10, 2012.
IV. THE PARTIES

A, Plaintiffs/Relators

18.  Plaintiffs/Relators Thomas L. Mason, MD and Steven G. Folstad, MD are residents
of North Carolina and citizens of the United States. PlaintiffRelator MEMA is a corporation
existing under the laws of the state of North Carolina whose principal place of business is located in
North Carolina,

1. Thomas L. Mason, MD, FACEP

19, Relator Thomas L. Mason, MD, FACEP, is board-certified in emergency medicine
and licensed to practice medicine under the laws of North Carolina.

20, Since 1994, Dr. Mason has been in priyate practice. He.is a principal shareholder in
Relator MEMA, which provides emergency room covci-ag; under p.rofessioﬁal services agreements
with a number of hospitals in and around the Charlotte, North Carolina area.

21, Dr. Mason also served as the Medical Director, Emergency Department, Lalke
Norman Regional Medical Center, Mooresville, NC (1997 — November 2010). Until 2000, Dr.
Mason also provided emergency room professional scrvices at Presbyterian Hospital in Charlotte,
NC, as well as Presbyterian Hospital - Matthews in Matthews, NC,

22, Thomas L. Mason, MD earned a B.A. from the University of North Carolina,
Chapel Hill, 2 B,A. from the University of North Carolina, at Greénsboro, and his medical degree,

with honors, from the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, North Carolina. Dr, Mason served
5
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his internship and residency in Emergency Medicine at North Carolina Baptist Medical Center of
Walke Forest University, where he was Chief Resident of Emergency Medicine,

23,  Relator Mason also served until November 3, 2010, as Chairman, Emergeney
Department Committee, Lake Norman Regional Medical Center, where he has served as the Chief
of Staff and Vice Chief of Staff. In addition, he had also served as a member of the Medical
Executive Committee (“MEC") at Lake Norman Regional Medical Center for 13 years. Dr. Mason
has served as the Immediate Past President, President, and PresidentElect of the Board of
Directors, North Carolina College of Emergency Physicians (“NCCEP™). In 2006, Dr. Mason was
named Emergency Phystcian of the year by the NCCEP.

24, Dr, Mason also serves as a Councilor, American College of Emergency Physicians,
as an Oral Board Examiner, American Board of Emergency Medicine, and as Chairman, EMTALA
Comptiance Committee, Lake Norman Regional Medical Center. Relator Mason has served on the
North Carolina Medicare Carrier Advisory Committee, the Audit and Review Committee, Iredell
County Emergency Medical Services, Statesville, North Carolina, and as Chairman and Associate
Chair of the Research Committee, North Carolina College of Emergency‘Physicians. Dr. Mason is a
current and former member of many local and national'prgstigious éx'ofes;idnal scientific societies.
He is a Fellow of the American College of Emergency Physicians (“ACEP™).

25.  Relatot Mason began working in the Lake Notman ED in 1994, In 1996, MEMA
was awarded the ED contract there. In approximately 1997, Dr. Mason became the Lake Norman
ED Medical Director there, and he continued in that position until he was terminated on November
3, 2010. As Take Norman ED Medical Director, Relator Mason served as a conduit between
MEMA, HMA’s hospital executives and administrators at Lake Norman, and HMA’s corporate

executives.
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2. Steven G. Folstad, M}, FACED

26,  Relator Steven G. Folstad, MD, FACEP is hoard-certified in emergency medicine
and licensed to practice medicine under the laws of North Carolina.

27.  Steven G. Folstad, MD attended the University of Texas and the University of
Houston prior to receiving his medical degree at Baylor College of Medicine in Houston, Texas.
Dr. Folstad served his internship and his residency in Ewnergency Medicine at Wake Forest
University Baptist Medical Center, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, where he served as Chief
Resident, Relator Folstad currently serves as the Medical Director, Iredell County EMS.

28.  Dr. Folstad is a cutrent and former member of many local and national professional
scientific societies. He is presently a Fellow of the American College of Emergency Physicians
(“ACEP™), the North Carolina College of Emergency Physicians (“NCCEP”) and the North
Carolina Medical Society.

29.  Dr. Folstad has served on the faculty of the Department of Emergency Medicine,
Walce Forest University Bowman Gray School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, North Carolinz as an
instructor and an Assistant Professor, as well as.the_Assistant Resicle_ncy Program Director and
Resideney Program Director. Since 1997, Dr. Fols‘tad‘ has hceﬁ in pt.‘i-vétc medical practice.
Currently, he is a principal shareholder, member of tﬁe Board of Direetors, and the President and
Chief Executive Officer of Relator MEMA.

30.  Dr. Folstad has provided emergency room coverage under professional services
agreements between MEMA and a number of hospitals in the Charlotte, North Carolina area
including, but not limited to, Defendant Davis Regional Medical Center located in Statesville. Dr.
Folstad provided these services at Davis Regionai until‘ MEMA’s contract was terminated on
September 1, 2010, Relator Folstad began working at Davis Regional in 2000, when he took over

as ED Medical Director there. Prior to his arrival at Davis Regional, he worked at Lake Norman,
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Presbyterian-Matthews and Presbyterian-Charlotte. As Davis Regional ED Medical Director, Dr.
Folstad served as a conduit between MEMA, HMA’s hospital executives and administrators at
Davis Regional, and HMA’s corporate executives. Dr. Folstad also served as Chairman of the
Department of Emergency Medicine at Davis Regional.

31, Dr. Foistad served as Medical Director of the ED at Davis Regional until January,
2008, when he became the President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO™) of MEMA. In that
position, Relator Folstad is responsible for the internal operations of MEMA. He also served as
MEMA's primary contact with HMA corporate executives regarding the professional services
contracts to staff the Lake Notman and Davis Regional ERs.

3. Mid-Atlantic Emergeney Medical Associates, PA (“MEMA™)

32.  Relator Mid-Atlantic Emergency Medical Assaciates, PA (“MEMA”) is a
professional medical corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of North
Carolina. MEMA’s principal place of business is located at 1900 Randolph Road, Suite 900,
Charlotte, North Carolina. Fournded in 1976 as Mecklenberg Emergency Medical Associates,
MEMA is a physician-owned practice providing high quality emergency and acute mediclal care
throughout greater Charlofte and the Piedmont area of North Cal'oiir;a. Prior to November 3,2010.
MEMA had 60 physician members. MEMA currently has 50 physician shareholders and may be
losing others as a result of incidents alleged in the Complaint.

33, All but one of MEMA’s physicians are board-certified in emergency medicine.
Until ‘Jate summer of 2010, MEMA physicians provided Emergency Room (“ER”) coverage under
professional services agreements with five hospitals, three Presbyterian facilities in Mecklenberg
County and two HMA hospitals in Iredell County, North Carolina. Since Defendant HMA
summarily terminated MEMA’s contracts, MEMA has been unable to replace these contracts.

34.  MEMA physicians have staffed EDs in both for-profit hospitals and not-for-profit
8
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facilities. MEMA physicians staff emergency rooms at two for-profit HMA facilities (HMA’s Lake
Norman and Davis Regional), and three non-profit hospitals in the Presbyterian/Novant network
(Presbyterian Hospital - Charlotte, Presbyterian Hospital - Matthews, and Presbyterian Hospital -
Huntersville). Accordingly, they are in a unique position to see the differences in approaches to
care between profit and non-profit hospitals on a daily basis.

35.  Defendant HMA acquired Defendant Lake Norman Regional Medical Center in
January of 1986. From July 1, 1996 until November 3, 2010, MEMA was the exclusive provider of
ER physician services at Lake Norman pursuant to a professional services agreement with
Defendant HMA. From October 2000 untif September 1, 2010, MEMA had been the exclusive
provider of ER physician services at Defendant Davis Regional Medical Center pursuant to a
professional services agreement with Defendant HMA.

36.  Patients seen by MEMA physicians receive at least two bills for medical treatment,
one from the hospital where they receive emergency and/or in-patient treatment (for facility
charges), and one from MEMA (for charges related to the emergency physician’s professional
services). Patients may also receive charges from other physicians who render care to patients in
the ED or during a hospital admission. |

B. The Defendants

1. Health Management Associates (“HMA™)

37.  Defendant Health Management Associates, Inc. (“HMA™) is a multi-billion dollar
Delaware for-profit corporation whose principal place of business is loeated at 5811 Pelican Bay
Boulevard, Napleé, Florida 34108. HMA transacts business throughout the United States, including
within the Western District of North Carolina. It is one of the largest for-profit hospital
management companies in the United States.

38.  HMA is a publicly traded company. HMA trades on the NYSE under the symbol
9
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“HMA.” HMA was incorporated in Delaware in 1979, but began operations through a subsidiary
that was formed in 1977. HMA reported nearly $5.15 billion and $4.6 billion in nat revenues in
2010 and 2009, respectively, which represents an increase of 12%. Defendant HMA operates acute
care hospitals, clinics and other health care entities located in predominately non-urban areas in the
Southeast and Southwest of the United States. As of December 2009, HMA had approximately
33,700 employees, including 7,200 part-time employees.

39,  As of February 19, 2010, through its subsidiaries, HMA operated 55 hospitals in 15
states, totaling approximately 8,400 beds. HMA's current facilities include 18 hospitals in Florida,
three medical centers in North Carolina, as well as hospitals in the following states: Alabama (2);
Arkansas (2), Georgia (3), Kentucky (1), Mississippi (10), Missouri (2), Oklahoma (2),
Pennsylvania (3), South Carolina (2), Tennessee (3), Texas (1), Washington (2), and West Virginia
(1). HMA also operates physician cfinics to support these facilities.

40,  HMA reports that in 2009 and 2008, Medicare accounted for 32% of HMA's
hospital net revenue. Medicaid accounted for 9% of HMA s hospital qet revenue in 2009, up from
8% in 2008. HMA states in its finaneial rc.ports the importance of physicians who can tefer patients
to or recommend that patients reecive services at HMA fa_cilities: “.Physicia'ns make admitting and
other decisions regarding the appropriate course of patient treatment which, in turn, affect hospital
revenue.”

41.  Most of the physicians who staff HMA hospitals are not HMA employees. They are
independent contractors who are usually staff members of other hospitals. As of December 2009,
HMA directly employed approximately 610 physicians, half of whom were primary care physicians
working at out-patient practices owned and operated by HMA.

42, At the end of 2006, HMA reported that its business strategy to improve hospital

operations included targeted marketing strategies, and *various clinical means to increase the
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utilization of the services provided by our hospitals, paticularly emergency and outpatient
services.” Of note, HMA reported to Wall Street that its growth during 2009 resulted from both
increased emergency room visits and increased hospital admissions.

43, One significant clinical tool that HMA uses to increase utilization of services is Pro-
MED, which HMA describes as “a computer-accessed diagnostic tool that helps doctors assess a
patient’s condition, formulate a diagnosis and suggest a course of treatment.” HMA's reliance on
Pro-MED systems to increase utilization of hospital services across the IMA network of hospitals
is central to the maximization of revenue,

| HMA’S IREDELL COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA FACILITIES

2. Defendant Liazke Norman Regional Medical Center

44, Defendant Mooresville Hospital Management Associates, LLC, d/b/a Lake Norman
Regional Medical Center (“Lake Norman”), is a North Carolina limited liability corporation whose
principal mailing address is 5811 Pelican Bay Boulevard, Suite 500, Naples, Florida 34108. Lake
Norman Regional Medical Center is located at 171 Fairview Roa_d, Mooresville, North Carolina
28L17.

45,  Defendant Lake Norman is a 105-‘bed for—proﬁt acuté care hospital with
approximately 211 full time employees, It is a Medicare-Certified facility which provides ER
services, maternity care, surgery, comprehensive outpatient services and other programs for the
residents of its region, Defendant HMA acquired the former Lowrance Hospital in 1986 and
changed the facility name to Lake Norman Regional Medical Center. Defendant HMA. considers
Lake Norman to be among its “flagship facilities.” MEMA had been the exclusive provider of ED
physician services at Lake Norman from 1996 until its discharge on November 3, 2010.

46.  In 2000, HMA replaced the Lake Norman facility with a new $41 milfion hospital

and medical campus on 30 acres. Considered one of HMA’s highest performing, regional hospitals,
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Lgke Norman received Magnet designation in 2007, Elite Performer status for patient satisfaction,
and top-tier performance in CMS’s Core measures for hospitals in 20609. Core measures frack
evidence-based scientifically-reseaiched standards of care which have been shown to result in
improved clinical outcomes for patients.

47.  Lake Norman’s hospital CEOs have included: P. Paul Smith, FACHE (1996 - May
2008); J. Michael Cowling (May 2008 — February 11, 2009), Vickie Briggs, interim CEQ (February
11, 2009 - June 2009); and Greg Lowe (June 2009 — present).

48.  Defendant Lale Norman rcported gross patient revenues of $364 million in 2009,
according to the most recently filed Medicare Cost report. In the Lake Norman ER, Medicare billed
visits accounted for 21.8% of al| payer-billed patient visits in 2008 and for 2010. [n 2009, Medicare
visits accounted for 21.4% of all payer-billed visits to the Lake Norman ER. Medicaid-billed visits
accounted for 15.1 % and 17.5%, respectively, of payer-billed visits t6 the Lake Norman ER in
2008 and 2009, In 2010, Medicaid-paid visits have accounted for 19.6% of ER visits to the Lake
Norman ER.

3. Davis Regional Medical Center

49.  Defendant Statesville HMA, LLC,A d/bia Davis Regional Medical Center (“Davis
Regional™), is a North Carolina [imited liability company whose principal mailing address is 5811
Pelican Bay Boulcvard, Suvite 500, Naples, Florida 34108, and whose principal place of business is
located at 218 Old Mocksville Road, Statesville, North Carolina 28625,

50.  Defendant Davis Regional is a 149-bed (as of 2009) for-profit hospital with
approximately 393 employees. It is a Medicare-Certified Acute Care facility. Defendant HMA
acquired Davis Regional in October of 2000. Defendant Davis Regional’s gross patient revenues in
2009 were $214 million, according to the most-recently filed Médicare cost report. In the Davis

Regional ER, Medicare-billed visits accounted for 19.2% of all payer-billed visits in 2008, 19.6% of
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such visits in 2009, and [5.9% of payer-billed visits thus far in 2010. Medicaid-billed visits
accounted for 31.6% of all payer-billed visits to the Davis Regional ER in 2008, 33.25% of such
visits in 2009, and 35% of payer-billed visits in 2010.

4. EmCare Defendants

51.  Defendant Emergency Medical Services Corporation (“EMSC”} is a Delaware for-
profit corporation whose principal place of business is located at 6200 S. Syracuse Way, Suite 200,
Greenwood Village, Colorado. EMSC is one of the leading providers of emergency medical
services and facility-based outsourced physician services in the United States. EMSC transacts
business throughout the Unijted States, including within the Western District of North Carolina.
EMSC is a publicly traded company. It is listed on the NYSE as “EMSC.” EMSC was founded
and incorporated in Delaware in 2005, but its EmCare, Inc. subsidiary began operations in 1972.

52, EmCare, Inc. (a/k/a EmCare Tnc.), is a corporation organized and existing under the
laws of the state of Delaware. Its principal address is 6200 S, Syracuse Way, Suite 200, Greenwood
Village, Colorado 80111. Upon information and belief, EmCare, ch. was formerly known as
EmCare Inc, a Texas corporation whose principal place: of business was located at 1717 Main
Street, Suite 5200 Dallas, Texas. EmCare transacts busines_s th*otlgﬁout tﬁe United States, including
within the Western District of North Carolina. Since its founding in 1972, EmCare has become the
leading provider of outsourced emergency department staffing and hospital-based physician
services to healthcare facilities in the United States.

53.  EmCare Holdings, Inc. (“EmCare Holdings™) is a corporation organized and existing
under the laws of the State of Delaware. [ts business address is 1717 Main Street, Suite 5200,
Dailas, Texas 75201, EmCare Holdings transacts business throughout the United States, including
within the Western District of North Carolina, and, according to documents filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission, is the primary operating subsidiary through which EMSC provides
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outsourced emergency department staffing and hospital-based physician services to healthcare
facilities in the United States.

54.  Emergency Medical Services, L.P, (“"EMS LP”) is a limited partnership organized
and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware. Its business address is 6200 S. Syracuse Way,
Suite 200, Greenwood Village, Colorado. EMS LP is a subsidiary of EMSC, which controls 100%
of the voting power in EMS LP. Upon information and belief, at certain times relevant hereto prior
to December 21, 2005, the EmCare brand currently operated through EmCare Holdings was
operated through EMS LP. Today, EMSC’s sole source of revenue is from distributions from EMS
LP, which, in turn, is funded from the operations of the EmCare brand nationwide.

55.  Collectively, EMSC, EmCare, Inc., EmCare Holdings, and EMS LP are referred to
as the “EmCare Defendants.”

56.  In2003, a multi-billion dollar Canadian ventare investor group led by Onex Partners
LP, Onex Corporation, and members of EmCare’s management team purchased American Medical
Response (“AMR") and EmCare. Onex and affiliated entities formed EMSC to own and operate a
number of subsidiaries, including EmCare. Upon information and belief, the Onex ent-i‘ties control
EMSC, which operates its emergency services busitess Lm_der thé E;lﬂCEl‘é@ and AMR brands. In
early 2011, Onex proposed a sale of EMSC for $3.2 billion.

57.  During 2009, EMSC provided services in approximately 13 million patient
encounters in more than 2,200 communities nationwide. EMSC reported nearly $2.6 billion in net
revenues in 2009, of which 48% represented EmCare business.

58. EmCare executives include Terry R. Meadows, MD, Regional Chief Executive
Officer (“CEOQ™), Southeast Region. Dr. Meadows also served as Regional Medical Director for
BmCare from January 1998 until September 2001. In addition to serving as EmCare’s CEO for the

Southeast Region, Dr. Meadows also serves as Defendant HMA’s account representative at

14

Case 3:10-cv-00472-GCM Document 26 Filed 01/09/13 Page 22 of 131




EmCare. EmCare has more than 500 exclusive contracts with hospitals and independent physician
groups to provide emergency department, anesthesiology, hospitalist and radiology staffing,
management and other adiministrative services. Defendant EmCare currently staffs at least 28 HMA
facilities.

59.  In early 2008, the EmCare Defendants announced a national agreement with
Defendént HMA to provide outsourced emergency department management, hospitaiist, radiology,
ground ambulance, and air ambulance services on a preferred-provider basis. During 2009, EmCare
provided services in approximately 9.8 million patient encounters in 39 states. As of December 31,
2009, EmCare had a 12% share of the outsourced emergency department services marlcet.

60.  EmCare reported net revenues for 2009 of $1.2 billion and $1.0 biltion in 2008.
EmCare reported identifiable assets of nearly $584 million as of December 2009. EmCare reports
that its top ten hospital emergency department contracts represent $120.8 million, or 10%, of
EmCare’s net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009. EmCare reports that it derives a
significant portion of its revenue from services rendered to beneﬁciarie_s of Medicare, Medicaid and
other government-sponsored healthcare programs. In .2009’ EmCare reggived approximately 23%
of its net revenue from Medicare and 5% from Medicaid. .

6/, EmCare enters into management services contracts with physicians or physician-
owned professional corporations to deliver services to EmCare’s hospital customers and their
patients, As of December 31, 2009, EmCare contracted with approximately 3,330 physicians as
independent contractors to fulfill its hospital contracts. EmCare provides its independent-contractor
physicians with billing, scheduling, and other setvices. The physicians pay EmCare from the fees
they collect frorm patients and third-party payors. EmCare codes and bills for its physicians through
a wholly-owned subsidiary, Reimbursement Technologies, Tnc. EmCare uses proprietary software

to prepare and submit claims to Medicare, Medicaid and other third-party payors on behalf of its

15

Case 3:10-cv-00472-GCM Document 26 Filed 01/09/13 Page 23 of 131




independent contractor physicians.

EMCAREFE’S CONTRACTS WITH HMA TO PROVIDE ED PHYSICIANS

62.  Defendant EmCare has provided ER physicians to staff HMA ERs since
approximately 1996, In early 2008, HMA and EmCare announced a national agreement for EmCare
to provide outsourced emergency department services on a preferred-provider basis. Upon
information and belief, Defendant EmCare currently provides ED physicians and/or physician
assistants in a majority of HMA’s ERs,

63.  EmCare emergency physicians currently staff the ED in the following six HMA
facilities in Florida: Brooksville and Spring Hill Regional in Hernando County; Charlotte Regional
in Punta Gorda; Lehigh Regional in Lehigh Acres; Pasco Regional in Dade City and Sebastian
River Medical Center. EmCare also provides physicians to render in-patient care at Highlands
Regional in Sebring.

64,  EmCare emergency physicians currently staff the following eight HMA facilities in
Mississippi: Natchez Community Hospital; Central Mississippi Medical Center in Jackson;
Crossgates River Oaks Hospital in Brandon; River Oaks Hospital in Jackson; Biloxi Regional;
Gilmore Memorial in Amory, Madison County Medical Center inlCanton.;l and Ritey Hospital in
Meridian,

65,  EmCare emergency physicians afso staff ERs at HMA facilities in other states,
including: two facilities in Alabama (Riverview Regional in Gadsden and Stringfellow Memorial in
Anniston); one facility in Arkansas (Summit Medical Center in Van Buren); two facilities in North
Carolina (Sandhills and Lake Norman — as of November 2010); three facilities in Pennsylvania
(Carlisle, Heart of Lancaster, and Lancaster Regional); two facilities in South Carolina {Carolina
Pines and Chester); one facility in Tennessee (University Medical Center in Lebanon); one facility

in Texas (Dallas Repional in Mesquite), and two facilities in Washington state (Toppenish
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Cqmmunity Hospital and Yakima Regional Medical and Cardiac Center).

66.  HMA hospitals with EmCare-staffed ERs are among the most compliant in meeting
HMA'’s mandatory benchmark policies for ordering diagnostic tests (using Pro-MED’s Complaint
Test Mapping software) and for admissions.

V. BACKGROUND ON FEDERAL & STATE-FUNDED HEALTH INSURANCE
PROGRAMS :

A. Medicare Program

1. Medicare Covers Only Medically Necessary Services

67.  In 1965, Congress enacted Title XVIII of the Social Security Act, which established
the Medicare Program to provide health insurance for the elderly and disabled. Medicare is a health
insurance program for: people age 65 or older; people under age 65 with certain disabilities; and
people of all ages with end-stage renal discase (permanent kidney failure requiring dialysis or a
kidney transplant). Medicare now has four parts: Part A; Part B, Part C {managed care plans), and
the recently enacted Part D {prescription drug) Program. | |

68.  Medicare Part A (Hospital Insurance) helps cover inpatient care in hospitals,
including critical access hospitals, and skilled nursing facilities (not custodial or long-term care).
Medicare Part A also helps cover hospice care and somc home health care, Medicare Part B
{Medical Insurance) helps cover doctors” services and outpatient care, including emergency care.
Part B helps pay for covered health services and supplies when they are medically necessary. Over
the last forty years, the Medicare Program has enabled the elderly and disabled to obtain necessary
meclical services from medical providers throughout the United States,

69.  The Medicare Program is administered through the United States Department of
Health and Fluman Services (“HHS™) and, specifically, the Centers for Medicate and Medicaid

Services (“CMS"), an agency of HHS. Much of the daily administration and operation of the
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Medicare Program is managed through private insurers under contract with the federal government
(particularly CMS).

70.  To participate in Medicare, providers must assure that their services are provided
economically and only when, and to the extent they are, medically necessary. Sections 1814(a)(2)
and 1835(a)(2) of the Social Security Act, establish that, as a condition for Medicare payment, a
physician must certify the necessity of the services and, in some instances, recertify the continued
need for those services, 42 C.F.R. § 424.10. Regardless of the rules governing the particular type of
care, in order for the federal government to cover Medieare Part A, Medicare Part B, or a Medicare
Part C plan to provide coverage, all care must be “medically necessary.”

71.  Medical care is “medically necessary” when it is ordered or prescribed by a licensed
physician or other authorized medical provider, and Medicare (or a Medicare Part C plan) agrees
that the care is necessary and proper, Services or supplies that are needed for the diagnosis or
treatment of 2 medical condition must meet the standards of good medical practice in the local area.

72.  The severity of a patient’s condition is directly related to Emergency Room charges
submitted by hospitals to government-sponsored health care programs. Patient acuity impacts both
outpatient Emergency Room care, as well as inpatient care for ER pﬁtients ﬁho are admitted to the
hospital for in-patient care. There are various items that can increase the reimbursement sought by
the hospital for the facility side of emergency care: the severity of the patient’s illness or chief
complaint; care rendered by the emergency room nurse, whether diagnostic tests or procedures are
performed in the ER; the care documented by the emergency physician; and whether a consultant is
called to examine the patient,

2. Medicare Coverage for Hospital lmergency Room Services

73.  Emergency Room services are considered outpatient care. Charges for an ER visit

usually have at least two separate components: facilities charges paid to the hospital and
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pr_ofessiona[ charges paid to the physicians who treat the patients.

74.  First, Medicare Part B covers the charge by the hospital for the emergency room
itself. Medicare Part B pays the full Medicare-approved amount, except for a patient co-payment,
which is the responsibility of the Medicare recipient.

75.  The majority of hospital outpatient services (and certain Medicare Part B services
that are furnished to hospital inpatients with no Part A coverage) are paid by Medicare on a
Prospective Payment System (“PPS”) basis.

76, ER charges are based on APCs or “Ambulatory Payment Classifications,” the
government’s method of paying for facility outpatient services for the Medicare program. This is
analogous to the Medicare Part A prospective payment system (“PPS™) for hospital inpatient care
(“Diagnosis Related Groups™ or “DRGs”), discussed below. Ordering additional diagnostic studies
can [ead to a greater severity of care, which would impact the hospital’s charge based on the APC.

77.  Medicare considers patients kept in the hospital (usually for 23 hours or less) for
observations as feceiving “outpatient™ services. Medicare Part B covers hospital care for
observation patients based on lower outpatient APCs, ;athér than the higher rates paid for inpatient
services under Part A. |

78.  Medicare may also pay the hospital a separate fee (in addition to the PPS payment
based on the APC) for specific outpatient services, including clinical diagnostic laboratory services
and medical services received in the ER (such as X-rays, or EKGs). For these services, Medicare
Part B pays based on fee schedules, and hospitals are paid 80 percent of the Medicare-approved
amount.

79.  The emergency physician who cares for a patient in the ER usually bills the patient
separately for his or her professional services. Medicare Part B pays 80 percent of the Medicare-

approved amount for the doctor’s services. The remaining portion is paid by the patient or by a
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Medicare supplemental insurance policy.

3 Billing for Inpatient Care for Patients Admitted to the Hospital through the
Emergency Room :

80.  The Medicare Part A program provides payment for inpatient hospital services under
a prospective payment system (PPS). Under the inpatient PPS, hospitals are paid a prospectively-
determined fixed amount for each hospital discharge. The fixed payment amount per inpatient
discharge is based npon each patient’s diagnosis related group, or DRG.

81.  The DRG assigned to each admitted patient is based on his or her primary admitting
diagnosis. The payment rate for each DRG is based on the cstimated intensity of hospital resources
necessary to treat the average patient with that particular diagnosis. CMS bases Medicare’s DRG
payment rates on national average costs, not the actoal costs incurred by a hospital to provide care.

82,  For patients admitted from a hospitaf clinic or ER, there is no APC payment to the
hospital (no separate facility charge) for the outpatient services provided in the ER. The facility
charge is limited to the Medicare reiimbursement to the hospiial under inpatient DRG methodo‘!ogy.

83.  As with outpatient charges, inpatient care also involves both facilities charges by the
hospital and professional fees by physicians. The hospital bills Medicare under Part A, based upon
the DRG assigned to the patient’s primary admitting diagnosis. The physician who treats the patient
during the admission also bills Medicare Part B, The patients themselves may be responsible for
payments not covered by other insurance.

B. The Medicaid Program

84,  Medicaid was created in 1965, at the same time as Medicare, when Title XIX was
added to the Social Security Act, The Medicaid program aids the states in futnishing medical
assistance to eligible needy persons, including indigent and disabled people. Medicaid is the largest

source of funding for medical and health-related services for America’s poorest people. Medicaid is
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a cooperative federal-state public assistance program which is administered by the states.

85.  Funding for Medicaid is shared between the federal government and those state
governments that choose to participate in the program. Federal support for Medicaid is significant.
For example, the federal government provides approximately 50% of the funding for Medicaid
programs in Florida, Georgia, Oklahoma; Tennessee, and Texas. The remaining finds are provided
by the state. For example, for North Carolina, the federal government provided 55.2% of the
funding for Medicaid in 2008, Title XIX of the Social Security Act allows considerable flexibility
within the States” Medicaid plans and, therefore, specific Medicaid coverage and eligibility
guidelines vary fiom state to state.

86.  While Medicaid reimbursement for emergency room care varies by state, there is
generally a reimbursement to the hospital for the outpatient services provided, and a separate
reimbursement for laboratory services and radiology services performed in the ER.

87.  Like the Medicare Program, Medicaid only covers services or supplies that are
necessary for the diagnosis or treatment of a medical condition, in kgeping with the standards of
good medical practice in the local area.

C. Other Federal Health Care Programs

88.  In addition to Medicaid and Medicare, the federal government reimburses a portion
of the cost of emergency care and in-patient hospitalization under several other federal health care
programs, including but not limited to CHAMPUS/TRICARE, CHAMPVA and the Federal
Employees Health Benefit Program.

89,  CBAMPUS/TRICARE, administered by the United States Department of Defense,
is a health care program for individuals and dependents afﬁl_iated with the armed forces.
CHAMPVA, administered by the United States Department of Veteran Affairs, is a health care

program for the families of veterans with a 100 percent service-connected disability. The Federal
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Employee Health Benefit Program, administered by the United States Office of Personnel
Management, provides health insurance for hundreds of thousands of federal employces, retirees,
and survivors.

V1. APPLICABLE LAW

Al The Federal False Claims Act

90.  The federal False Claim Act (federal FCA) provides, in pertinent part:

(a)  Any person who (1} knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false
or fraudulent claim for payment or approval; (2) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or
used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim; (3} conspires to commit a
violation of (1) or (2) is liable to the United States Governinent for a civil penalty of not less
than $5,500 and not more than $11,000, plus three times the amount of damages which the
Government sustains because of the act of that person. 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)}(1)(A), (B) and (C).

()  For purposes of this section, the terms “knowing” and “knowingly” mean
that a person, with respect to information (1) has actval knowledge of the information; (2} acts in
deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information; or (3) acts in reckless disregard of
the truth or falsity of the information, and no proof of specific int.ent to défraud is rcquired: 3l
U.S.C. § 3729(b)(1)..

B. The Federal Anti-Kickback Statute

91.  Enacted in {972, the main purpose of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, 42
U.S.C. § 13207b(b), is to protect patients and federal heaith care programs from fraud and abuse
by curtailing the corrupting influence of money on health care decisions.

92.  When an entity pays kickbacks to a doctor in order to induce himv/her to refer ot
recorminend patients to the entity for goods and/or services, it ﬁmdamentally compromises the

integrity of the doctor-patient relationship. Government-funded healthcare programs, such as
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Medicare and Medicaid, rely upon physicians to decide what treatment is appropriate and
medically necessary for patients, and, therefore, payable by that heaithcare program. As a
condition of its reimbursement, government healthcare programs require that the physicians must
render their services without the conflict inherent in receipt of a kickback.

93,  Many states, including those states identified as Plaintiffs herein, have enacted
similar prohibitions against illegal inducements to health care decision-makers.

94.  The federal Anti-Kickback Statute and analogous state laws male it a crime to
knowingly and willfully offer, pay, solicit or receive any remunetation to induce a person:

(1) to refer an individual to a person for the furnishing of any item or service
covered under a federal health cate program; or
(2)  to purchase, lease, order, arrange for or recommend any good, facility,
service, or item covered under a federal health care program.
42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(1) and {2).

95, The term “any remuneration” encompasses any kickback, bribe, or rebate, direct
or indirect, overt or covert, in cash or in kind. 42 US.C, § 1320a—7b(b)(1).

96.  Violations of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute mu‘st be knbwing and willful. 42
U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(1).

97.  The federal Anti-Kickback Statute has been interpreted by the federal courts to
cover any arrangement whete one purpose of the remuneration was to obtain money for the
referral of services or to induce further referrais. Proof of an explicit quid pro quo is not required
to show a violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute.

| 98. A violation of the federa! Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a felony punishable
by a maximum fine of $25,600, imprisonment up to five years, or both. Any party convicted

under the federal Anti-Kiekback Statute must be excluded (j.e., not allowed to bill for any
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services rendered) from Federal health care programs for a term of at least five years. 42 U.S.C,
§ 1320a-7(a)(1).

99.  Even without a conviction, if the Secretary of HHS finds administratively that a
provider has violated the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the Secretary may exclude that provider
from federal health care programs for a discretionary period, and may impose administrative
sanctions of $50,000 per kickback violation. 42 U.8.C. § 1320a-7(b).

100. HHS has published safe harbor regulations that definc practicés that are not
subject to prosecution or sanctions undct the federal Anti-Kickback Statute because such
practices would unlikely result in fraud or abuse. See, 42 C.F.R. § 1001.952. However, only
those arrangements that precisely meet all of the conditions set forth in the safe harbor are
afforded safe harbor protection. None of the practices at issue here meet these safe harbor
rcgulations.

101, Compliance with the Anti-Kickback Statute is a condition of payment under the
Medicare and Medicaid programs, and that condition applies regardiess of which entity is
submitting the claim to the government.

102. The Anti-Kickback Statute expressly pljovides tl.'na.t claims that arise from a
kickback scheme are false and violate the False Claims Act. No further express or implied false
statement is required to render such infected claims false, and none can wash the claim clean.

103. It is the very fact that the health care decision-maker has accepted a kickback that
per se renders not payable the claims for goods or services as to which the kickback was given,
not whether the decision-maker would have otherwise selected that good or service (here, ER,
out-patient and in-patient services provided by HMA’s facilities and/or physicians),

104, Moreover, as a prerequisite to participating in federally-funded health care

programs, providers must certify (expressly or, through their participation in a federally-funded
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he;lth care program, impliedly) their compliance with the federal Anti-Kickback Statute.

105.  As a prerequisite to participating in the various state Medicaid programs,
providers must certify (expressly or, through their participation in the state-funded health care
program, impliedly) their understanding of and compliance with both the federal Anti-Kickback
Statute and applicable state anti-kickbacl laws.

106.  Even in absence of an express certification of compliance, a party that submits a
clajm for payment impliedly certifies compliance with all conditions of payment, i.e., that it is
properly payable. Consequently, if a hospital pays a kickback to induce the referral or
recommendation of a patient for in-patient or out-patient services and related goods, it renders
false the submitter’s implied or express certification of compliance that the resulting claim meets
the requirements of the Anti-Kickback Statute.

VII. FRAUD ALLEGATIONS BY RELATORS FOLSTAD, MASON AND MEMA

AGAINST HMA, LAKE NORMAN REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, PAVIS
REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER AND THE EMCARE DEFENDANTS

A, HMA Masks Its Efforts to Bill Federal and State Healtheare Programs for
Unnecessary Emergeney Room Services (Diagnostic Studies) and In-Patient
Admissions of ER Patients upder the Guise of “Quality Improvement”

107.  HMA has adopted and proliferated il[egal nationwide cérporate practices and
systemic ER schemes involving the use of Pro-MED ER products and systems, which are aimed at
generating significant fraudulent revenues from charges for unnecessary diagnostic tests and
hospital admissions, HMA imposed corporate benchmarks on the emergency physicians and staff
in all 55 HMA hospital ERs in order to facilitate the fraud. The Relators resisted HMA's pressures
and were terminated for engaging in protected conduct.

1. HMA'’s Corporate Leadership Structure

(08. HMA is led by President and Chief Execuﬁva Officer, Gary Newsome.

Immediately before he took over at HMA, Newsome was an executive at Defendant CHS from
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1998 until 2008. Before he returned to HMA in 2008, Newsome had be'en employed by HMA as a
senior executive from 1993 to 1998. During that time, Mewsome held executive positions,
including HMA Divisional Vice President of Group Operations, HMA Assistant Vice President of
Group Operations, and Hospital CEO.

109.  When Newsome arrived at HMA in September of 2008, he also joined HMA’s
Board of Directors. Newsome is based at HMA corpotate headquarters in Naples, Florida. Before
Newsome, HMA was led by President and Chief Executive Officer Burke Whitman.

110, Tn addition to CEO Newsome, HMA’s corporate executives include Ronald Riner,
MD, Chief Medical Officer (“CMO”), and Lynne West, RN, Corporate Director of Emergency
Services. Dr. Riner perfouns his duties as CMO as a consultant through a contract between his
consulting company, The Riner Group, and HMA.

111, When Newsome became HMA’s CEQ, he reorganized the corporate |eadership so
that all of HMA'’s hospital operations began to report dicectly to him. Reflecting that change, Kelly
E. Curry, who had been HMA’s Executive Vice President and Chief Qperating Officer (previously
directly responsible for hospital operations)., became the company?s Chicf Administrative Otficer, a
new position. HMA leadership includes division-level ;xecutives for eacﬁ of its five divisions.
Before Newsome reorganized HMA in late 2008, there were eight divisions.

112. A Division President leads HMA’s Divisions 1, 2, 4, and 5, which also have a Chief
Financial Officer (“CFO™). The division CFO for Divisions 1, 2, 4, and 5 report directly to the
division presidents, who, in turn, report directly to HMA's President and CEO, Newsome. Some of
HMA’s Florida hospitals are included in Divisions 3, which is led by a CFO only, who, upon
information and belief, reports dircctly to Newsome.

113, Lake Norman Regional Medical Center, Davis Regiona] Medical Center, and a third

North Carolina facility are included in HMA’s Division I. Britt T. Reynolds, HMA’s current
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Division 1 President, joined the company in December of 2008. Reynolds is Based in HMA's
corporate headquarters in Naples, Florida, and he reports directly to CEOQ Newsome. Reynolds
replaced Page Vaughn as HMA’s Division 1 President. HMA’s Division 1 also has a Chief
Financial Officer (“CFO"), who, like the Division CEO, works out of HMA’s Naplcs, Florida
headquarters.

114.  Since 2003, R, Chris Hilfon has been HMA’s Division 1 CFO, where he is
responsible for the financial operations at 12 hospitals, including Lake Norman and Davis Regional.
Hilton reports directly to Division 1 President, Britt Reynolds.

115. Inaddition to divisional executives, such as the CECQ and CFO, each HMA facility is
ted by a local hospital executive team, which generally includes a Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Medical Officer, and Chief Nursing Officer, Each
HMA hospital ED includes an ED Medical Dirsctot, who is provided by the physictan group that
renders emergency care under contract with HMA,

MEMA’S LONGSTANDING CONTRACT WITH HMA TO
STAFF THE LAKE NORMAN EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT

116. Pursuant to the original contract be‘t\_zveen Relator MEMA'’s predecessor and
Defendant HMA s Lake Norman, MEMA had the exclusive right to provide emergency physicians
to the Lake Norman ED 24/7 and to provide medical services required of the ER. ER services
include providing both emergency room care to ED patients as well as a record of that care.

117.  MEMA also agreed to provide an ED Medical Director (a/k/a “Chief of Services”)
for the Lakc Norman emergency room who was board certified in emergency medicine, internal
medicine or family practice. The ED Medical Director is supposed to serve as the official link
between the MEMA emergency physicians and the hospital, From 1997 until November [, 2010,

Relator Mason fulfilled MEMA’s ED Dircctor obligations at Lake Norman.
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118.  The MEMA ED physicians bill patients and third-party payors for their professional
fees, while HMA’s hospital, Lake Norman, bills for the ER facilities, equipment, supplies, and
support services provided by the hospital. In addition, for patients admitted to the hospital, HMA
and/or its subsidiaries bill for both professional fees and facilities’ fees. The original three-year
contract between MEMA and Lake Norman contained an automatic renewal provision, with either
party having the right to terminate the agreement upon six (6) months priot written notice.

MEMA’S CONTRACT WITH HMA TO STAFF THE DAVIS REGIONAL ET)

119.  When HMA acquired Davis Regional in 2000, MEMA executed a professional
services agreement with Defendant HMA’s Davis Regional. This MEMA/HMA agreement became
effective on November 1, 2000. The original three-year term automatically renewed, with either
party having thé right to terminate the agreement upon 120 days prior written notice.

120.  Like the MEMA agreement at Lake Norman, MEMA had the exclusive right to staff
physicians in the Davis Regional ER 24/7 and to provide medical services required of the ER. As
with the contract at Lake Norman, MEMA services at Davis Regional included providing both care
to ER patients and a record of that care. .

121. MEMA agreed to provide a Medical Direqtor for th.e Davis -Regional ER who was
board certified in emergency medicine, internal medicine or family practice. As with the Lake
Norman contract, the Medical Directot for the Davis ED served as the official link between the ER
physicians and the HMA hospital.

122.  Relator Folstad served as the ED Medical Director at Davis from 2000 until January
of 2008, when he became President of MEMA. At that time, another MEMA physician, Steve
Greer, MD, FACEP, became the Davis Regional ED Medical Director, and he continued in that
position until MEMA was discharged on September 1, 2010.

123.  The Davis Regional ER contract specified that MEMA emergency physicians would
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bill patients and third parties for professional fees, while HMA’S hospital, Davis Regional, would
submnit bills for use of its ER “facilities, equipment, supplies, and support services provided by the
Hospital” (the facility charpes).

124, In keeping with recommendations by the American College of Emergency
Physicians (“ACEP”™), MEMA physicians do not have privileges to admit patients to either Lake
Norman or to Davis Regional. Instead, the MEMA physician, as the ED patient’s treating
physician, contacts an attending physician to discuss a patient for whom the MEMA physician
recommends admisgsion, The ED patients ate p-rimarily admitted to the HMA facilities by physicians
with admitting privileges, including private physicians and physicians employed by, or under
contract with, HMA to render in-patient care.

2, Imergency Department Staffing and ER Patient Flow at HMA’s Hospitals

125.  HMA’s Division 1, led by HMA Division CEQ Reynolds since December of 2008,
includes both North Carolina facilities staffed by MEMA physicians: Lake Norman Regional
Medical Center {where Relator Mason served as ED Medical Director) and Davis Regional Medical
Center. This Division encompasses a total of 12 hospitals, including facilities in Alabama,
Pennsylvania, North Carolina, and South Carclina. |

126.  HMA staffs its ED through both independent-contractor emergency physicians and
HMA employees. HMA retains independent contractor emergency physicians and physician
assistants through professional services agreements, The remaining ED staff, including nurses,
administrative support staff, and ministerial support, are HMA employees.

127.  For more than a decade, MEMA physicians had the exclusive right to provide ED

. physician services for both HMA hospitals in [redel] County, Norlﬁ Carolina: Lake Norman (since

1996); and Davis Regional (since 2000).
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3 Relators’ Knowledge of ER Programs developed by Pro-MED Clinical
Systems, LLC

a, Pro-MED Clinjcal Systems, LLC

128.  Pro-MED Clinical Systems, LLC (*Pro-MED”) is a privately-held Florida for-profit
limited liability corporation whose principal place of business is located at 8641 N.W. 51 Place,
Coral Springs, Florida 33075. Pro-MED t‘ransacts business throughout the United States, including
within the Western District of North Carolina, Founded in 1991, Pro-MED reports that it is the
largest provider of comprehensive Emergency Depariment systems in the United States, currently
serving over 170 hospitals nationwide.

129.  The vast majority of the 170 hospitals nationwide that use Pro-MED Emergency
Department systems are owned, operated, managed or leased by Defendant HMA (55 hospitals) and
by Community Health Systems (“CHS”) (129 hospitals). Upon information and belief, Pro-MED is
used extensively, and nearly exclusively, at HMA and CHS faci!ities.

b. HMA'’s Implements Pro-MED Systems: Patient Manager, Complaint
Test Mapping (Practice Guidelines), and Case Management Software

130.  When Dr. Mason took over the role of ED Medical Diréctor at HMA’s Lake
Norman (in 1996), he understood that HMA was using a billing program called “Pro-MED.” At
that time, MEMA physicians at Lake Norman and Davis Regional used simple dictation to
complete the physician record. Later, they used a paper physician record called T-System to
document their care in patients’ charts, MEMA used this T-system until 2009, when HMA
mandated that all emergency physicians use the Pro-MED physician EMR.

131.  Over the course of their tenure at HMA facilities, Relators became familiar with Pro-
MED’s products (ER software) and related consulting services, which Pro-MED provided to HMA

and its more than 50 facilities throughout the country.
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c. Pro-MED’s ER Sofiware Used at HMA’s Hospitals

132, Pro-MED provides both products (ER software) and related consulting services to
Defendant HMA and its faciiities throughount the country. Defendant IIMA. employs Pro-MED
“emergency room clinical pathway support service” in all HMA hospitals to increase the utilization
of hospital emergency, out-patient and in-patient services. Pro-MED provides the ER clinical
pathway support service to Defendant HMA facilities through the following software and/or
applications; Patient Manager; Complaint Test Mapping (practice puidelines); and Case
Management software,

133, Pro-MED’s Patient Manager program provides ER staff with automated status
boards to monitor the patients” activities from presentation to the ER through disposition. During
this process, Pro-MED’s Patient Manager uses color-coded alerts to highlight “high risk” patients
who should be considered for admission. The Pro-MED Patient Manager includes an automated
triage process.

134, Pro-MED touts its Patient Manager program as a means to “maximize the hospital’s
revenue pofential.” The Pro-MED Patient Manager includes applications to capture both the ED
nurse’s record and the ED physician record, both of which are inclﬁded i;] the Pro-MED electronic
medical record (“EMR™).

135.  Defendant HMA and Pro-MED have collaborated to implement the Pro-MED
Patient Manager software, including the Pro-MED nurse EMR, in HMA EDs throughout the
country since at least 2004, By October of 2006, approximately half of the HMA ER facilities also
utilized the Pro-MED physician EMR.

PRO-MED COMPLAINT TEST MAPPING (PRACTICE GUIDELINES) SOFTWARE

136.  Pro-MED's Complaint Test Mapping practice guidelines, (“CTM guidelines”) are

test sets which are automatically ordered by nurses in the ER based on the ER patient’s chief
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prgsenting complaint. Pro-MED CTM, as implemented at HMA, are discussed at length below.

137.  Upon inforrﬁation and belief, the CTM guidelines are part of the Pro-MED Patient
Manager application, Pro-MED claims that it developed CTM guidelines “in consonance with
criteria formulated by the American College of Emergency Physicians, and other recognized
professional sources that can be customized to each hospital’s individual needs and resources.”

138, Pro-MED developed the CTM guidelines used in EDs throughout the HMA network
specifically for Defendant HMA. Defendant EmCare participated in the development of the HMA
CTM (practice) guidelines. Pro-MED CTM guidelines have been in place at EDs throughout the
HMA networl since at [east October 2003.

PRO-MED CASE MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE USED AT HMA TO
INCREASE ADMISSIONS: QUALITY REVIEW AND QUALCHECK

139.  Pro-MED reports that its Case Management software “[a]lerts clinicians when a
patient meets criteria for case management consultation — before they are discharged” by providing
“prompts for required documentation to support deserviﬁg admissions.” Pro-MEDYs Quality
Review and QualCheck programs recommend that patients be admitted when they do not actually
qualify for an acute care admission through the ER. |

140.  Since 2003, HMA has employed a Pro-MED program called “Quality Review” by
which ED patients were selected, based on very low threshold for admission, to rcceive closer
scrutiny by ED physicians and/or ER management. Upon information and belief, “Quality Review”
standards were selected by HMA and incorporated in the Pro-MED softwarc.

141, Quality Review selection is triggered by information in the chart, including the
nurse’s EMR, which could include, a vital sign, a complaint, a test value, etc. For example, where
the nurse EMR includes a notation that a patient has “the worst headache of their life,” shortness of

breath, or blood in the urine (a common symptoin of a bladder infection} this would result in a

32

Case 3:10-cv-00472-GCM Document 26 Filed 01/09/13 Page 40 of 131




Q\_lality Review indicator for admission. Quality Review patients are selected in real time, before
the patient is discharged from the ER. When a Quality Review patient is not admitted, the
emergency physician and/or ER management would have to justify the discharge. The purpose of
the Quality Review is to increase admissions. The HMA “Quality Review” practice could be
employed at any HMA facility, regardless of the software used by the physician to document the
patient’s chart.

142. In addition, Pro-MED’s Case Management software prompts ER physicians at
HMA hospitals to both consult an attending physician and to consider admission for gvery patient
65 and over.

QUALCHECK

143, In October 2006, Pro-MED presented Defendant HMA with Pro-MED QualCheck,
a sofiware enhancement to the Pro-MED Case Management program. Pro-MED represented to
HMA that QualCheck could assist the ED physician and the hospital by using Medicare or another
index as a quality and treatment check to identify patients, prior to disqharge, who meet criteria for
admission or further treatment, Pro-MED representatives told HMA that, to use Pro-MED
QuaiCheck, the ED must first employ Pro-MED’s physi'cian EMR. | N

144, The Pro-MED QualCheck application scours the patient’s electronic medical
record, including the emergency physician’s EMR, for indications that the patient met pre-set
admission criteria selected by HMA. QualCheck then identifies patients “in real time” (while they
are still in the ER) who meet selected admission criteria and alerts the emergency physician with an
electronic prompt. When the emergency physician concludes that admission is not medically
necessary, the emergency physician must override the QualCheck prompt to complete the patient
record. The physician is expected to document the reason for the override. A second prompt also

appeats to document for critical care for those patients meeting HMA’s corporate criteria.
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145.  Upon information and belief, Pro-MED’s QualCheck admission parameters for
HMA facilities are not based on medical necessity. QualCheck’s admission parameters are based
on the minimum standards that could justify admission and coverage under federal and state
healthcare programs.

146.  The parameters set by HMA and Pro-MED for the QualCheck software to prompt
the EY) physician to consider admission are quite broad, and QualCheck prompts the physician to
admit patients for whom in-patient care is not necessary. For example, QualCheck flags patients for
admission whose diagnostic studies are negative. QualCheck even flags patients who cannot be
admitted (transfer patients and thcl)se who have passed away).

[47. By October 2006, approximatety half of HIMA hospital EDs used the physician
EMR function of the Pro-MED Patient Manager program. Around this same time, or Pro-MED’s
recommendation, HMA employed the QualCheck program in many of the HMA hospitals where
the Pro-MED physician EMR was already in place.

148, In late 2008, after Newsome arrived at HMA, all qf HMA hospital EDs were
required fo use the Pro-MED physician EMR component, in great patt, to facilitate the use of
QualCheck software to cause emergency physicians to recommend #dmissiori for more patients.

4, Patient Flow through HMA Emergency Rooms Using Pro-Med Systems

149, The processes employed at HMA facilities for moving patients through the ER are
automated and designed to proactively facilitate Pro-MED software programs employed system-
wide by HMA to track both patient progress and full utilization of hospital services.

[50. The process for moving a patient through the ER, sometimes referred to as the
“throughput,” involves moving the patient from presentation at the ER to disposition from the ER.

151. A patient arriving at an ER using Pro-MED Systems, including at Defendant HMA’s

facilities, is first assessed by a hospital-employed triage nurse and not a physician. At HMA's Lake
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N'lean and Davis Regional ERs, the triage nurses are offen the least experienced RNs in the
department, HMA’s triage nurses are neither physician’s assistants (“PAs"} nor nurse practitioners
(“NPs™).

152, Under the Pro-MED System implemented at HMA, the triage nuse uses
information hastily gathered from the patient to determine the patient’s so-called “chief presenting
complaint,” The ER triage nurse, without physician assistance, selects the patient’s chief presenting
complaint from a computerized drop-down menu in the Pro-MED Patient Manager program.

153, Selection of the chicf presenting complaint, by a non-physician nurse, immediately
triggers the Pro-MED CTM guidelines program. This protocol electronically orders a battery of
diagnostic studies which correspond to the nurse (not physician) selected putative chief complaint.

154, Most paticnls present at emergency rooms with multiple symptoms or complaints.
Determining which is the patient’s primary or “chief complaint” upon which to base the diagnostic
studies imposes an unreasonable burden on a time-challenged tiiage nutse.

155.  HMA’s procedures, which require triage nurses to deter_mine the chief eomplaint and
to order diagnostic testing without physician input, violates the quth Carolina Nurse Practices Act,
which prohibits a nurse, other than a Nurse Practitioner or Physician’s Aésistant, from ordeting
tests,

156.  Similar statrtes, in virtually every slate, reserve for advanced nurses {nurse
practitioners and physicians assistants) acts of diagnosis, including ordering diagnostic studies.
HMAs procedures requiring triage nurses to order tests violate these statutes.

157.  HMA’s practices of using triage nurses to initiate diagnostic testing is also medically
inappropriate based on the nurse’s level of training and expetience.

158.  Therefore, the patient’s diagnostic studies are ordered and initiated in HMA hospital

EDs by the ER triage nurse based on histher determination of the patient’s chief complaint. BMA’s
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ER process requires that triage nurses order CTM tests before the ED physician has seen the patient.
After triage, the patient either returns (o the waiting room, or is taken to an available ED exam
room, but has not yet been examined by the ED physician.

159.  Once a test is ordered at triage using the Pro-MED CTM, it is confirmed in the Pro-
MED system with a host time. Once the Pro-MED CTM program sets the ER testing process in
motion, the HMA staff inunediately initiates diagnostic studies wherever the patient is located (i.e.,
the patient may be talken from the waiting room to x~ray, or to a chair in the treatment area to have
blood drawn). At times, when the emergency physician enters the exam room, the patient is not
there because they have already been taken for diagnostic studies which have previously been
ordered by nurses.

160. Once the ER patient is in the exam room, the emergency physician conduets a
comprehensive patient assessment and uses his or her own medical judgment to determinc the
patient’s chief complaint. The emergency physician’s determ.ination often does not correspond to
the chief complaint selected by an HMA triage nurse.

[6i. The emergency physician will then 1'¢view the‘diagnos.tic studies that have been
ordered through the Pro-MED CTM guidelines. If the c’hief complaint cnteréd by the nurse at triage
does not accurately represent the patient’s medical condition, additional relevant tests will need to
be ordered by the physician. Where unnecessary lab fests have been initiated, the emergency
physician must wait for these results. Often the CTM guidelines tests are not appropriate, and Pro-
MED does not improve the efficiency or efficacy of the patient care.

162.  The Pro-MED CTM and Patient Management programs do not take into
consideration that some patients will quickly be seen by the emergency physician, who can then
determine from the outset which diagnostic stndies are appropriate.

163, Once the diagnostic studies are complete, the ED physician makes a diagnosis,
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provides treafment, énd arrives at a disposition for the ER patient. At times, the ED physician will
consult with the patient’s private physician, another attending physician, or a specialist to discuss
follow-up out-patient treatment or possible admission.

164.  While the ED physicians at HMA facilities can write orders to discharge patients or
to transfer them to another facility, emergency physicians at HMA hospitals typically do not have
admitting privileges. Thus, when the emergency physician, considered the ED patient’s treating
physician, contacts a hospitalist or other attending physician with admitting privileges, it is to
recommend retaining the patient at the hospital for in-patient treatment.

165.. Therefore, the ED physician can arrive at one of three possible dispositions for the
ED patient: discharge to home; transfer to another facility; or a call to an attending physician to
discuss admission to the hospital or other out-patient follow-up care.

166. A patient can be kept at the hospital for either observation (technically considered
out-patient treatment) or admission for in-patient treatment. | The orders for these last two
dispositions (observation or admission) are written by a physician with admitting privileges (HMA
hospitalists, an attending member of the medical staff, or a patient’s private attending physician).

167.  Following the patient’s disposition, the HMA hospital compiiés the billing record for
its own charges and for the professional component. The hospital provides the emergency
physician group with a copy of the EI} chart in order to facilitate billing for the professional side of
the ER chatges.

5. HMA'’s Billing Process, Including Providing a Billing Recoxd to MEMA

168. Mechanically, Lake Norman and Davis Regional processed the patient records
slightly differently. At Lake Norman, Relator Mason observed that a clerk in the ER would make
four copies of the physician record (the paper T-sheet): one was kept in the ER, one went to medical

records, one was provided to MEMA for billing, one was used by the Lake Norman billing
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department for coding and submission. Someone at Lake WNorman then printed the other
components of the billing record and scanned the package to MEMAs billing company with a face
sheet that listed the documents attached. At Davis Regional, the clerk who did the coding for the
hospital’s ER charges also made copies of the physician record (the paper T-sheef) for MEMA.
This was not done in the hospital billing department.

169, Pursuant to the contracts between MEMA and Lake Norman and Davis,
approximately five days afier discharge, HMA provided MEMA with documentation of the
patient’s demographic, insurance, and clinical information (the chart) which was scanned and
electronically transferred by HMA to MEMA's billing company,

170.  The clinical information (chart} which HMA provided to MEMA for billing
purposes would include the following components:

. Face sheet (identifies the patient name, number, date of service, and practice

(“MAD” for Dayis Regional and “MAN" for Lake Norman patients);

s Demographics page from the Admission Record;

o Consent to Conditions of Treatment and Admission; |

s Discharge Instructions;

» Initial Assessment Form, which provides triage information, including triage time

and chief complaint ascribed at triage;

. Order Procedure Form to be completed by the physician, typically tailored to the
type of emergency;

s Emergency Physician record (prior to the EMR being installed in June of 2009, a T-
System paper record);

s (Sometimes) Nurse Documentation generated by Pro-MED Clinical Systems, LLC;
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. (Sometimes) Order Summary generated by Pro-MED Clinical Systems, LLC, which
lists the diagnostic tests (those recommended by HMA's CTM guidelines, the tests ordered in the
ER by the triage nurse, as well as those ordered by the physician after he saw the patient), the
procedures performed, and the level of care ascribed to the patient visit by Pro-MED;

o (Sometimes) EKG printouts, lab results, etc.;

o (Sometimes) Admission records for patients admitted to the hospital.

171. Both HMA hospitals provided MEMA with a face sheet, adinission record, consent
to treatment, discharge instructions, initial assessment form (friage record), and the emergency
physician’s portion of the chart (the T-sheet physician record and Order Procedure Form).
However, MEMA received slightly different Pro-MED rtecords from Lake Norman and Davis
Regional. From Lake Norman, MEMA typically received the Pro-MED Nurse Documentation
report, including a table showing acuity “points” ascribed by Pro-MED to various nursing tasks.
The Pro-MED Nurse Documentation report MEMA received from Davis Regional did not include
the table of nursing acuity points. However, MEMA did fypically receive from Davis Regional a
report not provided by Lake Norman: the Pro-MED Orders Sun}m.ary, which listed the Pro-MED
CTM tests, both the true and false tests, noting with a h‘ost‘time which were ﬁrdered, as well as any
procedures or treatments ordered by the emergency physician. The Pro-MED Orders Summary
typically also included an ED Level of Care ascribed by Pro-MED.,

172, Upon information and belief, the compenent records included in the clinical
information (chart) which HMA provided to MEMA for billing the professional component of the
ER charges was also utilized by HMA to bill the facilities charges associated with the patients’ care.
The following components of the chart which HMA provided to MEMA are directly relevant to the
HMA hospital facilities charges: Initial Assessment Form, (triage information); Nurse

Documentation generated by Pro-MED Clinical Systems, LLC ({including points table); Order
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Su_mmary generated by Pro-MED Clinical Systems, LLC; any EKG printouts, lab results, etc.; any
appropriate admission records; and/or, Discharge Instrictions. At times, HMA supplied MEMA
with the same facility patient billing chart and the copy of the chart intended for MEMA’s billing
company.

173.  After the HMA facility codes the patient’s chart, it submits a claim to Medicare,
Medicaid, or other third-party payors for any facility charges associated with emergency care, in-
patient care, or observation. In this claim, HMA certiﬂesv to the accuracy and medical necessity of
the emergency services rendered, including the tests ordered.

174.  Relators understand that the coding of the patient chart and billing were conducted
slightly differently at Lake Norman and Davis, but that both facilities relied on the same component
records,

175.  In addition to HMA’s facility charges and the emergency physician’s charges, there
may be professional charges related to other physicians (including HMA physicians) who render
medical care during the patient’s hospital stay.

6. HMA'’s “Quality” Improvements Using Pro-MED Software and Services —
Creating Revenue through Unnecessary Tests and Admissions

176.  Some time before October of 2003, HMA embarked on a campaign to increase
admission to its facilities. Upon information and belief, HMA’s campaign focused on selecting
patient charts based on very low admission thresholds, flagging them for elose scrutiny by the ED
physician, and requiring that emergency physicians admit a minimum number of ER patients. |

177.  Since at least 2003, with active patticipation by Pro-MED, HMA has directed the
treatment of ER patients through executive fiat {corporate selection of diagnostic tests and minimum
admissions levels), and insidiously interfered with the emergency physicians’ independent judgment

of the appropriate and medically necessary care for the ED patient.
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178, Defendant HMA and Pro-MED have dedicated considerable time, effort and
resources fo implement Pro-MED ED software in HMA facilities nation-wide. These efforts to
automate the delivery of service in HMA EDs and to direct patient care from HMA’s corporate
headquarters reveals a scheme to illegally increase and maximize hospital revenue.

179.  HMA touts its efforts to drive ER volumes through executive mandates.on the
number of diagnostic tests ordered and minimum ER patients’ admission rates, as promoting the
delivery of “consistent and high-quality care.” The true purpose of HMA’s corporate testing and
admissions benchmarks is to illegally pressure emergency physicians and nursing staff at FJIMA’s
facilities to generate greater revenues for HMA through hundreds of millions of dollars in
unnecessary hospital services.

7. HMA Implements Pro-MED CTM Guidelines to Generate Ilegal Charges

from Unnecessary ER Tests ~ Not to Improve Patient Safisfaction - and
Interfering with the Physician’s Delivery of Appropriate Care

180,  As originally formulated for HMA, the Pro-MED CTM guidelines program included
700 tests which correspond to 515 chief (presenting) complaints. These tests guidelines are not
evidence-based standing orders developed to enbance patient care. The CTM guidelines were
developed to drive revenues for HMA. |

181, In addition to the increased revenues from the tests themselves, upon information
and belief, HMA derives additional facilities’ revenues based on inflated severity of care justified
by %he unnecessary tests as well as from charges for the tests themseives.

182. Sometime before October of 2003, HMA installed the Pro-MED Complaint Test
Mapping software in all of its hospitals and established a corporate benchmarlc requiring that ER
triage nurses order, and emergency physicians not cancel, a minimum number of the tests included
in the CTM guidelines.

183.  Dr. Riner stated in a November 4, 2009 email that, as he understood it, Terry R.
4]
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Meadows, MD {EmCare Regional CEO, Southeast Region, and EmCare Senior Vice President of
Systems Relations), and Michael Wheelis, MD, an EmCare physician from Natchez Community
Hospital, developed the CTM guidelines nsed by HMA.

184. The CTM guidelines, as developed by HMA and Pro-MED, divide the diagnostic
stuclies into two groups. HMA claims that the first group, those tests marked “Y” or “true” are basic
tests “intended to ensure a consistent high quality work up for all patients...and to decrease the
“door to workup time and decrease the length of stay...thereby decreasing the number of LWOTs
(patients who lefi without treatment) and increasing patient and family satisfaction.” The “true”
tests are the ones that the nurses are expected to order. They are automatically ordered by the triage
nurse who selects the chief complaint. The ordering of tests by the triage nurse, prior to the
emergency physician’s anthorization, violates myriad state nursing licensure laws.

185.  HMA uses Pro-MED sofiware to track each “Y” test (those ordered by triage nurses
before the ED physician speaks with the patient). The percentage of guidelines tests is calculated by
dividing the number of Y tests not cancelled by the ED physician by'the number of tests initially
ordered by the triage nurse using Pro-MED's CT M program, Interestingly, HMA has never
criticized any ED for ordering too many tests. THES is'dup, perhapé, to 1-:he. fact that HMA’s Pro-

MED system does not even track the “extra” tests ordered by the ED physician after he examines

the patient (these are the tests marked “N” or “false” on the CTM guidelines).

186. Amazingly, from at least 2003, the HMA national corporate benchmark for ordering
CTM guidelines tests was set at 80% or greater. In 2010, HMA raised this corporate benchmark to
85% with no change in the patient population it was serving. No evidence-based medical reason
exists for either the initial or the increased testing benchmarlk.

187, HMA, through this explicit corporate benchmark for guidelines tests ordercd,

pressures the ED physician not to cancel CTM guidelines tests, even if the physician concludes that
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tht_ey are not medically necessary.

188. HMA and Pro-MED designate other tests as “N” or “false” tests, those which
“should be considered once the physician examines the patient.” These are not automatically
ardered by the triage nurse using CTM guidelines program. Although HMA has a record of the
tests ordered by the physician after he/she actually assesses the patient and determines the chief
complaint, there is no ED performance metric associated with these tests. In addition, the tests
ordered by the emergency physician do not count toward meeting HMA’s CTM guidelines.
[AMA’s implementation of Pro-MED CTM guidelines interferes with the emergency physician’s
medical necessity determination because the tests are ordeted by the triage nurse before the
physician has scen the patient.

189.  When the triage nurse automatically orders diagnostic tests for ER patients, they
cannot accurately reflect the emergency physician’s determination of medical necessity. When
unnecessary, irrelevant, or excessive tests are ordered, the ED physician must manvally override the
Pro-MED software in an attempt to eancel CTM guidelines tests whi_ch, based on the physician’s
assessment of the patient, are not medically necessary. |

190.  As the Pro-MED program is designed, once the diagﬁostic tést has been ordered by
the triage nurse using Pro-MiED CTM, it cannot be cancelled or deleted within the Pro-MED
program. The test order must be deleted from the hospital’s own computer system. At HMA’s Lake
Norman and Davis Regional, deleting or canceling a test ordered through Pro-MED CTM required
that the physician create a paper record canceling the test and then physically deliver that record to
the appropriate deparment (the [ab or radiology). Thus, trying to manually eancel tests initiated by

the triage nurses vsing Pro-MED CTM program was time consuming -- and often futile.
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a. Limited Flexibility — before QOctober 2008, some EDs Edit HMA
Corporate Test Guidelines

191.  Before 2008, a few HMA hospital EDs were accorded some flexibility in
employing the CTM guidelines. In these limited situations, the local hospital CEO permitted the
emergency physicians to edit the Pro-MED CTM guidelines to remove the excessive test sets. In
other words, the ED Director could locally edit the “Y™ tests to eliminate unnecessary tests which
otherwise would have been ordered for a patient using HMA’s standard CTM guidelines. However,
the ED was not permitted to stop the practice of triage nurses ordering tests.

192, For example, Paul Smith, the CEO at Lake Norman until May of 2008, permitted
Relator‘Mason, the ED Director, to employ “local edits” to HMA’s standard Pro-MED CTM
guidelines used in Lake Norman’s ED. Dr. Mason reduced, as best he could, the CTM diagnostic
studies to the bare minimum that might be triggered by the triage murse’s selection of the chief
complaint. Before October of 2008, MEMA physicians‘ also edited HMA’s standard CTM
guidelines used at Davis Regional to leave only what was most likely medically appropriate for the
chief complaint listed. Thus, until October of 2008,'ltheMEMAcmérgency physicians at Lake
Norman and Davis Regional avoided ordering many unnecessary tests included in HMAs standard
Pro-MED CTM guidelines program.

193,  While Lake Norman and Davis Regional emergency physicians used local edits and
other means to reduce the incidents of unnecessary tests, at the other 53 (or more) HMA hospitals,
HMA executives exerted control over the CTM guidelines employed in the ED.

194.  HMA, since 1979, through its subsidiary Paintsville Hospital Company, has done
business as Paul B. Hall Régional Medical Center. At this 72-bed Medicare and Medicaid approved

facility, the ER physictans see 500 patients each week. (The same number of patients visit the Lake
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Nprman and Davis Regional ERs).

195.  When Pro-MED alerted HMA that edits to the CTM guidelines by emergency
physicians at [IMA’s Paintsville hospital caused ED revenues to fall by $300,000 each month,
HMA reasserted corporate control over the CTM guidelines tests. HMA instructed Pro-MED to
reset the CTM puidelines at Paintsville to HMA’s standard CTM puidelines tests. ER revenues at
Paintsville immediateiy refurned to their previous levels.

b. HMA’s Complaint Test Mapping Guidelines Generate Many
Medically Unnecessary Tests

196. While the emergency physician can typically determine the appropriate and
necessary work-up quickly when assessing the patient, with mandatory CTM guidelines,
unnecessary tests ofien have been completed by the time the physician first sees the patient.

197.  Since at least 2003, HMA’s systemic procedures and network-wide use of Pro-
MED software has caused the ED triage nusses in its hospitals to illegally order (ests, many of
which were unnecessary, when applied indiscriminately tlo every pattent with the same nutse-
selected chief complaint.

198,  Many of the test sets included in the HMA‘S otiginal (prior to October 2008) Pro-
MED CTM guidelines were abusive. From at least 2003 until 2008, HMA’s implementation of the
original Pro-MED CTM guidelines have caused triage nurses and/or emergency physicians in FIMA
hospitals to regularly order thousands of cxcessive and medically unnecessary diagnostic studies,
which were billed to government and third party payors.

199. By way of example, for pregnant patients (less than 20 weeks gestation} who
present with vaginal bleeding, what should be ordered routinely on each of these patients, all of
whom are Medicaid eligible, is a urinalysis and either a Quatitative B-FICG or a Quantitative B-

HCG. A urinalysis, if performed initially, would promptly ditferentiate vaginal bleeding from
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blood in the urine due to a bladder infection. Pro-MED’s original (pre-2008) CTM guidelines
for HMA facilities does not include a urinalysis.

200. A Qualitative B-HCG is a quick, simple, and inexpensive urine test that tells if the
patient is indeed pregnant. HMA’s original CTM guidelines have, since at least 2006, called for
a Quantitative B-HCG, compléte blood count (“CBC”), and Type & Screen, Only the physician
should determine whether the Qualitative or Quantitative B-HCG should be ordered based on his
or her assessment of the patient. The CBC and Type & Screen are excessive for nearly ali of the
Medicaid patients whose chief complaint is described as “vaginal bleeding (pregnant less than 20
weeks).”" These tests also subject the patients to unnecessary blood draws.

201.  In another example, most patients over age 55 who present in the ER with a chief
complaint for abdominal pain, would not need any tests if their history and examination, as
reviewed by a physician, are benign. Medical studies show that 50% of all ED abdominal pain is
completely benign. Those patients over 55 with abdominal pain who even need tests should receive
a cornplete blood count (“CBC”), complete metabolic panel (“CMP™) apd urinalysis.

202.  Under HMA’s original Pro-MED CTM guidelines, patients over 55 with abdominal
pain would have a complete worl-up, ineluding the following testsl: CBC (ﬁomp[ete blood count),
CMP (complete metabolic panel), urinalysis, EKG, and amylase. The EKG and amylase are
unneeessary,

203.  Another example of the excessive tests ordered by triage nurses using HMA's
original CTM pguidelines is the patient who presents in the ER with blood in their urine. The most
common reasor: for blood in the urine is a bladder infection. The only medically necessary test for
that is a urinalysis. However, people with kidney stones often have blood in their urine. If the
triage nurse selects “kidney stone” as the chief complaint, the CTM guidelines orders all of the tests

to work up a kidney stone diagnosis, including a basic metabolie panel (“BMP"), complete blood
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count (“CBC”) and a urinalysis (“UA”}.

204, HMA states that it uses CTM puidelines “to improve efficiency in the ED by
allowing the nurse to order certain indicated tests from the point of triage based on the selected
Chief Complaint.”

205. The excessive tests ordered wsing HMA’s original (pre-Ocfober 2008) CTM
guidelines undermine the quality of patient care because the patient experiences unnecessary pain,
discomfort, expense and inconvenience attendant to unneeded diagnostic studies. For example,
every child less than 90 days old with a fever greater than 100.4 receives blood tests and x-rays.
Every child between three and 24 months with a fever between 100.5 and 102.2 would receive
blood tests. In addition, unnecessary tests undermine patient satistaction because the ED staff and
physicians are occupied with processing unnecessary tests.

8. BMA Imposes Benchmarks to Iinforce Adherence to CTM Guidelines

206. Before October 2003, HMA established, 13 corporate benchrarks for ED
performance. Not swrprisingly, five of the IIMA’s ED performance benchmarks focus on
increasing admissions or the number of diagnostic tests ordered: % o_f Admissions; % of Total
Patients with Quality Review Identified Who Were Discharged; % bf Paticﬁts with Tests Ordered;
% of Guidelines Tests Ordered; % of attendings called, As discussed below, in June of 2005, HMA
édded additional benchmarks aimed at illegally generating revenues through Medicare ER patients.

a. Patients with CTM Tests Ordered

207. HMA mandated that its ED triage nurses order Pro-MED Complaint Test Mapping
(practice guidelines) tests immediately afier triage. HMA employed cotporate benchmarks to
measure nurse performance for ordering tests, and chastised nurses who failed to meet these
benchmarks. As explained above, Pro-MED’s CTM guidelines are part of the Pro-MED Patient

Manager application. HMA imposes two minimum standards for CTM tests ordered for ER
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pa_tients.

208, The first, “Patients With Tests Ordered” refers to patients who had at least one test
ordered “vsing order entry in Pro-MED.” This refers to the % of ER patients for whom the triage
nurse orders tests using Pro-MED Complaint Test Mapping. At some point, HMA added the
requirement that the triage nurse order CTM guidelines tests within 10 minutes of triage. This
meant that CTM could more easily be initiated before the patient is seen by the ED physician.

209.  On June 8, 2007, Pro-MED issued a Performance Review Letter for the ED at Davis
Regional. In it, Pro-MED described the “Patients With Tests Ordered” benchmark as: “the total
number of patients that had at least one diagnostic study ordered during the emergency visit.” Pro-
MED went on to claim that use of testing guidelines immediately following triage will “improve
patient satisfaction, reduce sisks, and reduce the length of stay.”

210, Inits report of July 2008, Pro-MED recommended that HMA hospitals: “incorporate
the practicc guidelines into a policy that clearly outlines the daily utilization, which includes having

the nurse begin the worlup (order CTM guidelines tests) immediately following triage at a rate of

70% or greater. (Emphasis added.) 7

211, HMA’s benchmark from October 2003 until 2008. for % of Patients with Tests
Ordered was 67%. In July of 2008, Pro-MED consultants suggested that this benehmarl be
increased to 70% in order to “improve the consistency of the workup.”

212, HMA harassed its ER nurses to order CTM guidelines tests immediately and to
advance HMA’s other ED benchmarks. Nurses who did not support HMA’s efforts, ineluding
Tonya Kirby, ER Nurse Manager at Lale Norman, wete forced to resign. Joe Vice, RN, an ER
nurse at HMA's Anniston, Alabama hospital, was an outspoken critic of HMA's implementation of

Pro-MED programs, including CTM guidelines.
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b. CTM Gnuidelines Tests Ordered

213, The second “tests” benchmark imposed by HMA, as described in Pro-MED’s 2007
facility report for Davis Regional, measures the % of CTM guidelines tests “identified by complaint
type and approved by the medical staff and initiated by the clinical staff.” This benchmark actually
measures the % of all CTM guidelines tests not cancelled by the ED physician. This benchmark
tracks each test cancelled, not each patient for whom CTM guideiines were followed.

214, Although HMA and Pro-MED indicate that the CTM guidelines tests were
“approved by the medical staff,” Relators are not aware of any HMA policy or procedure before
CMO Riner mentioned it in his November 2008 memo. Relators were not asked to present HMA’s
CTM guidelines to the MEC at Lake Norman or Davis Regional until January 2009, when HMA
required the medical staffto approve CTM guidelines tests.

215.  HMA’s corporate benchmark from October 2003 until 2010 for % of guidelines tests
was 80%. In April 2010, HMA increased the CTM “testing guidelines” benchmark to require that
ED physicians not cancel a minimum of 85% of tests included in HMA’s standard Pro-MED
Complaint Test Mapping guidelines. h

216.  Physicians at many HMA facilities met and exceeded HMA’s CTM guidelines
benchmark of 80%. These include Dr. Wheelis’ Natchez, MS Hospital, which has ordered CTM
tests at least 93.5% of the time since March of 2008, Othets inciude: Gafhey, Williamson, Barton,
Florida; Gasden and Anniston in Alabama; Van Buren, Arkansas; Sebastian, Barton, Haines City,
Lehigh Acres, Punta Gorda, Naples, and Key West in Florida; Winder, Georgia; Paintsville,
Kentucky; Jackson and Clarksdale in Mississippi; Carlisle, Pennsylvania; Hartsville and Chester,
South Carolina; Lebanon, Ternessee; Toppenish and Yakima, Washington; and Williams, West

Virginia.
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217.  Relying on their individual medical judgment as to each unique patient’s medical
needs, since October 2003, MEMA physicians at Defendant Davis Regional and Lake Norman
often did not meet HMA’s corporate benchmarks for % of guidelines tests.

9. HMA Implements Pro-MED Patient Manager Software, Including Quality

Review, Physician EMR, and QualCheck, and Related ED Benchmarks to
Generate Hllegal Revenues firom Unnecessary Admissions fo HMA Hospitals

218.  Since at Jeast 2003, HMA has employed policies and procedures to illegally increase
in-patient admissions and to avoid outpatient observations for patients entering the Emergency
Room at HMA's hospitals nationwide.

219. HMA’s policies to increase ER admissions and the cotporate mandates HMA
imposed on emergency physicians illegally interfere with the physicians’ independent medical
judgment of what is the most appropriate and medically necessary care for each ER patient.

220.  HMA established a corporate benchmark for Quality Review patients of “discharge
no more than 35%.” This meant that HMA required emergeney physicians to recommend to admit
at least 65% of patients selected for admission by the Quality Review program, without regard for
the medical necessity of that admission. Upon information and belief, the HMA Quality Review
benchmarks were in place and enforeed throughout the HMA systeml sinee i003.

221.  Pro-MED's QuafCheck program increases admissions beeause it immediately alests
the ER physician that a patient meets HMA's very low admission criferia. The emergency
physician who does not agree that admission is necessary, must then manvally “override” the
QualCheck program’s recommendation for admission.

222. HMA cstablished a corporate benchmark for QualCheck overrides (< 30%),
meaning emergeney physicians must admit at least 70% of patients selected for admission by the
low standards HMA selected for the QualCheck program. HMA's mandate was enforced without

regard for the physicians’ determination of medical necessity of that admission.
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223. Many HMA facilities met or exceeded this QualCheck benchmark by admitting
more than 70% of QualCheck patients. These include: Dade City; Amory, Mississippi;
Jacksoncentral; Gasden, Alabama; Port Charlotte, Florida: Statesboro; Punta Gorda, Florida;
Brandon; Hamlet; Anniston; Brooksville; Crystal River; and Sebastian, Florida.

a. Admissions Benchmarks: Emphasis on Revenues from Medicare
Patients

224, Three of the HMA’s ED performance benchmarks are aimed at increasing
admissions: % of Admissions; % of Total Patients with Quality Review Identified Who Were
Discharged; % of attendings called. As discussed below, in June of 2005, HMA added additional
benchmarks aimed at illegally generating revenues through Medicare ER patients.

PERCENT OF ADMISSIONS

225.  The % of admissions measure is calculated by dividing the number of ER patients
admitted to the hospital for inpatient care by the total number of new ED patients. FIMA’s corporate
benchmark since October 2003 for “% of admission” has been 16%. HMA’s minimum overall
admission rate for emergency patients shows a blatant disregard for the sanctity of the doctor-patient
relationship. The medical necessity of even one admi§sion must be determined. by the emergency
physician after an examination of the patient, not influenced by corporate benchmarks,

226.  Federal and state laws and regulations requite a determination of medieal necessity
for each patient — negating the validity of any “minimum” admission rate set by the hospital’s
corporate leaders.

227, Although HMA's official corporate benchmarl for overall ER admissions was 16%,
the actual goal HMA imposed on each hospital may be higher. For example, at Lake Norman, the
admission goal was 25%. This was comumunicated to ED Nurse Manger Tonya Kirby by Jamie

Stoner in approximately February 2010.
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228. Many HMA facilities met or exceeded HMA’s official minimum adiissions
benchmark. These included: Anniston, Gasden, and Hartsville.

229. Lake Norman admits currently approximately 15% of their daily volume of 70
patients. Amazingly, meeting HMA’s goal of 25% would require Lake Norman emergency
physicians to admit seven (7) additional patients per day. An average admission carries a minimum
charge of $5,000. Seven (7) admissions would bring additional revenues to HMA’s Take Norman
of $35,000 per day, or $12 million per year. HMA’s enforcement of policies to illegally admit ED
patients has caused unnecessary ER admissions at nearly all HMA’s 55 facilities, generating at least
$600 million in illegal in-patient charges per year.

CALLING ATTENDING PHYSICIANS TO INCREASE HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS

230, HMA executives knew that if an emergency physician calls the patient’s private
attending physician, there is a higher likelihood that the patient will be admitted to the hospital,
Calling an attending also has the potential to increase the ER patient’s level of care, which affects
the reimbursement available under government healthcare programs, even for patients who are not
admitted, .

231.  As slated above, on April 15, 2010, Ro‘bin Clark, Chief Nual’sing Officer (CNO) at
Davis Regional, admitted to Relator Steve Folstad in the midst of a daily Flash Meeting that FIMA’s
trug purpose in requiring ED physicians to call the patient’s attending ph‘ysician was to increase
admissions to the hospital.

232, Since October of 2003, HMA has mandated that emergency physicians call the
attending physician for more than 30% of ER patients. In contrast, upon information and belief,
nationally, ED physicians call the patients’ attending physician in 15-20% of ER cases.

233.  MEMA often makes calls to attending physicians to arrange follow-up for patients

who should be rechecked in a day or two, or fo consulf with a specialist to discuss a particular case,
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However, these calls aimed at providing quality medicine are not HMA’s focus. In fact, HMA does
not give the emergency physician credit for calls to physicians or other specialists without admitting
privileges at the HMA hospital.

234.  In April 2010, HMA increased the benchmark for attendings called to greater than
35% of all patients. As described below, HMA has effectively set a special benchmark for
attendings called for patients over 65 at 100%.

235.  Relying on their individual medical judgment as to each unique patient’s medical
needs, since October of 2003, MEMA physicians at Defendant Davis Regional and Lake Norman
did not meet HMA’s corporate benchmarks for “% of attendings called.” For example, from
October 2003 until June 2005, MEMA physicians at Defendant Davis Regional called the attending
physician for 15.4% to 21.2% of all ER patients.

b. HMA's National Demands to Increase Medicare Admissions

236. Beginning in June of 2005, the administrator at Davis Regional began to provide
Pro-MED Executive Summary Reports to MEMA’s ED Director, Relator Folstad. He continued to
receive these repotts for the duration of his tenure as ED Director at Davis. These Executive
Summary reports were issued for every hospital in HMA’s system. | |

237.  Beginning in June of 2005, from time to time Relator Mason would also receive
monthiy Executive Summary Reports. He continued to receive these reports until MEMA received
its notice of termination on May 3, 2010. The Pro-MED Executive Summary Report for June 26065
included a separate report to track lucrative Medicare-cligible patients who entered its hospital ERs:
the “Patients 65 and Older Report.”

238.  This “Patients 65 and Older Report” details the following data for patients 65 and
older: patients total number, admissions total number, % admitted; attending called total number; %

attending called.
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239, HMA established ED performance benchmarks for each Medicare standard: %
patients admitted (> 50%); % attending called (> 75%).

240. HMA employed these illegal ER admissions benchmarks and through corporate
executives, division leaders, and hospital administrators brought considerable pressure upon
emergency physicians to meet them.

241, In addition to pressure exerted on Relators, other emergency physicians and staff
were pressuted to meet HMA’s minimum admission rate. For example, in a September 2009
discussion with Relator Mason, Salvador E. Arceo, MD, an EmCare physician at HMA’s River
Oalks Hospital in Jackson, Mississippi, admitted to Relator Mason that he is pressured by EmCare
and HMA superiors to admit QualCheck patients. Dr. Arceo stated that he admits them because it is
easier to admit them then justify why they were not admitted. In addition, during a cocktail party in
Chicago in Febrnary 2010, Joey Vice, RN, the manager of the HMA ED in Anniston, Alabama told
Relator Mason that hospital administrators bring great pressure on ED managers to ensure that
doctars in the ED order tests and admit patients.

242.  HMA’s official corporate benchiarls inclide a minimum admission rate of 50% of
Medicare patients (65 and older). This exceeds the national averaée Méciiéare admission rate of
45% for Medicare beneficiaries.

243.  Since at least July 2005, HMA facilities have been meeting and exceeding the 50%
admission rate for patients 65 and older. These include: Brandon, Clarksdale, Jackson, and
Natchez, Mississippi; Dade City, Haines City, Punta Gorda, and Sebastian, Florida; Durant and
Midwest City, Oklahoma; Mesquite, Texas; Tullahoma and Lebanon, Tennessee,

244, Although HMA’s official benchmarlk for admitting patients 65 and older is 50%,
HMA executives expected their ED doctors to admit a much higher percentage. For example, when

Relators Folstad and Mason attended the August 12, 2009 HMA Division 1 Meeting in Charlotte,
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North Carolina, Britt Reynolds, HMA’s Division I President (who is not a physician and has no
clinical training), incredulously proclaimed to the emergency physicians present: “If you are not
admitting 75% of your Medicare patients, you are not practicing quality medicine.” HMA's
minimum admission rate of 75% of Medicare patients grossly exceeds the 45% national average.

245.  HMA would challenge ED physicians during daily Flash Meetings to justify why
they did not admit all patients age 65 and older. Thus, HMA created an effective admission
benchmark for Medicare patients of 100%. HMA also mandated that ED physician call the
patient’s private attending physician for 75% of patients 65 and over.

246.  HMA’s benchmark of 75% far exceeds the typical 15%-20% of cases where the ED
physician needs to consult with a private attending physician to arrange for follow-up care or to
discuss the discharge, transfer, or possible admission decision for patients, including those over 65.
HMA's benchmark for calling attendings for patients over 65 receives particular scrutiny from
HMA executives on a daily basis.

247.  Tor example, on April 18, 2010, MEMA physician Stcve Greer was challenged for
not calling the attending physician (to encourage admission) for an elderly woman who fell at a
nursing home. Her most serious injury was an abrasion tq her kneé. HMA Division 1 CEQ, Britt
Reynolds, as well as Division 1 Vice President, Angela Marchi, challenged Dr. Greer's independent
medical judgment.

248, Some HMA facilities swpassed HMA’s official benchmark (75%) for calling
attendings for patients over 65, For example, in June 2005, the ED physicians at HMA’s hospitai in
Mesquite, Texas, turned in a stellar performance (98%) for calling attending physicians for
Medicare-eligible patients. Presumably, the admissions of patients increased.

249,  During Relators’ tenure at HMA, HMA executives expected that ED physicians

would call the attending for a much higher % of patients over 65 then the official benchmark of
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75_%. This expectation continues to the present, as recently as December 14, 2010, the current ED
Director at Lake Norman communicated to the ED physicians that the goal for
PCP/Specialist/Hospitalist consults for patients >65 was 100%. |

250,  Relying on their medical judgment as to each unique patient’s medical needs, since
October 2003, MEMA physicians at Defendant Davis Regional often did not meet HMA's
corporate benchmarks for % of admissions.

251.  For example, between October of 2003 and June of 2005, MEMA physicians at
Davis recommended admission for 11% to [5% of all new patients visiting the ER. In addition,
MEMA physicians have historically admitted 45% of their Medicare patients, in keeping with the
national average admission rate. This was far befow HMA’s goal of 75%.

c. HMA Aggressively Avoids 23 Hour Observations which have Lower
Reimbursements than In-Patient Admissions

252, Government regulations have specific guidelines for patients who are required to be
kept for observation rather than admitted to the hospital fo inpatient treatment. The Medicare
reimbursement to a hospital for a patient kept for observation is thousands of dollars less than for an
in-patient admission. | |

253,  While MEMA physicians do not have admitting privileges and do not make the
admission versus observation decision, upon information and belief, other emergency physicians at
HMA facilities do admit patients, HMA pressured admitting physicians to admit ER patients rather
than keep them at the HMA facility for observation.

254, Tnearly 2010, an action plan was implemented at Davis Regional which required the
Emergency Room charge nurse for the shift to eontact the HMA hospital administrator on cal
whenever an admitting physician recommended that a patient was to be kept for observation, rather

than admitted. This plan was put in place to attempt to convinee the admitting physician to change
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the orders to in-patient admission.

255.  In February 2010, HMA’s CNO at Davis Regional, Robin Clark, began to police the
ED at Davis to fook for patients kept on observation status. In order to avoid keeping patients at the
hospital under observation status, Davis administrators pressured the hospital medical staff to keep
all patients requiring treatment as regular admissions. Relator Folstad heard that CNO Clark had

even changed recommendations that patients be kept for observation to a physician

ST NS T

recommendation for in-patient admission.

256. HMA'’s cfforts to pressure admitting physicians to reduce observations and have
observation patients admitted instead at Davis Regional and at other HMA facilities have been quite
successful. For example, according to HMA's Pro-MED Physician Activity Report, for the four
months of February through May 2010, the number of patients kept at Davis Regional for
observation has been reduced to 1 (in February 2010). This represents the elimination of 31
observations compared to the previous four-month period ([0/01/2009 — (/31/2010), when 32

patients were kept for observation. Since February 2010, no ER patient has been kept at Davis

Regional merely for observation. Upon information and belief, rather than be kept for observation,
these patients were admitted to the hospital,

. Benchmarks for Quality Review and QualCheck of Discharged Patients

257.  Since at least October 2003, HMA has employed a “Quality Review” program, part

of the Pro-MED Patient Manager software which flags patient charts for admission based on data

entered in the ED nurses’ Pro-MED EMR. This occurs while the patient is still in the ER.

258, The “% of Total Patients with Quality Review Identified Who Were Discharped”
measures the % of patients for whorn the ED physician, arguabty, did not follow HMA’s “Quality
Review" recommendation for admission. Since 2003, HMA’s corporate benchmark for % Quality

Review patients discharged has been < 35%.

57

Case 3:10-cv-00472-GCM Document 26 Filed 01/09/13 Page 65 of 131




259.  Although the Quality Review reports were not discussed with MEMA physicians on

e L R BRI AT I L A e

a daily basis until some time in 2009, Relators understood that HMA has pressured emergency
physicians in other HMA facilities since 2003 to meet this benchmatk.

260.  Relying on their individual medical judgment as to each unique patient’s medical
needs, since October 2003, MEMA physicians staffing Defendant Davis Regional’s ED did not
meet HMA's corporate benchmatks for “% of Total Patients with Quality Review Identified Who
Were Discharged.” From October 2003 until June 2005, MEMA physicians at Defendant Davis
Regional discharged between 49.2% and 64.1% of all patients identified as meeting admission
standards by the HMA/Pro-MED “Quality Review.” Beginning in 2006, HMA’s use of Pro-MED’s
QualCheck enabled HMA fo flag patients for admission based on the physician’s EMR. |

261.  Although Pro-MED claims that its Case Management software, including the
i QualCheck program, facilitates admission decisions and prompts imvolvement of case managers,
like Quality Review, the real purpose of QualCheck was to increase admissions.

‘ 262, In fact, HMA did not even have case managers for all of their EDs. For example,

there was no case manager in the ED at Lake Norman, Rather, the CFO at Lake Norman, Jamie

Stoner, instructed the ED Nurse Manager, Tonya Kitby, that she (T onya) or her assistant must

stay in the evening “to make sure the ED doctors are admitting the patients they are supposed
to.”
203, After 2006, when HMA implemented the QualCheck enhancement to the Pro-MED

software, HMA imposed a corporate benchmark which required that emergency physicians override

i fewer than 30% of patients selected by QualCheck for admission.

10.  The Fall of 2008; IIMA Increases Pressures on Hospital ED Physicians to
Meet Carporate Benchmarks Aimed at Unnecessary Admissions and Tests

264, A Pro-MED report, the Time Study Patient Flow Evaluation of July 2008,
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introduced the Pro-MED “Dashboard Report” to HMA's emergeney physicians. HMA used these
reports and related Flash Meetings to police and enforce corporate ED benchmarks aimed at driving
up volumes for ER tests and in-patient admissions.

265.  During the summer of 2008, HMA announced that CEO Burke Whitiman would be
replaced in September of 2008 by a new leader, Gary Newsome, Upon information and belief, the
July 2008 Pro-MED HMA Time Study Patient Flow Evalvation report introduced HMA’s new plan
for greater corporate control of HMA’s ERs.

266. Beginning in August 2008, HMA’s divisional and corporate management reviewed
the ED} metrics for testing and admissions with greater frequency and intensity. HMA scrutinized
ED physicians’ testing and admission decisions through Pro-MED products, which allowed both
real time and retrospective dajly and weekly reviews of the previous day’s ED data to pressure
emergency physicians and ER staff to meet HMA benchmarks to optimize revenue,

a HMA Uses Pro-MED’s Daily, Weekly, and Monthly Reports o

Implement Its Illegal Program to Generate Revenues through
Excessive Tests and Unwarranted Admissions

267.  Since August 2008, HMA has used daily Pro-MED Dashboard Reports to review
the emergency physicians’ prior day performances against HMA’s c.olpora.tel:.benchmarks, including
CTM guidelines tests and minimum admission rates. Dashboard Reports have been reviewed with
ED staff during daily Flash Meetings.

268.  The daily Pro-MED Dashboard Report for each of the 55 HMA facilities tracks
approximately 23 data items, which include: new patient visits (Admissions #; Admissions %); QR
disch % (quality review discharged); qual check criteria met not admit %; testing guidelines %; attd
call %; patients 65 and older visits #; patients 65 and oldet adm % patients 65 and older trans %o
patients 65 and older PCP consult %.

269, In August 2008, HMA executives increased their efforts to police corporate ED
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benchmarks by instituting the Daily ED Flash Meeting. At this meeting, held in the ER each
morning at the end of the night shift, HMA hospital executives reviewed the previous day’s ER
activity contained in the Pro-MED daily Dashboard Report. HMA required ED physicians to justify
why corporate ED benchmarls were not met.

270, For example, each morming all patients over 65 (even those with minor trauma), all
patients who meet Quality Review criteria, and ali QualCheck patients who are not admitted are
reviewed, The emergency physieian in attendance must justify each patient not admitted. Thus,
although the official HMA benchmarks for admitting patients 65 and older and for admitting
Quality Review and QualCheck patients was less than 100%, HMA used the Pro-MED repotts and
ED Flash Meetings to impose an effective benchmark of 100% for admissions of patients over 65.

271, In fact, emergency physicians at other HMA facilities throughout the country
admitted to Relator Mason that they simply admit the vast majority of QualCheck and Quality
Review patients, rather than deai with FIMA executives’ serutiny and harassment. These include
Kevin Sells, MD from Stringfellow Memotial in Anniston, Alabama gnd Salvador E. Arceo, MD,
from River Oaks Hospital in Jackson, Mississippi. Dr. ‘Sells and Dr. Arceo both told Relator Mason
that they just admit QualCheck patients when prompted'by‘the Pro-l‘#[ED systém.

272, Although ED Flash Meetings are held by the HMA hospital administration and
attended by the ED Nurse Manager and the emergency physieian, a hospital executive (i.., the
CFO, Comptroller, or the Hospital CEO) also usually attended.

273, During the September 2009 ED Core mecting in Naples, Florida, CEO Newsome
required that hospital CEOs attend the daily ED Flash Meeting. Newsome added that be would
make unannounced appearances at hospitals to ensure that the hospital CEO attended. Newsome
did attend numerons ED Flash meetings at HMA hospitals, including some of those held at Lake

Norman,
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274. At HMA hospitals, a hospital administrator creates an ER Round Report which
includes the results of each ED Flash Mecting for several days or a week. The ER Round Report is
then provided to HMA corporate executjves, the local hospital administration, and the ED Directors.

275. The ER Round Reports contain “Pro-MED Indicator(s),” including: admit rate,
attending called %, 65+ admit rate, 65+ attending called %, QualCheck met not admitted, testing
guidelines.” The ER Round Report provides the benchmark data from the previovs day, highlights
tenchmarks not met, and includes notes on discussions from the ED Flash Meetings. The ER
Round Report form bears the following bolded note: “If results less than benchmark, then action
notation is needed.”

b. Newsome Leaves CHS and Returns to Defendant HMA Bringing
Infensified Support for Focus on ER Revenues

276.  When Newsome returned to HMA in September of 2008 and took over as CEO,
HMA restructured its executive management team so that all of HMA’s hqspital operations began
to report directly to Newsome. Gary Newsome has ardently supported Pro-MED, as evidenced by
policies he instituted at HMA hospitals and comments he made during Eamings Calls.

277, For example, on February 24, 2009, dm'iné an Earnings Call fo.r HMA’s Q4 2008
{Newsome's first quarter at HMA), CEO Newsome was asked about CHS’s “ability to grow
earnings a little bit better than most of their peers in the industry.” Newsome responded that CHS
had benefitted from having “been steeped in the Pro-MED ER process so they understand that
process and continue to perform well.” Newsome also stated that CHS benefitted from a
“discipline[d] approach to the business.” Newsome added that he was deploying these same
measures at HMA.

278. Newsome demonstrated his support for Pro-MED sofiware in the HMA “Earnings

Call Transcript” from Apcil 28, 2009. In discussing HMA eamings from the first quarter for 2009,
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Newsome described the Pro-MED enhancements made since the Fourth Quarter in 2008
{Newsome’s first three months on the job): “We have completed the hardware and software
i upgrades for our clinical guideline driven ER patient system called Pro-MED. As you know this
tool is designed by ER professionals that we used to improve patient flow, quality and the delivery

of care in the ER.” In the same call, Newsome credited HMA’s “focus on ER Operations” as a

contributing factor to HMA “volume improvements” for the last quarter of 2008 and the first
quaster of 2009.

11.  Revised (2008) Complaint Test Mapping Guidelines: HMA’s Blatant Fraud
and Unneeessary ER Tests

279.  On or about October 23, 2008, HMA teleased the revised Pro-MED CTM

guidelines. The document bears the following notation: “HMA/EmCare Master Complaint Test

Mapping,” as well as the Pro-MED trademark. The 2008 CTM guidelines (pretest order sets)

consisted of a table listing 516 chief complaints and the tests ordered when each was selected.
280. HMA’s CMQ, Ronald N. Riner, MD, refers to the 2008 revised CTM guidelfnes as

“Pro-MED ED Complaint Test Mapping (Pretest Order Sets).” These tests, according to HMA’s

i
|

CMO, Renald N. Riner, MD, were developed “in an attempt to shorten” long wait times for patients

in the ER.

281.  For each chief complaint, the HMA CTM guidelines table [ists the tests triggered
when the complaint is selected by the triage nurse, whether the guidelines test is mandatory (“true™)
or to be considered by the physician (“false”), the charge code, and the department to perform the

test (lab ot radiology). As was the case for the original CTM guidelines, the emergency physician

could add to the 2008 CTM guidelines locally by changing a “false” test to a mandatory “true,” but
they could not delcte any of the “true” fests or change a true (mandatory) test to false

(discretionary).

62

Case 3:10-cv-00472-GCM Document 26 Filed 01/09/13 Page 70 of 131




:
|

282.  After HMA, EmCare, and Pro-MED created the 2008 Pro-MED CTM guidelines,
HMA installed the program in each of its hospitals across the country. HMA maintained corporate
benchmarks which required that emergency physicians order 80% of the 2008 Pro-MED CTM
guidelines. Relators became immediately alarmed when they reviewed the 2008 Pro-MED CTM
guidelines. They quickly concluded that HMA's new -standard CTM guidelines would cause
emergency physicians to order blatantly fraudulent and medically unnecessary ER tests,

283, For example, for the 75-year old patient who presented to HMA’s ER after October
23, 2008 with a chief complaint of “confusion - new onset,” the 2008 CTM guidelines would ovder:
Bedside Glucose, CBC, CMP, CPK MB, Total CPK, Urine Drug Screen, ETOH, PT, PIT,
Troponin I, Urinalysis, EKG, and Portable Chest x-ray. Of these, the following six tests would be
unnecessary: CPK MB, Total CPK, PT, PTT, and Troponin 1.

284, By way of further example, for the patient who presented to HMA’s ER after
October 23, 2008 with a chief complaint of “vaginal bleeding (pregnant less than 20 weeks)” HMA

would immediately order the following tests: Quantitative B-HBG; CBC; Type and Sereen; and a

Complete OB Ultrasound, As discussed above, a urinalysis, should be performed initially to
differentiate vaginal bleeding from blood in the urine.’ This is listt;,d only‘z.ls loptional in the 2008
CTM guidelines. Medicaid patients seen in HMA’s ERs would rarely need a Type and Sereen. At
best, only an Rh typing is neceded. An OB Ultrasound costs hundreds of dollars, and, as with other
tests, should never be ordered prior to the physician seeing the patient.

285.  Thus, HMA’s October 2008 CTM guidelines (imposed after Newsome arrived as
CEQ) ca;.lsed excessive mandatory tests to be performed for thousands of patients who were treated
in HMA’s 55 ERs. The revised 2008 CTM guidelines were patently excessive from a fraud and
abuse perspective.

286.  The patient charts which MEMA received from HMA, when they included the Pro-
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MED Orders Summary, illustrate the types and volume of excessive tests generated through HMA’s
October 2008 CTM Guidelines, which were issued in early November 2008.

287.  Dr. Mason immediately raised his concerns about the 2008 CTM guidelines to
HMA’s CEO at Lake Norman, Michael Cowling. Mr. Cowling responded that emergency
physicians at Lake Norman and Davis Regional were expected to meet HMA’s corporate
benchmark of 80% for the 2008 CTM guidelines.

288. Relators have observed first hand numerous cases where the Pro-MED CTM
program automatically ordered tests that were medically unnecessary. A sampling of specific
patients, listed anonymously, for whom HMA used Pro-MED systems to order tests before the
physician assessed the patient and/or for whom unnecessary tests were ordered are provided in the
table at Exhibit “A,” which is incorporated by reference. These ER patients are examples of
HMA's seheme to bill government payors for excessive and unnecessary ER tests.

12.  HMA Executives Harass Emergency Room Physicians to Drive Tests and
Admissions

289.  As discussed above, shottly before Newsome's arrival in September 2008 at HMA,
cxecutives intensified cfforts to pressure ED physicians to ﬁleet testing énd-adrﬁission benchmarks.
For example, HMA Division executives harassed ED physicians through daily and weekly reports
and meetings which highlighted physicians who did not admit patients.

290.  As also discussed above, in late October of 2008, HMA issued and implemented
new and more excessive CTM guidelines, At the same time, HMA denied the local ED Medical
Directors the ability to edit the CTM guidelines and insisted that EDs implement HMA's standard
20608 CTM guidelines “as is.” |

291, Just days aftcr HMA issued its 2008 CTM puidelines, on October 29, 2008, Relator

Folstad (as the MEMA President) was called to a meeting with the Division 1 President, Vickie
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Briggs, and Division 1 CRO, Chris Hilton. This was Relator Folstad’s first meeting with Ms.
Briggs. It occurred shortly after Newsome took over as CEO, and it was a direct result of
Newsome's efforts to use corporate pressure to maximize ER charges and admissions.

292.  During that meeting, Chris Hilton advised Dr. Folstad that MEMA was not taking
good care of HMA's ER patients because its emergency physicians were not ordering enough tests,
and not admitting enough patients. Vickic Briggs added that MEMA had a long reputation of being
resistant to HMA’s “patient initiatives.” She asked Relator Folstad if MEMA was going to “get on
board with HMA’s new ER incentives.” Briggs added that “if MEMA was not going to cooperate,
HMA would be finding an ER group that would.” Folstad asked for, but did not receive, any
evidence which supported HMA’s contentions that these tests actually helped patients.

293, On November 5, 2008, Relator Mason received a copy of a November 4, 2008
memo written by Ronald Riner, MD, HMA’s contracted CMO, regarding the new {2008) Pro-MED
CTM guidelines. Dr. Riner first acknowledged the “numerous questions and calls we [HMA] have
received concerning the Complaint Test Mapping (Pretest Order Sets) that are being implemented in
the Pro-MED software program.”

294.  Dr, Riner also acknowledged in his merno that “ma@” of thé ED physicians and/or
ED Directors throughout the HMA chain “have voiced concerns about the Pro-MED software
program.” HMA’s CMO stated that HMA has “reviewed this and discussed this in great detail,” but
decided to remain with Pro-MED and focus on staff and ED physician training.

295.  When Dr. Mason and other emergency physicians in the HMA system raised
concerns with the revised 2008 CTM guidelines, HMA responded through its Chief Medical
Officer, that ED physicians at HMA EDs nationwide were expected to use the CTM guidelines,
HMA also demanded that EDs meet or exceed HMA’s cotporate benchmarle of 80% for guidelines

testing. Unfortunately, both the CTM guidelines and the benchmark bore no relationship to the
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patients’ true medical conditions or to evidence-based medicine.

296.  From October 2008, when HMA prohibited ED Directors from editing the CTM
guidelines, Relator Mason avoided unnecessary tests mandated by the Pro-MED CTM software
by training ER triage nurses at Lake Novman to select benign chief complaints which would
trigger minimal diagnostic tests in the Pro-MED program.

297. MEMA physicians at Davis Regional also attempted o circumvent HMA’s
fraudulent practices after October 2008 by compiling a list of chief complaints that initiated little ot
no festing and posting it at the triage desk for nurses to select from. However, once the Davis
Regional hospital administration leamed of the list, the ER nurses were prohibited from using it.

13.  HMA Required ED Directors to Review and the Medical Execntive

Committees (MECs) to Approve the 2008 Pro-MED Complaint Test

Mapping Guidelines in Attempt to Shift Responsibility for Fraudulent Tests
to Emcrgency Patients

298. In the last paragraph of the November 2, 2008 memo, Riner, through HMA,
attempted to cloak the CTM guidelines in legitimacy and shift the responsibility for orderihg the
outrageously nnnecessary tests through CTM guidelines on to the ED Director and the emergency
physicians; “PLEASE NOTE that the protocols being utilized will need to be vetted and approved
by the appropriate medical staff organizational structure (€ither MEC or ED Department at each of
your respective hospitals).”

299.  Dr. Riner’s memo reveals HMA’s attempt, through the alleged MEC approval
process, to attempt to create the illusion that the ED physicians were exercising their independent
judgment to choose the appropriate and necessary diagnostic tests for their paticnts when they
reviewed the 2008 CTM guidelines. In reality, HMA made clear that the standard 2008 CTM
guidelines must be approved and that the ED directors could not deviate from them,

300.  HMA pressured ED Directors to assist in having the hospital MEC approve the
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2008 Pro-MED CTM guidelines. For example, HMA’s CEO at Lake Norman made it clear to
4 Relator Mason that the 2008 CTM guidelines must be used or MEMA would be terminated.
Under extreme pressure fiom HMA, Relator Mason presented the 2008 CTM guidelines to the
MEC at Lake Norman for approval. This was done with the understanding that FIMA would
continue to review them and Relators’ complaints,

301. At Davis Regional, HMA also threatened the MEMA physicians with contract
termination unless they presented the 2008 CTM guidelines to the MEC, Dr. Greer, the MEMA
ED Director for Davis at the time, recommended the 2008 CTM guidelines to the Idavis Regional
MEC for approval only because it was made clear to him by HMA administration that
recommending disapproval would cost MEMA the Davis Regional ED contract.

302.  Through the memo by HMA’s CMO (Dr. Riner}, it is clear that HMA knows that

the emergency physieian alone is supposed to detetmine the medical neeessity of diagnostic studies

i
a
A
i

for ED patients; “Again, the physician beats the ultimate responsibility and accountability for the
laboratory tests that are ordered on any patient. Cognizant of this fact we all need to work closely
and expeditiously with our ED physicians to finalize protocols that will help manage patients

eftieiently and effeetively.” In stark reality, HMA pressured the ED physiciéns to rubber stamp the

2008 Pro-MED CTM guidelines,

303. Dr. Riner then stated that he “reminds” the ED Directors and physicians that the
HMA 2008 Compliance Work Plan “requires that at least annually, we ensure that the Pro-MED
Test Mapping protoeols have been reviewed by the Emergency Department physicians and formally

approved by the hospital’s Medical Executive Committee. Copies of all changes to the test mapping

protocols must be saved and available for audit.” Riner said this when he knew full well that nurses
had been ordering tests and that Medical Executive Committees had not been approving this. In

fact, Relators first learned of this unknown HMA policy at the time of Dr, Riner’s November 2008
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304. In December 2008, MEMA’s outside health care attorney, Alice G. Gosfield,
Esquire, a nationally recognized health care attorney, in a non-privileged communication, wrote to
HMA’s Chief Medical officer and raised her clients’ concemns about potential fraud and abuse
related to HMA’s CTM guidelines.

305. Relator Mason was first asked to review the 2008 CTM guidelines with the Lake
Norman MEC in January 2009, Relator Folstad was never asked to review the CTM guidelines
or to have it approved by the Medical Executive Committee (“MEC”) while he was the Medical
Director at Davis Regional (2000-2007).

14.  Relators Attempt to Work with HMA to Reduce the Complaint Test
Mapping Guidelines lo More Accepiable Levels

306. Throughout the fall of 2008, and into 2009, Relator Mason repeatedly contacted
Defendant HMA and offered his assistance in worling with HMA and EmCare to reduce the 2008
CTM guidelines to acceptable medical levels. Relator Mason had conversations and/or
communications with HMA executives, including, but not limited to, the hospital CEO at Lale
Norman (Cowling}, the CEO at Davis Regional (M(ﬂz),l HMA’s- CMO, - Dr. .R'mer and HMA’s
Corporate Director of Emergency Medicine, Lynne West,

307. In response to Relator Mason’s criticism of the 2008 CTM guidelines, in the fall of
2008, Karen Metz, CEO of Davis Regtonal, contacted Relator Mason and invited him to participate
in a meeting of other “concerned” emergency physicians to revise the 2008 CTM guidelines.

308. On January 8, 2009, HMA’s contracted CMO, Dr, Riner, sent a memo to Relator
Mason inviting him to the Naples meeting,

309. On January 23, 2009, Relator Mason discussed the revised CTM with HMA’s

quality review consultant, Lisa Nummi, RN/CNP {Ceitified Nurse Practitioner). After Dr. Mason
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discussed MEMA’s concerns with Pro-MED, Nummi agreed that the CTM generated frauculent
and unnecessary tests “for revenue generation.”

310.  Thereafter, on January 26, 2009, in a follow-up email to Relator Mason, Ms. Nummi
stated that she was supposed to attend the Febrvary 3, 2009 CTM Task Force meeting, but was
reassigned to another hospital and will be joining the meeting by conference call. Nummi assured
Dr. Mason that she had relayed Dr. Mason’s actual views fo Dr. Riner. Ms. Nummi made it clear to
Dr. Mason that she intended to be MEMA’s ally at the “Quality meeting” in Naples on February 3,
2009.

a. HMA’s National CTM Task Force Meets at Tts Naples, Florida
Headquarters

311, On February 3, 2009, the so-called CTM Task Force met at HMA’s Naples, Florida
corporate headquatters to review and “recommend revisions” to the falf 2008 version of the Pro-
MED CTM guidelines. Under the direction of EmCare’s Dr. Wheelis, the attendees discussed
changes to the 2008 CTM puidelines intended to pare down the tests automatically ordered by
HMA's triage nurses.

312.  In addition to EmCare’s Dr. Wheelis, ti‘1e CTM - national Tc;iSl( Force meeting
attendees included HMA executives, HMA hospital emergency physicians and EmCare executives,
including:

. Terry Meadows, MD, EmCare executive;

) George Loukatos, MD, EmCare physician at Central Mississippi Medical Center;

s Scot D. Fell, DO, an emergency medicine physician who practices at Venice
Regional Medical Center, Venice, Florida (participated by conference call);

J Edwin D Moore, DO, a family practitioner who provides ER care through

TeamHealth at HMA’s Seven Rivers Regional Medical Center, Chrystal River, Florida;
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*»  Relator Tommy Mason;

. Chris Pinderski, MD, an emergency physician at HMA’s Poplar Bluff Regional
Medical Center — North, and outspoken opponent of the 2008 CTM guidelines;

° Lisa Nummni (participated by conference call);

. Lynne West, HMA’s Corporate Director of Emergency Medicine (participated by
canference call),

313, When Relator Mason and the other attendees first sat down, they received a packet
of documents. The packet of documents provided to Relator Mason included, but was not limited to:
HMA's standard October 2008 Pro-MED CTM guidelines, as well as a copy of Pro-MED CTM
guidelines that bore the name of a hospital in CHS’s systeni.

314.  The CTM guidelines report for the CHS facility was the same format as the Pro-
MED CTM report that Relator Mason had received for HMA’s CTM Guidelines. Relator Mason
reealls that the CTM guidelines for the CHS facility were also substantively the same as HMA’s
excessive October 2008 CTM guidelines. The only diftference was that, at the top of the page, in the
place of HMA or a HMA facility, the CTM guidelines bore the name of'a CHS hospital.

315. At the February 3, 2009 meeting, Relator Mason and the otﬁer attendees were told
“this is the same CTM used by Mr. Newsome at CHS and the physicians there had no problems
with it.” Thus, Relator Mason undetstood that HMA's excessive October 2008 CTM guidelines
were the same CTM Guidelines used system-wide at CHS hospital EDs. Relator Mason also
understood that when Gary Newsome took over as HMA’s CEQ, he brought to HMA the Pro-MED
CTM guidelines that he had used at CHS,

316.  Although Relator Mason expected that the national Task Force would engage in a
eritical discussion of the revised CTM, he and Dr. Pinderski were the only outspoken critics of the

2008 CTM guidelines.
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317.  EmCare physicians who attended the Task Force meeting resisted removing tests
from the revised CTM guideline, Instead, they preferred to create additional general chief
complaints that would generate few or no tests. For example, the Task Force added a complaint
called “abdominal pain, general” that would not have guidelines tests associated with it.

318.  Upon information and belief, the reason to add benign complaints, rather than reduce
the tests ordered for existing chief complaints, was to leave intact the excessive 2008 CTM
guidelines so that HMA could still force the triage nurses at the majority of HMA facilities to use
them.

319.  EmCare physicians, including Drs. Wheelis and Meadows, did not advocate
reducing the CTM guidelines, but were passive participants during the discussions.

320.  Ultimately, the national Task Force issued “recommendations” that FIMA revise the
2008 Pro-MED CTM guidelines. While the CTM Task Force both reduced the number of tests for
the chief complaints listed and added chief complaints for ¢onditions that would order only a few
tests, the recommended revisions fell short of the changes requésted by_Drs. Mason and Pinderski,

321.  For example, the Task Force removed the most egtegious outrageous test scts (L.e.,
complete blood count for all children with a fever), but gddcd a ﬁomplaiﬁt for “abdominal pain-
benign.”

322.  After the Task Force meeting (February 4, 2009), HMA responded to the Task
Force’s “recommendations™ to revise the CTM guidelines through a memo written by CMO, Ron
Riner, MD. HMA stated that its next “course of action” for the 2008 CTM guidelincs (as revised in
2009}, would include HMA management review and distribution to Pro-MED, followed by the
HMA hospital ED Directors’ review and approval by the Medical Executive Committee (MEC)
within 30 days. Although HMA “anticipated a meeting of the Corﬁplaint Test Mapping Task Force

to review progress and riceded adjustments,” HMA. never sought such a meeting.
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323.  On February 5, 2009, the Riner Group provided HMA executives and the attendees
of the Task Force meeting with revised CTM guidelines. The document attached to the Riner
Group’s email was titled “CTM updated 2 3 09 true tests only.”

324.  Upon information and belief, HMA retained another version of the CTM guidelines
which included both “true” and “false” guidelines tests. By doing so, HMA allowsd its emergency
departments to continue to use many of the tests contained in the excessive 2008 CTM guidelines.

325,  The 2008 CTM guidelines were in place at all 55 HMA facilities from October 2008
until at least March 19, 2009. Relators believe that during this time, hundreds of thousands of
unnecessary tests were ordered for patients in HMA’s emergency rooms.

326.  Although Relators were advised that HMA would install the revised (2009) CTM
guidelines in all HMA facilities after the February 2009 meeting, Relators have no knowledge of
whether this has occurred.

327.  In fact, Relators believe that HMA did not re-issue to Relators a complete or master
set of CTM Guidelines after Relators challenged the HMA/EmCare Master CTM dated October 23,
2008. Further, Relators befieve that HMA did not make alf of the changes Relator Mason and
others requested at the Naples Meeting on February 3,72009. In ‘falct, ratl%éf than paring down the
unnecessary fests ordered using CTM, HMA actually ADDED new true tests to some chief
complaints after the so-called Task Force meeting in 2009, i.e., a blood culture for a cough with
fever,

b. Complaint Test Mapping Abuses Continnes After the Florida Task
Foree Meeting

328.  While the February 2009 Naples meeting may have resulted in the removal of some
of the most egregious tests to be ordered by HMA’s nurses, the revised (2009) CTM guidelines

employed by HMA continue to cause the submission of many false claims for hundreds of
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unhecessary fests,

329.  In particular, Complaint Test Mapping abuses continued even after the February
2009 revisions, including, but not limited to, the tests ordered for the following chief complaints:

s All patients over 55 with abdominal pain receive unnecessary EKGs, which should
never be ordered without the benefit of the treating physician’s determination;

° All patients with a sore throat receive a complete blood count (“CBC™);

] Patients who are pregnant Eess.than 20 weeks and have vaginal bleeding, receive a
complete blood count (“CBC” ) and Type & Screen (which are unnecessary), as well as the
Quantitative B-HCG, which should be selected by the physician after the patient assessment;

° Patients who are unresponsive or unconscious receive unnecessary CK, CK-MP; PT,
PTT, Troponin, and ABG tests;

] Patients who are in cardiae arrest (and whom would be seen by the physician
immediately) have a battery of tests ordered by the triage nurse before the physician sees the patient,
including: complete blood count (“CBC”), complete metabolic panel (“CMP”), CPK-MB, CPK
Total, Magnesium, PT, PTT, Troponin, ABG, EKG, and Chest X-ray.

330. Afier the February 3, 2009 meeting until at least August 20i0, HMA continued to
maintain and mandate Complaint Test Mapping (CTM) that is standardized in Pro-MED for all
HMA facilities. These standard HMA CTM tests sets include “true” tests that HMA expects the
nurses to otder at the time of triage, before the patient is seen by a physician. These mandates
continue to the present.

331.  When the emergency physician cancels any of these unnecessary tests, HMA
subjects them to great pressure for not imeeting the corporate testing guidelines benchimark.

332, Since 2003, Relators have received various versions of Pro-MED CTM Guidelines
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from HMA. While the CTM Guidelines imposed by HMA differ in some respects, particularly after
October 2008, reviewing these detailed lists of tests ordered for every patient with a particular chief
complaint has provided Relators with direct knowledge of HMA’s scheine to cause the excessive
ER tests to be ordered nationwide at HMA facilities. These emergency room testing abuses by
HMA result in the submission of false claims to state and federal healthcare programs.

15, HMA'’s Drive in 2009 and 2010 to Force Emergency Physicians to Adhere to
HMA’s Corporate Benchmarks for Admissions

333.  Tn 2009, HMA executives continued to harass ED physicians to drive admissions.
HMA added action plans and comments in weekly Pro-MED ER Round Reports. When HMA
guidelines were not met, action plans were immediately implemented and communicated to HMA |
cotporate officers. There were daily pressures to admit every ER patient 65 and older, cven those
with the most benign conditions.

334, - On January 27, 2009, there was a meeting at Davis Regional between Lake Notman
and Davis Regional admimistrators (Lake Norman CEO, Cov-vling, and Davis Regional CEO, Metz),
the ED Medical Directors (Relator Mason and Dr. Greer), and Relator Folstad to discuss the
emergency physicians’ concerns and the pressure the I—IMA hospital CEOs we‘n*, under to use the
Pro-MED system. ‘

335,  Trom Janvary to June 2009, MEMA physicians had resisted using the Pro-MED
physician EMR, an inferior and slow product, with the hope that HMA would permit the continued
use of a paper T-System physician record. These efforts failed and, on June 1, 2009, the Pro-MED
physician EMR (which would aliow HMA to run QualCheck) was instalicd at Lake Norman and
Davis Regional.

336.  Pro-MED stated in the July 2008 Time Studies and Patient Flow Report that the Pro-

MED programs, including the physician EMR, would facilitate a shorter length of stay for the ER
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patient. In fact, after the slow Pro-MED physician EMR was installed at Lake Norman, the time for

the ER patient to see the physician has increased by 40%. At Lake Nomman, ED Flash Meetings

began in June of 2009, when Greg Lowe took over as hospital CEO. With these Flash Meetings,
HMA increased its pressure to meet corporate benchmarks for admissions and testing.

337.  For example, on August 17, 2009, Lynne West, HMA Corporate Director of
Emergency, wrote an email to ED nurse managers and ED Directors regarding the Dashboard
Reports: “Big declines in > 65 admissions — you know what to do! Start reviewing > 65 by MD
repért and meeting with your medical director to formulate a new game plan.”

338, On December 14, 2009, Angela Marchi wrote an e-mail questioning Relator Folstad
about the low performance on several ED benchmarlcs at Lake Norman. The specific benchmarks
that she focused on included: a low admit rate; a high QualCheck override rate; and a low attendings
called rate for the ED population in gencral, and in patients over age 65 in particular. She
demanded to know Relators Folstad’s plan to “reverse these metrics immediately.”

339. o addition, HMA hospital executives implemented an gction plan at Davis Regional
in early 2010 to increase overall attending called statistics: call the attending for 100% of patients
over 65, even when HMA knew that admission was not l?lBC(’)SS&I.’y: An Apﬁl 7, 2010 notation by
Davis Regional’s CNO, Robin Clark, on the ER Round Report provides: “We continue fo struggle
with attending called for all patients. Tt was discussed and agreed to months ago that attendings

wonld be contacted for all 65+ patients. This was done as a courtesy even if patients do not requite

admission to assist in continuity of care.” (Emphasis added). In contrast, HMA's physicians,
including Dr. Gish, Lake Norman’s Chief of Staff, have made it clear to ﬁelatol‘s that they trust ER
physicians to call them only when necessary,

340.  HMA admits that the purpose of HMA’s benchmark for attendings called was not a

legitimate concetn for eontinuity of patient care, but solely to increase hospital admissions. On April
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15, 2010, the Chief Nursing Officer at Davis, Robin Clark, RN, conducted the ED Flash Meeting
with Relator Folstad. Relator Folstad asked Clark for the true purpose of calling the patient’s
private attending physician.

341. Clark stated that [IMA’s sole purpose in imposing the “attendings called”
benchmark was not intended as a check on the quality of the MEMA ED physicians’ care, nor fo
provide better communication with the medical staff about their patients. Clark admitted that HMA
wanted the patient’s attendings called to try to persuade the attending physicians to admit more
patients into VA hospitals.

342.  In April 2010, Angela Marchi, VP Operations, Division 1, began to send daily
emails to MEMA ED Directors questioning the HMA benchmarks in the ER Round Reports, For
example, on April 6, 2010, Marchi wrote to Relator Mason “re: volumes and admissions at Lake
Norman not being ‘metric’:” Marchi’s questions included: “Wete LWOTs called back? Why
testing guidelines low? Why not meet benchmark in calling attending with volume that high?”

343.  1In a later email to MEMA’s Dr. Greer, dated April 8, 2010, Marchi (referencing the
100% benchmark for calling aitendings for patients over 65), asked: “Dr. Greer, why are > 65’s not
being catled? This is simply not acceptable.” | l‘

344,  HMA’s policies and practices to pressure ED physicians and to interfere with the
emergency physicians’ treatment decisions resulted in thousands of unnecessary in-patient hospital
admissions.

16.  HMA Established Revenue-Generating Corporate ED Benchmarks for Testing
and Admissions without Support that they Promote the Qualify of Patient Care

345. Relators have repeatedly requested that HMA provide them with some evidence-
based medical support for the ED benchmarks as they relate to quality emergency care, but HMA

has never provided any scientific support for its ED benchmarks.
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346. The Pro-MED CTM guidelines and HMA’s related testing benchmartks, as
implemented, do not benefit either the patient or the ED statf. The Pro-MED CTM guidelines
generate medically unnecessary tests. In turn, the patient is subjected to unnecessary pain,
discomfort, and inconvenience attendant to unneeded diagnostie studies. The ED staff is
preoccupied with unnecessary tests that actually contribute to delays in the ER.

347.  Upon information and belief, HMA’s other admissions’ benchmarks are arbitrary
and werc not implemented based on established standards of medical care. HMA mandates that
paticnts be admitfed without regard to medical necessity actually undermines paticnt care
because these patients are unnecessarily exposed to health risks (i.e., infection and other known
complications related to a hospital admission).

348. HMA has required since 2003 that physicians in its EDs call patients’ attending
physicians at least 30% of the time {75% for Medicare patients) and that ED physicians admit at
least 16% of new ED patients (and 75% of Medicare patients). However, as recently as
September 2009, HMA lacked any evidence-based support for these benchmarks.

349, HMA established an “ED Core™ group in early 2009 aftcr emergency physicians
raised concerns with the 2008 CTM guidelines. Before he was ﬁréd, Reiﬁor Masan participatcd
in the HMA Core Group through two conference calls and two meetings, one in September 2009
and another in February 2010.

350. Relator Mason’s efforts to effectuate corporate change on testing and admission
levels included his work on the ED Core group at HMA., During the September 22, 2009
meeting, Relator Mason repeated earlier requests for evidence-based support for HMA’s ED
benchmarks for patient admission and attending called.

351.  The minutes from HMA’s ED Corc Meeting on September 22, 2009 included the

following agenda items or action points for the next meeting: “[ulndertalke a search of the
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literature for background information and evidence-based information concerning admission
rates and call to referring physician rates.”

352. HMA executives in attendance who agreed in late 2009 to look for evidence-
based support for ED performance benchmarks (which HMA had put in place at least 6 years
earlier} included Ronald Riner, MD, HMA's CMO and Stanley D, McLemore, HMA’s Senior
Vice President — Operations.

353.  HMA implemented the Pro-MED's CTM guidelines at all HMA hospital EDs. Pro-
MED has blatantly touted the revenue-generating benefit of “consistent utilization” of the testing
guidelines. Using HMA's Paintsville hospital as an example, Pro-MED has highlighted and also
quantified for HMA the revenues that are gained or lost depending on the EDs adherence to HMA
benchinarks for Pro-MED’s CTM guidelines.

354, Using Paintsville’s $300,000 per month, HMA earns approximately $3.6 million
annually at each of HMA hospital EDs as a result of HMA mandates for unnecessary minjmum
tests ordered through CTM alone. Across the HMA networlc of 55 hospitals, this translates to $198
million annually from unnecessary tests. Only HMA benefits fiom the unnecessary charges related
to CTM guidelines. | |

355.  Other HMA benchmatks also serve to generate significant revenues for HMA, while
placing significant demands on ED physicians’ time and detracting from patient care. For example,
HMA’s mandate that ED physicians call attendings in order to increase admissions means that ED
physicians spend precious time on the phone unnecessarily, time that could be spent with patients or
documenting their charts,

356.  Upon information and belief, HMA's mandates for minimum admission rates result
in hundreds of millions of dollars in illegal charges each year. This is in addition to illegal charges

related to unnecessary tests,
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357.  For example, from June 1, 2009 to May 3, 2010 MEMA physicians at Davis
Regional initiated QualCheck overrides for 286 patients which HMA Pro-MED software selected
for adimission, 91 were Medicare, and 48 were Medicaid patic_ﬂnts. From May 9, 2009 to May 9,
2010, there were 463 patients at Lake Norman for whom MEMA physicians initiated QualCheck
overrides, of which 208 were Medicaie and 39 were Medicaid. Had MEMA met HMA’s minimum
admission rates, based on a conservative minimum charge of $5,000 per admission, Davis Regional
and Lake Norman would have caused close to $2 million in damages to the Medicare program
alone.

17 MEMA Meets Other HMA Benchmarks Not Focused Solely on Maximizing
Revenues

358.  Pro-MED reports prepared for HMA also include other data refated to the time it
takes to process the patient through the ED because: “excessive wait times and lengths of stay in the
Emergency Department create frustration for patients and families and often have a negative impact
on customer satisfaction and petception of quality of care.” ‘

359,  HMA’s corporate benchmarks from 2003 also include measures reflecting the time
it takes to process the patient through the ER (“throughpult time™),-and other information that can
impact on patient satisfaction and quality of cate, for examiple: average tength of stay (ALOS), and
patients who lefl without treatment (LWOT) or against medical advice (AMA).

360, Relators understand that some HMA benchmarks, inchiding AMA/LWOT and
ALOS can impact on the quality of patient care. For example, an ED patient who waits too long
may become so fiustrated that they leave without treatment (LWOT) or against medical advice
(AMA).

361.  Since 2003, the HMA benchmark for ALOS is < 2.0 hours. The national average is

about 4.5 hours. The HMA benchmark for LWOT/AMA is < 2.0%. The national average is about
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4%.

362.  Although HMA touts its testing and admissions benchmark as “quality” indicators,
the HMA facilities with the highest performance on these standards often had the highest ALOS.
For example, the following facilities as of January 2010 met HMA testing mandates, but were poor
performances on true quality indicators: Punta Gorda, number 15 on test guidelines, but number 31
on ALOS (2:29); Natchez, number I on test guidelines, number 42 on ALOS (2:51), and ranlcs 51
or 52 in AMA/LWOT at 3.3%; Sebastian, number 2 on test guidelines, but ranks 29 (2:27) on
ALOS; Lebanon, ranks number 4 in test puidelines, but number 32 on ALOS (2:30}; Gadsden meets
HMA’s benchmark for testing puidelines (85.8%), but has an ALOS of 3:27 (making it 53/53 for
ALOS, and number 35 for AMA/TWOT at 2.1%.

363.  While the hospital ERs staffed by MEMA physicians may not meet HMA's testing
and admissions benchmarks, the Lake Norman and Davis ERs have performed well in
AMA/LWOT and ALOS. For example, as of January 2010, both facilities were well below HMA’s
benchmark for AMA/LWOT of < 2%, ln addition, the ALOS for both facilities was much shorter
than many HMA facilities meeting or exceeding HMA’s benchmarks_ for guidelines tests, (ie.,
Natchez and Gadsden) and well below the national average of 4.5 ho.urs.

18. HMA’s Efforts to Use Pro-MED’s Nurse and Physician Documentation to
Increase Facilities Charges through Inflated Patient Acuity

364. When a patient is documented as having a higher acuity, a hospital can bill for
higher level of care. For Medicare patients, charges related to Emergeney Room APCs (and/or
inpatient DRGs) on the faeility side are based on the level of care.

365. Pro-MED generates a level of care for each ER patient. The patient record that
MEMA receives to conduct its own billing often inciuded the Orders Summary, which includes the

level of care ascribed by Pro-MED for the patient’s emergeticy room care at HMA's facilities,
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Other aspects of patient care, including tests and procedures also increase the facilities” charges for
ER care.
366. FMA placed great pressure on ER nurses to document patient acuity. Patient chasts
were reviewed each day by an ED nurse for completeness of nurse documentation.
367. During the time that Newsome was at HMA, the nurse that reviewed nurse

documentation was usually Joyce McLean, RN. If there were deficiencies on the nursing
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documentation, Nurse McLean contacted the nurse to make changes as soon as possible.

368.  Relators understand that the acuity for the facility side of ER charges is bascd in part
on the emergency department nurses’ documentation, Relators understood that nurse statfing was
also based upon these acuity records. Intetestingly, HMA had, during the Relators’ tenure, cut
nursing staff (and continues to cut nursing staff) in both Lake Norman and Davis Regional ERs.

This is incongruous with HMA’s 2008 and 2009 10-Ks which credit increased acuity with higher

hospital revenues.

a. HMA Boasts Increased Acuity Led to Increased Revenues

&
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369.  Upon information and belief, both extended teaching an_d critical care are elements
that impact on patient acuity, and therefore, the level of care billed by HMA to payors for its
facilities charges.

370. Tnits SEC filings for FYE 12/31/2008, HMA stated that net revenues had increased

since third quarter 2008 due, in part, to “increased patient acuity.” (Newsome arrived at HMA in Q3
2008). Again, for FYE 12/31/2009, HMA stated that “Net revenue per adjusted admission at our
same 2008 hospitals increased approximately 2.4% during the 2009 Calendar Year as compared to

the 2008 Calendar Year.” HMA cited “increased patient acuity” as a contributing factor.

b. HMA’s Benchmark for Nursing Acuity

371.  Several Pro-MED reports prepared for HMA track “Nursing Acuity Weighted
8t
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Mean:” HMA Pro-MED Executive Summary; the Forced Rank Report, with a corporate benchmark
of 3.43; the ER Round Reports document nursing acuity as a data element reported each morning
and discussed in ED Flash Meetings. .

372. . The Pro-MED program automatically generates the “patient acuity based on level of
service provided and documented.” As stated above, the Pro-MED Orders Sumnmary (which lists
the Pro-MED CTM tests, the time ordered, any procedures or treatments ordered by the emergency
physician), also typically included an ED Level of Care ascribed by Pro-MED. Based on Relators’
review of the records provided for beneficiaries of Medicare, Medicaid, and other government
health programs, ED level of care ascribed by Pro-MED to most of these patients treated at Lalke
Norman and Davis Regional was at least three, Relators incorporate by reference the summary of
patient chart information attached as Exhibit “A.”

373.  In June of 2009, Lynne West, Director of Emergency Services, created a list of “Pro-
MED opportunities for improvement.” An item which West ascribed the “Highest Level of
Priority” was a request to change Pro-MED’s 5-point system that drives the acuity level, a system
that is different from the ACEP-accredited acuity ctiteria: “E&M levels; In Blue; Pro-MED attaches
acuity points that drives the level. This is an issue... If the nurse c;ver documents the patient will
receive an inappropriate higher level.”

[ Inflated Acuity through Over-Documenting Nurses’ So-Called
“Fxtended Teaching”

374.  The Pro-MED Electronic Nursing Documentation (END) “includes prompts to
assure thorough documentation for all areas of assessment and of APC procedures, optimizing
billing opportunities.” For most patients at Davis Regional and Lake Norman, the Discharge
section of the Pro-MED Nurse Documentation report mentions “extended teaching” by the

emergency nurses,
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375. Relators believe that the documentation of “extended teaching” may be a shortcut or
macro entered into the Pro-MED program, possibly related to a Pro-MED prompt, because the temm
“extended teaching” is misspelled “extending” teaching in the Pro-MED Nurse Documentation
report for every Davis Regional and Lale Norman patient record where it appears. For example, 24
of the 28 Medicare, Medicaid, and/or CHAMPUS patients listed in Exhibit “A” to this Complaint
have “extended teaching” documented in their chatts, either as “extending teaching’ in the discharge
section of the nurses’ record or as “extended teaching” in the points table attached to the Pro-MED
Nurse Documentation,

376, Many Lake Norman patient charts have a table of “points” for various tasks included
in the Nurse Documentation. Upon information and belief, the points chart is used by Pro-MED to
determine the patient acuity, which is automatically generated by the Pro-MED program. In the
Nurse Documentation reports for both Lalee Norman and Davis Regional patients, the “extended
teaching” usvally consists of providing routine discharge instructions, which should not add to the
patient acuity.

377.  Extended teaching, when included in the chait, is always associated with 10 points.
Other tasks are assigned far fewer points by Pro-MED for nurs‘inlg care. than extended teaching:
newrological or cardiovascular assessment (each 3 points); NG tube insertion (5 points).

378.  Upon information and belief, the documentation of “extended teaching” for the
majority of HMA patients is another means devised by HMA to fraudulently increase the facilities
side charges for ER care.

d. Pro-MED Prompts Physicians to Document for “Critical Care”

379.  In the Physician EMR, the Pro-MED software has a prompt for acuity level (critical
care) which is similer to the QualCheck prompt, a box that appears instructing the physician to

admit the patient. Oncc the emergency physician selects admission as the disposition, for patients
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meeting HMA’s corporate criteria, a second box then appears instructing the emergency physician
to document Critical Care. Many of the cases where HMA’s Pro-MED system recommends
Critical Care documentation are as exaggerated and egregious as the recommendations for
admissions.

380. Like the admission prompt, this critical care prompt was an invitation by HMA to
physicians willing to conspire in the effort fo overbill for medical care. Relators believe that
EmCare and other emergency physicians would likely have provided HMA with unfounded
physician documentation for critical care.

e. Overbilling and Reusing MDIs

381. MEMA physicians at Lake Norman became aware in the summer of 2009 of an
HMA policy directing the reuse and multiple billings for each metered dose inhater (“MDI™).
Instead of dispensing the MIDI to the patient to take home, the canister was wiped off, a new spacer
wag added, and the MDI was reused for the next patlent, An MDI costs approximately $40 at the
local pharmacy and contains 200 metered doses. HMA charged $66.00 per dose, and could bill as
much as $13,200 for each $40.00 MDI.

19.  Pro-MED Actively Advanced HMA’s Efforts to Genérate Revenue from
Unnecessary Tests and Admissions '

382.  Since 2003, Pro-MED has implemented at HMA facilities the programs necessary
for HMA to gather data on ED tests and admissions, to organize that data, and to facifitate HMA’s
tight corporate cohtrol over medical decisions made by ED physicians.

383.  Pro-MED implemented ED software at HMA facilities, including the nurse’s EMR
and the physician’s EMR, as well as the Pro-MED CTM guidelines. All of these programs enable
HMA executives to collect ER patient data, to generate unnecessary diagnostic tests using

Complaint Test Mapping, and to police ED physicians’ decisions to recommend admission to HMA
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facilities.

384, In 2006, Pro-MED recommended 1o HMA a program called “QualCheck,” which
HMA used to interject minimal corporate admission standards in an attempt to exert greater
influence over the ED physicians’ medical judgment and to increase unnecessary admissions.

385.  InaJune 8, 2007 Pro-MED Performance Review Letter, analyzing the ED at Davis
Regional, Pro-MED recognized that the Pro-MED CTM guidelines are 2 means to exert corporate
control over emergency physicians® decisions to order tests when it recommended that HMA
“review and revise testing guidelines to ensure they meet corporation . . . expectations.” In 2008,
Pro-MED was instrumental in developing FHIMA's revised and more outrageous CTM guidelines.

386, On July 28, 2008 Pro-MED issued a Time Studies and Patient Flow Assessment
Report. This study, prepared by Pro-MED’s COQ, Len Strickland, RN and Paul Lindeman, MD,
resufted from a recent “meeting with corporate management,” and was allegedly conducted afier
low results on patient/family satisfaetion surveys in many HMA ERs which were attributed, in part,
to excessive wait times and length of stays.”

387.  The Pro-MED authots of the Time Study report of July 2008 specifieally refer to
Complaint Test Mapping as a means (o maximize revenue per patiént. (IIsi‘ng HMA’s Paintsville,
Kentucky facilify as an example, Pro-MED actually quantified for HMA’s corporate management
the substantial revenues generated by adherence to the Pro-MED CTM guidelines.

388. In this same July 2008 Time Study Patient Flow report, Pro-MED also made the
following recommendations for implementing HMA’s corporate benchmarks: triage nurses should
order the Pro-MED Complaint Test Mapping guidelines iests immediately after triage; HMA’s
emergency room triage nurses should order guidelines tests 70% of the time within 10 minutes of
triage. (The existing HMA benchmark was 67%); HMA should “review and modify practice

(testing) guidelines so that number of tests in HMA hospitals is consistent with the standards);”
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HMA should “maintain established benchmark (greater than 80% for using practice guidelines
overall) to ensure a consistent high quality of care and optimize revenue potential for ancillary
services,”

389. Following the recommendations of the Pro-MED report of July 2008, HMA both
issued revised Complaint Test Mapping (practice guidelines) and demanded that all HMA hospital
EDs implement them.

A.  HMA Offers Kickbacks {Lucrative Contracts and Cash) to Indace ER

Physicians, to Refer or Recommend Patients for Unnecessary In-Patient and
Qut-Patient Treatment {Diagnostic Tests and Admissions)

390. HMA provides kickbacks to emergency medicine practices who were complying
with their benchmarks for unnecessary tests and unnecessary admissions by renewing or awarding
them lucrative emergency room professional services contracts. HMA discharges ER physicians
who do not meet HMA’s performance standards for unnecessary tests and admissions.

391. For example, fiom at leagt 2008 until mid-2010, HMA repeatedly threatened
MEMA with contract termination for failure to participate in its fraud. Particularly, HMA
communicated orally through Division executives and hospital CEOs that it MEMA did not meet
HMA’s testing and admission benchmarks, HMA would ﬁg‘c MEMA and @place it with a physician
group that would.

392, On Qctober 27, 2009, during a meeting at CEQ Greg Lowe’s office at Lake
Norman, Angela Marchi told Relator Folstad that Pro-MED software and testing guidelines were
“here to stay,” that HMA was not going to change these procedures, and that MEMA must “work
with us or you are gone,” Marchi added that Relator Folstad needed “to get Dr. Mason under
control.” At the time Relator Mason was the most vocal critic of HMA’s illegal testing and
admisstons’ practices.  Relators understood this to mean that if MEMA. did not follow the Pro-

MED CTM guidelines, implement the Pro-MED physician EMR needed to run QualCheck, and
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meet HMA’s other ED benchmarks, they would be terminated.

393.  Upon information and belief, Defendant EmCare’s emergency room physicians have
been meeting HMA's benchmarks for Complaint Test Mapping and/or admissions. These include,
but are not limiied to, EmCare physicians who staff the following HMA facilities: Charlotte
Regional in Punta Gorda, Florida; Lehigh Regional, Lehigh Acres, Florida; Pasco Regional Medical
Center, Dade City, Florida; Spring Hill Regional, Spring Hill, Florida; Natchez Community
Hospital, Natchez, Mississippi.

394. EmCare physicians also benefit from meeting HMA’s ED benchmarks. The
unnecessary tests and physician consults, also raise the level of service, whether or not the patient is
admitted.

HMA ATTEMPTS TO INDUCE MEMA WITH
CASH TO MEET CORPORATE BENCHMARKS

395. MEMA resisted HMA's efforts to employ fraudulent emetgency room practices at
Lake Norman and Davis Regional, HMA offered MEMA physicians at both facilitics cash
“awards” o meet its corporate benchmarks. MEMA refiised HMA’s offers of illegal cash
inducements as illegal kickbacks to meet testing and admiss;ions benchmarks. |

396.  On approximately July 16, 2006, Karen Metz, the then Davis CEQ, offered cash
incentives to meet IMA'’s testing and admissions ED benchmarks to Relator Folstad, At the time,
he was the ED Medical Director at Davis. In a proposed amendment to the MEMA contract, HMA
offered “bonuses” or “awards” of $3,000 per quarter to each emergency physician who met CTM
guidelines and attendings called benchmarks.

397.  Relator Folstad vefused to participate in HMA’s incentives aimed at increasing ER
tests ordered or patients admitted though the ER becausc.he knew these offers to be illegal. When

Relator Folstad told Karen Metz that MEMA could participate only in the incentives related to
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quality patient care (LOS and physician exam times), Metz rejected Folstad’s suggestion.

398. Greg Lowe became HMA's CEO at Lake Norman in early June, 2009. Shortly
thereafter, he offered similar incentives to MEMA. Particularly, on or about June 22, 2009, Lowe
sent an email to Relator Mason which stated: “I've atfached a proposal similar to one [ had in place
at my last hospital related to some of the guality indicators tracked by Pro-MED. We should
discuss what our goals would be set at given historical performance. Let me know your
availability.”

399. Lowe attached a document to his June 22, 2009 email, which detailed proposed cash
payments for participation in HMA’s frand. In practice, IMA offered each MEMA physician
$2,000 per quarter for each of six HMA corporate benchmark met, including the following three
benchimarks related to patient admissions and tests ordered:

. Physician test guideline adherence: > 80% (complaint test mapping);

° Attending called: >30%;

. Quality review criteria met: fewer than 33% cases not admitted when picked up
by Pro-MED as eligible for admission; y
Given the number of MEMA staff members at Lake Norman, these kickEacks offered by CEO
Lowe could total $250,000 per year.

400, Like Relator Folstad, Relator WMason refused HMA's offer of incentives related to
ER tests and/or admission. Relator Mason also told Lowe that MEMA physicians did not need
bribes to strive for excellence in the metrics related to quality patient care. Mason told Lowe that he
considered the offer a bribe and that it was “fraud and abuse.” In response to Mason’s statement,
Lowe became very angry, insulted Dr. Mason, denied that they were kickbacks, and said,”

Everyone does this kinda thing.” Lowe added that he had “done it before,”
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B. Defendant HMA has Failed to Meet Medicare Conditions of Participation

401. In order for services at any Defendant HMA’s facilities, including Defendant
Lake Norman and/or Davis Regional, to gualify for coverage under any federal health care
program, it must meet all Medicare conditions of participation (Medicare COPs), including
compliance with the federal Anti-IKiclback Statute (“AKS”).

402, Defendants failed to meet these Medicare COPs because, as alleged herein,
Defendants violated the federal Anti-Kickback Statute,

403,  In order for Defendant HMA’s services to qualify for coverage under state health
care programs offered in North Carolina, Florida, Georgia, Oklahoma, Tennessee, and Texas, or
other state health programs, including Medicald, HMA must meet all Medicaid conditions of
participation (Medicaid COPs), including compliance with the federal Anti-Kickback Statute.

404. Defendants failed to meet these Medicaid COPs because, as alleged herein,
Defendants violated the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and applicable state Anti-Kickback
Statutes.

405. Defendants employed unlawful schémes to héve ED physicians refer or
recommend that patients receive diagnostic testing or other services at Defendant HMA’s
hospital ER, and/or receive in-patient care at HMA hospitals by paying or offering to pay
“kickbacks” to ED physicians and/or physician groups. These schemes and relationships with
referring physicians violate the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and state anti-kickbaclc laws.

406. Compliance with the federal AKS is a condition of payment under Medicare and
other Federal health care programs. The federal Anti-Kickback Statufe specifically provides that
a violation also constitutes a violation of the federal False Claims Act.

407. Defendants have violated and eontinue to violate the federal FCA by committing
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acts to further the submission of claims to federal and/or state health care programs for services
related to patient referrals which are tainted by Defendant HMA's federal and state Anti-

Kickback Sta;ute violations.
C. Defendant HMA Terminated Relator Folstad, Mason and MEMA’s
Professional Services Contracts at Lake Norman and Davis Regional in

Violation of the Anti-Retaliation Provisions of the Federal False Claims Act,
31 U.S.C. § 3730(h) as well as the North Carolina False Claims Act, §1-613

408. Defendant HMA has violated the anti-retaliation provisions of the federal False
Claims Act, 31 US.C. § 3730(h) and the North Carqlina False Claims Act, G.S. §1-613, by
terminating the Relators® contracts for engaging in protected conduct as described herein.

409, Relators MEMA, Mason, Folstad, as well as other emergency physicians
employed by or through MEMA who worked at HMA facilities, repeatedly complained to HMA
corporate officers and executives, both orally and in writing, about HMA’s above-described
fraudulent schemes. These complaints were made at every level of HMA's corporate structure,
beginning with the hospital CEOs and reaching to HMA CEO Newsome, and Bill Schoen,
Chairman of the Board of Directors at HMA.

410. Relators repeatedly warned HMA. that' or&ering unnecessary tests and admitting
patients unnecessarily created potential exposure for billing government payors for unnecessary
diagnostic tests and admissions.

411. Rather than make difficult and costly changes that would have brought HMA into
compliance with Medicate and Medicaid rules and regulations, HMA attempted to silence
MEMA and the other Relators. Finally, HMA terminated MEMA’s valuable professional
services contracts at HMA's Lake Norman and Davis Regional facilities.

1. HMA'’s Retaliation of the Relators

412.  The chronology of events sets forth a compelling account of Defendant HMA’s
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concerted efforts to exert pressure on the Relators and to coerce them to cooperate in
Defendant’s fraud.

a. Refators’ Exposure of HMA’s Early “Quality Reviews” to Push
Testing and Admissions

413.  Since the early years of MEMA’s coniract at Lake Norman (1996), HMA has
conducted “quality reviews” of patient charts in thinly-veiled aitempts to increase HMA revenues
through unnecessary tests and patient admissions. These reviews had fittle to do with evidence-
based medicine or the quality of paticnt care.

414,  Soon after MEMA emergency physicians arrived at Lake Norman, HMA sent a
consuitant, Dr. “Hump” Wood, to perform “quality” chart reviews. Dr. Wood conducted similar
“quality” reviews at all HMA EDs. HMA, through Dr. Wood, suggested to MEMA that their
emergency physicians should have ordered additional testing, called the patients’ private aftendings,
or recommended patients for admission (at times for ridiculously low-risk patients).

415.  Relator Mason reported to P. Paul Smith, HMA’s then CEO at Lake Norman, that
HMA’s “quality reviews” were badly-disguised efforts to generate charges for HMA through
unnecessary hospital services. Smith agreed with Dr, Masbn. After a couple of years, Dr. Wood’s
“quality reviews” of MEMA patients at Lake Norman ceased. Defendant HMA has more recently
retained additional “quality review” consultants to scrutinize MEMA physicians’ ER patient charts.
HMA'’s quality review consultants have each coneluded that there were no areas for improvement
and that MEMA’s work is of the highest quality.

416.  For example, in January 2009, HMA retained Lisa Nummi, RIN/ CNP to review
MEMA patient charts from Lake Notman and Davis Regional. After reviewing 100 charts from
each faeility, Nummi reported that MEMA physieians at both facilities had provided high quality

emergency care and had not discharged any patients that should have been admitted.
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417.  In December of 2009, in an effort to find some pretense for criticism, HMA retained
EmCare physician Michael Wheelis, MD, to conduct a “quality review” of MEMA charts. After
reviewing MEMA's charts for Quality Review and QualCheck patients discharged over a four-
month period, Dr. Wheelis also found neither deficiencies nor need for improvement.

418.  HMA’s “quality reviews” show that MEMA physicians rendered appropriate
ernergency care even though they have largely resisted HMA’s pressures to order excessive tests
and to admit patients to Lake Norman and Davis Regional unnecessarily.

b. Relators’ Refusal to Cooperate with HMA’s CTM Guidelines and
Admissions Fraud

419, HMA atteapted to induce Relators with illegal cash inducements to mest
corporate mandates to order unnecessary tests and to recommend that patients be admitted to the
hospital unnecessarily. When the Relators refused, HMA intensified its efforts to harass the
Relators,

420.  Throughout 2009 and into 2010, [TMA was unable to persuade or compel MEMA
physicians to cooperate with its fraudulent corporate mandates. HMA attempted to silence the
Relators, and eventually terminated the Relators’ coritracis, which wefewortl% approximately $6
million annually, so that Defendant HMA could continué the fraudulent practices which MEMA
had uncovered and reported.

42]. MEMA'’s reports to HMA began during the years of “Hump Wood” reviews
(approximately 1996 through 1998), when Relator Mason repoited to the CEO at Lake Norman,
P. Paul Smith, that HMA’s “quality reviews” were thinly veiled attempts to generate illegal
charges for HMA from unnecessary hospital services. HMA's executive, P. Paul Smith, agreed
with Relator Maéon.

422.  In more recent years, Relators also reported to other HMA executives that HMA's
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corporate benchmarks for ordering tests and minimum ER admissions were part of HMA’s
i efforts to gain illegal revenues through unnecessary services. Relators repeatedly reported to
HMA that these practices interfered with the ED physicians® independent medical judgment

regarding the best treatment for the patient and exposed all to regulatory scrutiny.

423, From the inception of their contracts with HMA, Relators have taken proactive

A

steps fo eliminate the effects of HMA’s fraudulent schemes at Lake Norman and Davis Regional.
HMA punished the Relators for their efforts to comply with state and federal health care program
requirements,

424.  Since mid-2008, the Relators were told, in niot so subtle terms, that their ability to
retain their lucrative contracts with HIMA depended on their willingness to meet HMA’s
corporate mandates on diagnostic tests ordered and admissions recommended for ER patients.

? 425, On December 22, 2008, MEMA's outside compliance counsel wrote a letter to
HMA’s CMO, Ronald Riner, MD, MEMA's counsel related MEMA’s concerns with Pro-MED

Complaint Test Mapping and Pro-MED QualCheck, adding that the “physicians questions are

legitimate in the current context of overuse in Medicare.”

426. In lale 2008, Relator Mason also 'raisgd concérns wifh Lynne West, RN,
Corporate Director of Emergency Services, that Pro-MED Complaint Test Mapping involved
firaud and abuse that put all parties involved at risk.

427.  From late 2008, HMA mandated that Relators implement the Pro-MED Physician

EMR and 2008 CTM guidelines at Lake Norman and Davis Regional, The Pro-MED EMR was
necessary to facilitate HMA’s use of Pro-MED’s QualCheck software, which HMA used to
increase unnecessary admission to its hospitals.

428.  After HMA mandated that all EDs use the 2008 CTM guidelines, Relators

continued their efforts to minimize the local effects of HMA’s testing benchimarks by continuing
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to manually cancel unnecessary tests. At the same time, Relator Mason continued his efforts to

work with HMA to have the CTM guidelines formally and drastically reduced to bring the

ettt e T P S Rt St e

number of excessive tests generated to more acceptable levels,

429. In late 2008, Karen Metz, CEQ of Davis Regional, contacted Mason and
arranged for him to go to HMA corporate headquarters in Naples to work with a group of

“concerned” emergency physicians to review the revised CTM guidelines.

AL Tl il U Ao s T LR

c Early 2009 ~ Additional Acts of Retaliation by HMA

430, In early January, 2009, Relator Mason met with Lake Norman CEQ, Mike
Cowling and reported that HMA's 2008 CTM guidelines were clearly abusive and interfered
with the ED physicians” independent medical judgment. Relator Mason told Cowling that

MEMA will not use them. Cowling agreed with Relalor Mason that the new CTM guidelines

AT s EE L ¢ T L et e e e M A

were excessive and meant to generate revenue, not improve quality,
431. CEO Cowling told Relator Mason that his corporate superiors at HMA told
Cowling that if MEMA would not use CTM guidelines, Cowling needed to fire MEMA and find

a group that would, Cowling added that HMA could “have his job,” but Cowling would not telf

H
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Mason’s group how to practice medicine. (Cowling would resign shortly thereafter, on February

11, 2009.)
432, After the Janvary 4, 2009 meeting, Cowling communicated Relator Mason’s fraud
~ and abuse concerns about the 2008 CTM guidelines {o HIMA corporate, including Vickie Briggs

and Brilt Reynolds.

i 433,  On January 8, 2009, Relator Mason received a inemo from HMA’s CMO, Dr.
Riner, inviting Mason to a meeting at HMA’s Naples, Florida cotporate offices to discuss Pro-
MED Complaint Test Mapping.

434,  On that same date, Lake Norman CEO, Mike Cowling, told Relator Mason that
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th«_a HMA executives directed Cowling to implement the 2008 CTM guidelines’ program and that
there would be “no negotiation.”

435. Meanwhile, MEMA physicians at Lake Norman and Davis Regional continued
their efforts to reduce the number of unnecessary tests ordered by reviewing ordered tests,
making sure the ED physician had the tests needed, then cancelling the tests they concluded were
not medically necessary, In an effort to help Dr. Mason defend their decisions to cancel Pro-
MED tests when challenged by HMA, Relator Mason asked his physicians at Lake Norman to
document their reasons for cancelling tests. Dr. Folstad and the other MEMA physicians at Davis
Regional also documented their reasons for cancelling tests.

436. Approximately one to two weeks before the February 3, 2009 meeting in Naples,
Florida, Relator Mason discussed the CTM guidelines over the telephone with HMA CMO
Riner. Mason reported that the 2008 CTM guidelines constituted fraud and abuse. Dr. Riner
responded that he would leave HMA if the CTM guidelines were not revised.

437, On January 23, 2009, Relator Mason met with Lisa Nummi, RN, CNP, a quality
consultant for HMA. He reported to Nummi MEMA’S concerns that the Pro-MED CTM
software was employed to perpetrate fraud and that “unnecessar? tests Were being ordered for
revenue generation.” Ms, Nummi agreed. In an email dated January 26, 2009, Ms. Nummi
stated that she reported MEMA's concerns about fraud and abuse to Dr. Riner, HMA’s CMO,

438,  On January 27, 2009, Relators Mascn and Folstad attended a meeting at Davis
Regional between Lake Norman and Davis Regional administrators (CEQ Cowling from Lake
Norman and Karen Metz from Davis Regional) and ED medical directors to discuss “concerns
and the pressure the HMA hospital CEOs were under to use the [Pro-MED] system.”

439,  In June of 2009, MEMA rejected HMA's second offer of incentives to induce

compliance with HMA ED testing and admissions benchmarks.
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d. Relators MEMA and Mason Notify HMA CEO Newsome that HMA’s
ER Practices Inyolye Fraud and Abuse

440. Thereafter, on August 18, 2009, Relator Mason wrote an email to HMA CEO
Newsome and reported that HMA’s 2008 CTM guidelines require that ER physicians order an
egregiously excessive volume of tests and amounted to fraud and abuse, that would put all
involved “at risk under any regulatory review.”

441, Relator Mason also explained that the Pro-MED physician EMR program causes
excessive delays in moving patients through the ER, which negatively impacts patient care.
Relator Mason enclosed letters from his partners, who echoed Mason’s concerns, as well as their
own concetns that the implementation of HMA’s benchmatlks interfete with the ED physicians’
independent judgment regarding the best care for the patient.

442, On August 25, 2009, Relators Mason and Folstad, with Dr. Greer, MEMA
Medical Director at Davis, met with Greg Lowe, CEQ at Lake Norman, HMA Division |
President, Britt Reynolds, and Division | Vice President.Angie Marchi. When the attendees
took their seats, the first words Britt Reynolds uttered were: “If this meeting is anything about
Medicare compliance and fraud and abuse, this meeting‘Is over, and wc-'wili. need to bring our
attorneys.” It is clear that MEMA expressed grave eoncerns that HMA’s program would create
fraudulent claims,

443, At the same time, Reynolds also stated “You [MEMA] are our best ER group in
the entire corporation and in our highest revenue-generating hospital, and we are not going to
blow up this hospital by getting rid of you. We do not want EmCare in here.” Reynolds also
told MEMA that HMA was going to correct the problems with the Pro-MED Physician EMR
and provide the emergency physicians with a patient medical rec‘ord that works, Reynolds stated

that Angie Marchi and Relator Mason would be sent to Florida to work on revising the Pro-MED
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Physician EMR. Two months later, MEMA was told that they must implement the Pro-MED
Physician EMR “as is” or be terminated.

e HMA Terminatess MEMA for Not Meeting HMA Corporate
Benchmarks for Testing and Admissions and Replaces them with
Physicians Groups who will Cooperate with HMA’s Testing and
Admissions Goals

444, After Relators refused HMA’s offer of illegal incentives, HMA continued to

threaten Relators with contract termination. For example, HMA communicated through hospital
CEO Lowe that if Relators did not meet HMA ED benchmarlks, HMA would fire them and replace
them with physicians that would.

445,  HMA also repeatedly put Relators’ emergency medical care under close scrutiny
and applied additional pressure on MEMA through a pretextual “Quality Review.” From late

December 2009 until February 2010, HMA subjected MEMA to quality review by Defendant

FaATIEEmmTe . e

EmCare’s Dr. Wheelis, Relators believe that FIMA used the EmCare review as a means to
harass them for not cooperating with HMA’s efforts to g(;,nerate revenues through unnecéssary
‘ tests and hospital admissions, as well as to attempt to .ﬂnd grounds to terminate MEMA for
cause.

446. Dr. Wheelis specifically requested from MEMA all QualCheck overrides and
Discharge Quality Review reports for four months for both Lake Norman and Davis Regional EDs.

Quality Review and QualCheck patients are those “recommended” for admission through Pro-MED

software employed by HMA. After reviewing MEMA’s “Quality Review” and “QualCheck” charts
for patients discharged over a four-month period, Dr. Wheelis found neither deficiencies nor need
for improvement. In fact, Dr. Wheelis gave MEMA high praise for both quality of care and

charting -~ the two core services MEMA agreed to provide under its professional services
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agreements with HMA.

447. Dr. Wheelis told Relators Mason and Folstad, and a group of other MEMA
physicians from Lake Norman and Davis Regional, in the presence of HMA's then-CEO at Lake
Norman, Greg Lowe, that MEMA ED physicians provided excellent care. Dr. Wheelis added: “If I
wreck going back to Charlotte tonight, I hope that one of your doctors takes care of me.”

448, HMA'’s quality consultants, including EmCare’s Dr. Wheelis, found that MEMA’s
emergency care was of the highest quality and that there was no need for improvement. HMA’s
quality reviews show that MEMA s refusal to order unnecessary tests or to recommend unnecessary
admission did not negatively impact the quality of the emergency care MEMA rendered to its ED
patients.

449, In Jaouary 2010, Relator Mason refused to recominend that the Lake Norman
MEC approve the 2009 Pro-MED CTM guidelines. He was silent, rather than vote against
approval, in order to avoid inciting the wrath of Lake Norman CEO, Greg Lowe. Lowe was
angry that MEMA did not “fall in .line” and approve HMA’s Pro-MED CTM guidelines.

450. In the winter and spring of 2010, Relator Mason repeatedly reportéd to HMA's
CEO at Lake Norman that the HMA reviews of ER data were at.tcmpté ‘t.o have ER physicians
order tests and admit patients unnecessarily. In response, Lowe frequently threatened to cancel
MEMA’s contract and get a group that would comply with HMA’s ER agenda.

45]1.  On May 3, 2010, HMA’s hospital executives at Lake Norman provided notice,
both orally and in writing, to MEMA's President, Relator Folstad that HMA was terminating the
Lake Norman contract with Relator MEMA effective November 3, 2010. HMA later revised this
notice to reflect a termination date of October 29, 2010,

452,  On that same date, HMA’s hospital executives at Davis provided similar notice to

MEMA’s President, Relator Folstad, that it was terminating the Davis Regional contract with
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Relator MEMA effective August 31, 2010. HMA terminated Relatﬁrs’ confracts “‘without canse”
and as a direct result of Relators’ and MEMA's doctors’ refusal to participate in HMA’s blatant
fraud.

453, HMA’s May 3, 2010 notice of termination to Relators stated that it was
terminating the Lake Norman and Davis Regional professional services contracts without cause

based on “philosophical differences.” In fact, HMA lacked canse to terminate Relators because

the services Relators contracted to provide - emergency medicine and creating a record of that
care - were of the highest quality.

454.  Upon information and belief, HMA contacted Defendant EmCare on or before
May 3, 2010 and awarded it the professional services contract to staff the ER at Lake Norman.

EmCare was awarded the lucrative Lalke Norman contract, at least in patt, because EmCare

SEMEELETT e e .

physicians are viewed as a group that will cooperate with HMA's benchmarks for ordering CTM
guidelines tests and admissions.
' 455, On July 28, 2010, Todd Dixon, Lake Norman Chief Qperating Officer, attended
the staff meetings for the Lake Norman [maging Department. Dixo_n “reviewed some of the
things the [hospital] administration is doing to improve the hoslpital’s Business.” Mr. Dixon
discussed new emergency physicians and hospitalists groups who would be starting at Lake
Norman on November 3, 2010 (the termination date on the MEMA contract).

456, HMA’s hospital COO stated that the emergency physicians and intemists have
been “carefully selected,” they come from the same company, and they “come to the hospital
with new thought processes and a willingness to work as a team.” Mr. Dixon stated that HMA

anticipates “an immediate increase in volume because of these changes” in emergency

physicians and hospitalists groups.

457. EmCare’s physicians, who replaced Relators at HMA’s Take Norman, order tests
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to meet HMA’s CTM guidelines benchmarks, and they recommend admissions to HMA where
other EmCare hospitalists will also benefit fromn professional fees for treating patients once
admitted.

458, The confract with HMA’s Lake Norman generated revenues for MEMA of
approximately $270,000 per month. MEMA earned approximately $200,000 per month through
their contract with HMA.'s Davis Regional. Combined, MEMA carned approximately $6 million
annually from their HMA contracts. Relators would have continued to earn these fees had HMA
not terminated them for engaging in protected conduct, In addition, MEMA will incur $2.3
million in annual increased staffing costs as a result of HMA’s illegal termination of the Lake
Norman and Davis contracts.

HMA SLANDERS RELATORS MEMA, MASON AND FOLSTAD

459.  The Relators’ reputations in the community and good names and professional
standing have been tainted in their medical community as other professionals speculate as to the
reasons for their abrupt termination. In some cases, HMA has slande'red Relators® in the medical
‘community.

460. TFor example, within days of the May 3, 2010 t.erminati-on notices issued by
HMA’s Davis Regional and Lake Nomman, two members of the Lake Norman Board of
Directors, Dr. David Hillsgrove and Dr. Herb Wettreich,lapproached Dr. Mason. They told him
that Greg Lowe had told the Lake Norman Board of Directors that MEMA was terminated
becanse it was not committed to FIMA’s quality program and MEMA was not committed to
improving their patient satisfaction scores.

461, The week after the terminations, Drs. Folstad and Mason met with Lake Norman
Board Chairman Randy Marion, who confirmed what Drs. Hillsgrove and Wettreich had told Dr.

Mason: that Greg Lowe had toid the Lake Norman Board of Directors that MEMA was fired
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because they refused to use HMA’s quality system.

462. Defendants HMA and/or Lake Norman told numerous other physicians in their
community that MEMA was terminated because of its failure to commit to HMA’s quality
program and their patient satisfaction scores, despite 14 years of never having their quality
questioned and patient satisfaction scores that had previously been at the top of their division.

463. On August 26, 2010, Relator Mason senf an email to HMA’s CEQ at Lake
Norman, Greg Lowe, regarding the pending transition at Lake Norman from MEMA emergency
physicians. In the email, Relator Mason notified HMA’s hospital CEO that MEMA had “heard
both by rumor and direct conversation with others that you and your staff have made some
disparaging remarks about MEMA regarding our quality and patient satisfaction.” Relators
received no response whatsoever from Lake Normman or HMA to the Relators’ statement that
disparaging statements had been made by HMA's employees.

464. On November 3, 2010, Relators again wrote to HMA’s hospital CEO at Lake
Norman regarding the slanderous remarlks about MEMA’s discharge that continued to be made,
even after the August 26, 2010 letter:

We have been hearing an increasing number of rumors
about why we were discharged. At first, we tried to ignore them,
but they have continued. In an effoit to avoid unnecessary rumors
or anything that may hurt MEMA or our physicians’ chances of
replacing our HMA contraets, we request that no further inaccurate
rumaors be circulated, directly or indirectly, throughout the medicaf
comfmunity.

As you know, we feel very strongly that we were
terminated because we failed to follow the practices and
procedures that were imposed on us to order unnecessary tests for
patients that we treated and to admit patients when we found no
medieal necessity to do so.

We understand that HMA has decided to go another way

and to employ physicians who will be more compliant with your
corporate practices. As of today you are free to do whatever you
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like in your emergency rooms. Our concern is simple. We do not
want our good names or our good reputations, which we covet, in
any way besmirched by rumor mills, innuendo, inferences, or other
factors that we find inappropriate and, frankly, distasteful.

Again, neither HMA nor its hospital CEO responded to the Relators’ letter.

465. HMA terminated MEMA's contracts without cause and as a direct result of
MEMA's repeated refusal to participate in HMA’s fraud and abuse practices.

466. HMA’s incentive to terminate MEMA’s contract is clearly revealed in the report
by its consultant, Pro-MED: each HMA hospital wherc MEMA refused to implement HMA’s
standard Complaint Test Mapping (practice guidelines) was losing, at a minimum, $300,000 per
month.

467. Since at least 2008, Relators repeatedly told HMA that HMA’s mandates for
ordering unnecessary tests and recommending unnecessary admissions interfere with the ED
physicians’ independent medical judgment regarding necessary care to meet their patients’ best
interests. |

468. Throughout the second half of 2008, alf of 2009 and the first four months of 2010,
HMA repeatedly threatened MEMA that if its ph’ysic‘ians would not ,con&ply with HMA’s
corporate mandates for tests ordered and patients admitted to the hospital, it would fire MEMA
and replace them with another emergency physician group that would do what HMA wished.

469. By May 3, 2010, HMA had already contracted with EmCare to replace MEMA
ED physicians at Lake Norman, and HMA had already contacted another group to take over the
ED at Davis Regional.

2. HMA’s Termination of MEMA Violates the Anti-Retaliation Provisions of
the Federal False Claims Act as well as the North Carolina False Claims Act

470, The facts set forth above meet the elements required to establish a prima facie

case of retaliation pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h). The facts set forth above also establish a
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prima facie case of retaliation under Section 1-613 of the North Carolina False Claims Act. Both
of these statutes extend‘ anti-retaliation protections to contractors and agents, as well as
employees,

471. Relators repeatedly used words to Defendants HMA, Lake Norman and Davis
Regional which were sufficient to put any Defendant on notice that Relators were involved in
protected activities.

472. Relators continually protested HMA’s illegal conduct over a period of many
months, both orally and in writing. Relators objected to HMA practices requiring ED physicians
at HMA hospitals to order unnecessary tests and to admit patients unnecessarily, as well as
HMA'’s interference with the ED physicians’ independent medical judgment regarding the most
appropriate treatment and care for ED patients and that HMA’s practices constituted frand.
MEMA also told HMA that its incentives to meet HMA “quality” benchmarks constitute illegal
inducements for ED physicians to order tests and to admit patients at HMA facilities. While
HMA repeatedly tried to silence Relators, particularly Relator Mason, Relators received
confirmation from a number of HMA hospital and corporate executives that their fraud concerns
were legitimate. | |

473, Relators provided written notice to Defendants HMA, Lake Norman, and Davis
Regional that they were invalved in protected activities. These included, but were not limited to,
Relators’ December 2008 letter to HMA’s CMO, Dr. Ron Riner, as well as letters (o HMA's
CEOQ, Newsome, in August of 2009. HMA executives acknowledged that they had received such
notice including on August 25, 2009, when HMA’s Division I President, who reports directly to
CEO Newsome, stated to Relators Folstad and Mason that, if Relators were going to discuss
“fraud and abuse, the meeting is over.”

474.  Despite HMA’s admitted knowledge of its fraudulent practices, no one at HMA
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would make necessary corporate changes to its policies and procedures regarding fests ordered in
the ER and patients admitted through the ER. Consequently, because Relators refused both to
ignore HMA’s fraud and illegal schemes, and to participate in them with HMA, they were
harassed and then their contracts were terminated.

475,  Defendant HMA violated the anti-retaliation provisions of both the federal False

Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730¢h), and the North Carolina False Claim Act, § 1-613, when it

terminated MEMA's professional services contracts for engaging in protected activity.

476, Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h) and Nosth Carolina G.S. § 1-613, Relators are
entitled to “all relief necessary lo be made whole,” including “reinstatement with the same
seniorify status that the employee, contractor or agent would have had but for the discrimination,
two times the amount of back pay, interest on the back pay, and compensation for any special
’4 damages sustained as a result of the discrimination including litigation costs and reasonable
attorneys’® fees.”

;‘ D.  EmCare’s Conspiracy with Defendant HMA

477.  As defailed above, EmCare physicians have conspired with HMA to cause HMA

to submit illegal claims for unnecessary tests and admissions. EmCare's conduct includes its

complicity to create and implement HMA’s CTM guidelines, as well as its physicians’
» willingness to meet HMA's testing and admission benchmarks.

478.  For example, EmCare physicians helped HMA to creatc the CTM guidelines.

479, In addition, when HMA emergency physicians and ED directors voiced grave

concerns about the excessive nature of the 2008 CTM guidelines, EmCare’s executive, Tetry

Meadows, MD, instructed emergency physicians at HMA hospitals to use the excessive CTM
guidelines,. HMA’s CMO, Dr. Riner, relayed these instructions to the emergency physicians in

his November 2008 memo, and directed ED physicians at HMA hospitals to comply with Dr.
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Meadows’ instructions.

480.  When the CTM Task Force met to revise the 2008 CTM guidelines, Defendant
EmCare’s physicians were silent observers rather than active participants in bringing the CTM
guidelines closer to acceptable levels.

481.  Further, Defendant EmCare has conspired with HMA by ordering unnecessary :

CTM guidelines tests and by meeting HMA’s testing and admissions benchmarks at facilities

staffed by EmCare Physicians.

482,  HMA has paid, and EmCare has accepted, kickbacks to Defendant EmCare, at
least in pait, to induce EmCare physicians to recommend or refer patients to HMA facilities for
services which are paid by federal and state health care programs. These kickbacks include
EmCare’s retention of existing lucrative HMA contracts, as well as HMA’s awarding new ER
; contracts to EmCare. For example, HMA has awarded the Lake Norman ER and hospitalists
contracts to Defendant EmCare as a financial inducement to EmCare to refer patients for hospital

services, including ER festing and admissions.

483. 1t is clear from the statements made by HMA’s hospital COO Todd Dixon during

July 2010 staff meetings for the Lake Norman Imaging Departinent, that Defendant EmCare has

conspived with HMA. Dixon stated that HMA expects that the EmCare physicians (both
emergency physicians and the internists with admitting privileges) had been “carefully selected”
i by HMA based on their willingness to cooperate with HMA. Dixon added that, in July of 2010,

before the EmCare physicians saw a single patient at Lake Norman, HMA anticipated “an

SR P AR

immediate increase in volyme” after the EmCare physicians arrival at Lake Norman ER.

(Emphasis added). Upon information and belief, HMA has placed EmCare emergency
physicians at other HMA facilities based upon their willingnesé to cooperate with HMA’s ED

policies and admissions and testing benchmarks.
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484,  This increase in the volume of tests expected by HMA once EmCare emergency
physicians were in place at Lake Norman’s ER has, in fact, occurred. Upoen information and
belief, EmCare’s collective contracts at HMA facilities are worth tens of millions of dollars

annually,

485. Defendant EmCare’s physicians also benefit from unnecessary testing and from
meeting HMA’s benchmarks for calling attending physicians. These unnecessary diagnostic
tests and consults increase the complexity of care and allow the emergency physician to bill for a
higher E&M level for their professional services.

486. Relators Folstad, Mason, and MEMA have illustrated through the above
allegations that from 2003 to the present, Defendant HMA, HMA facilities, including, but not
limited to, Davis Regional and Lake Norman, and the EmCare Defendants engaged in conduct
which violates the federal FCA and the false claims acts of the States of North Carolina, Florida,
Georgia, Oklahoma, Tennessee and Texas,

COUNT I (U.S. EX REL. MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA V.
i HMA, LAKE NORMAN, DAVIS REGIONAL, AND EMCARE DEFENDANTS) -
{ VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL FALSE CLAIMS ACT
3 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A), (B), and (G} -~ -

487. Relators re-allege 17 1-486 as though fully set forth hetein.

488. Claims submitted by Defendant HMA’s facilities nationwide, including, but not
’ limited to, Defendants Lake Norman and Davis Regional, to federally- or state- funded health
care programs (including Medieare, Medicaid, etc.) related to out-patient and in-patient setvices
(ER tests, ancillary services, and admissions) that were not medically necessary constitute
violations of the federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(2)(1)}(A).

489,  Claims submitted by Defendant HMA’s facilities nationwide, ineluding, but not

limited to, Defendants Lake Nortman and Davis Regional, to federally- or state- funded health
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care programs {including Medicare and Medicaid) for out-patient services, including emergency
room services, where the severity of care was inflated or supported by unnecessary tests are false
and frandulent and violate the federal False Claims Act, 31 U.8.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A).

490. Claims submitted by Defendant HMA’s facilities nationwide, including, but nct
limited to, Defendants Lale Norman and Davis Regional, to federally- or state- funded health
care programs (including Medicare and Medicaid) for unnecessary admissions and for the
unnecessary tests that imply that the admission is medically necessary are false and violate the
federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A).

491, Claims submitted by Defendant HMA’s facilities, including, but not limited to,
Defendants Lake Norman and Davis Regional, to federally- or state- funded health care
programs (including Medicare, Medicaid, etc.) related to tainted referrals (those stemming from
violations of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute) also constitute violations of the federal False
Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(2)(1)(A).

492, Defendant HMA, directly or through its facilities nationwide, including, but not
limited to, Defendants Lake Norman and Davis Regional, offered andfor provided incentives to
emergency physicians and/or their physicians’ groups to induce ilﬁprope;,li referrals of services to
Defendant HMA’s facilities.

493. Through these emergency physicians at HMA facilities nationwide, HMA
facilities received referrals or recommendations for health services to beneficiaries of federally-
funded health care programs in_violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute,

494. Defendants’ violations of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute give rise to liability
under the federal False Claims Act,

495. As a prerequisite fo participating in federally-funded health care programs,

Defendants expressly certified (or, through their participation in a federally-funded program,
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impliedly certified) their compliance with the federal Anti-Kickback Statute.
=~ . 496. Defendant HMA, through its facilities nationwide, violated the federal False
i Claims Act by submilﬁng claims for reimbursement from federal health care programs, including
| Medicare and Medicaid, knowing that it was ineligible for the payments demanded due to federal
Anti-Kickback Statute violations. Defendant HMA®s Anti-Kickback Statute violations included

the following: illegal remuneration through incentives offered and/or paid to emergency

PER RN R R A LR A

physicians and/or physicians’ groups in the various HMA facilities; and the awarding and/or
maintaining of lucrative contracts for emetgency room services with emergency physicians
and/or emergency physicians’ groups based upon their willingness to participate in HMA’s
scheme to bill federal healthcare programs for unnecessary tests and/or admissions.

497. Defendant HMA, through its facilities nationwide, viclated the federal False
Claims Act by submitting claims for reimbursement from state health care‘ programs, including
Medicaid, knowing that it was ineligible for the payments demanded due to federal Anti-

Kickback Statute violations associated with illegal remuneration paid to emergency room

physicians through incentives and contracts based upon participation in HMA's scheme.

498, Bach claim submitted by Defendant HMA, througﬁ its facifities nationwide, to a
federally or state-funded health care program (including Medicare, Medicaid, etc.) for a service
provided to a patient based on the refetral or recommendation of an emergency physician who

accepted HMA’s inducements is false because it is lainted by an illegal kickback.

i

499. Defendant HMA, directly or through its facilities, and Defendant EmCare
knowingly made, used, or caused to be made or used, false records or statements to cause the

United States to pay or approve false or fraudulent claims, in viclation of 31 US.C. §

3729(a)(1)(B). The false records or statements were: false certifications of necessity; false

records of physician and/or nursing services related to extended teaching and/or critical care; and
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certifications and representations of full compliance with all federal and state laws, including,
but not limited to, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute.

500. Defendant HMA, directly or through its facilities nationwide, and Defendant
EmCare made or caused to be made such false certifications and representations in agreements
under state and federal health care programs, including Medicare and Medicéid, to ensure that
these programs would reimburse for services HMA or EmCare provided to beneficiaries of these
programs.

501. Defendant HMA, dlirect]y or through its facilities nationwide, knowingly made,
used, or caused to be made or used, false records or false staternents to conceal, avoid, or
decrease an obligation by HMA facilities to pay or transmit money or propetty to the United
States, in violation of the federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)}(G).

502, The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, (PPACA) 42 US.C. § 11283(d),
which Defendant HMA has violated, requires that Defendant HMA self-report and return
Medicare and Medicaid overpayments within 60 days of identification.

503. The false records or staterents were: the false certifications of medical necessity;
and certifications and representations: of full compliance witﬁ all féderai and state laws,
including, but not limited to, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute,

504.  All of the Defendants’ eonduct described in this Complaint was knowing, as that
term is used in the federal False Claims Act.

WHEREFORE, Relators request the following relief:
A, Judgment against Defendants for three times the
amount of damages the United States has sustained because
of their actions, plus a civil penalty of $11,000 for each
violation of the federal False Claims Act;

B. 25% of the proeceds of this action if the United
States elects to intervene, and 30% if it does not;
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C. Their attorneys’ fees, litigation and investigation
costs, and expenses;

D. Such other relief as the Court deems just and
appropriate.

COUNT II (U.S. EX REL. MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA V.
HMA, LAKE NORMAN, DAVIS REGIONAL, AND EMCARE DEFENDANTS) -
VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL FALSE CLAIMS ACT
31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(C) CONSPIRACY

505. Relators re-allege Y 1-504 as though fully set forth herein.

506, Defendants HMA and EmCare, through their concerted efforts to carry out
Defendant HMA’s fraudulent schemes to bill for unnecessary tests and admissions, conspired to
defraud the federal government by gelting false or fraudulent claims (including those related to
unnecessary services, as well as those claims related to refetrals tainted by violations of the

federal Anti-Kickback Statute} allowed or paid by the government in violation of the federal

False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a){1)(C).

WHERLEFORE, Relators request the following relief:
A Judgment against Defendants for three times: the
amount of damages the United States has sustained because
of their actions, plus a civil penalty of $11,000 for each
violation of the federal False Claims Act;

B. 25% of the proceeds of this action if the United
States elects to intervene, and 30% if it does not;

C.  Their attorneys’ fees, litigation and investigation
costs, and expenses;

D, Such other relief as the Court deems just and
appropriate.
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COUNT III (MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA V. HMA,
LAKE NORMAN AND DAVIS REGIONAL) -
RETALIATION UNDER THE FEDERAL FALSE CLAIMS ACT
31 US.C. §3730(h)
507.  Relators re-allege Y 1-506 as though fully set forth herein.
508. Defendanis violated the anti-retaliation provisions of the federal False Claims
Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h), when it retaliated against Relators and ultimately terminated their
professional services contracts for Relators” engaging in the protected conduct deseribed herein.
509.  Pursuant to 31 U.S.C, § 3730(h), Relators are entitled to “all relief necessary to be
made whole,” including “reinstatement with the same seniority status that the employee,
contractor or agent would have had but for the discrimination, two times the amount of back pay,
interest on the back pay, and compensation for any special damages sustained as a result of the

diserimination including litigation costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees.”

WHEREFORE, Relators pray for judgment against the HMA
Deféndants as follows:

A.  That judgment be entered for Relators and against
Defendant HMA for violating 31 US.C. § 3730(h);

B. That Relators shall receive from the [TMA
Defendant two times back pay, intérest on the back
pay, special damages, attorneys fees and costs, as
authorized by 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h);

C.  That Relators be granted such other and further
relief as the court deems just and proper.

VCOUNI IV (NORTH CAROLINA EX REL. MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA
V. HMA, LAKE NORMAN, DAVIS REGIONAL AND EMCARE DEFENDANTS) -
NORTH CAROLINA FALSE CLAIMS ACT
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-605 ef, seq.

510, Relators re-allege 1Y 1-509 as though fully set forth herein.

511, This is a claim for damages and penalties under the North Carolina False Claims
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Act,

512. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly presented or caused
to be presented, false or fraudulent claims to the North Carolina State Government for payment
or approval.

513. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly made, used or

caused to be made or used false records and statements, and omitted material facts to induce the
North Carolina State Government to approve or pay such false and fraudulent claims, The
Defendants also conspired to comrait violations of the North Carolina False Claims Act.

514, The North Carolina State Government, unaware of the falsity of the records,
statements and claims made, used, presented or caused to be presented by Defendants, paid and
continues to pay the clairas that would not be paid but for Defendants’ illegal inducements,

i : 515. By reason of the Defendants’ acts, the State of North Carolina has been damaged,
and continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial.

516. The Stale of North Carolina is entitled to the maximum penalty of $11,000 for

each and every false or fraudulent claim, record or statement made, used, presented or caused to

be made, used or presented by Defendants.

517. Defendants also violated the anti-retaliation provisions of the Noith Carolina
False Claims Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-613, when they retaliated against Relators and ultimately
terminated their f:rofcssional services contracts for Relfators” engaging in the protected conduct
described herein,

518. Pursuant to Notth Carolina Gen. Stat, § 1-613, Relators are entitled to “all relief
necessary to be made whole,” including “reinstatement with the same seniority status that the
employee, contractor or agent would have had but for the discrimination, two times the amount

of back pay, interest on the back pay, and compensation for any special damages sustained as a
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result of the discrimination, including litigation costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees.’

WHEREFORE, Relators request the following relief:
A, That this Court enter judgment against Defendants
in an amount equal to three times the amount of damages
the North Carolina Medicaid program has sustained
because of Defendants’ actions, plus a civil penalty of not
less than $5,500 and not more than $1{,000 for each
violation of North Carolina Gen, Stat, § 1-607;
B. That this Court enter judgment against Defendants
in favor of Relators in an amount equal to two times back
pay, interest on the back pay, special damages, attorneys
fees and costs, as authorized by Gen, Stat, § 1-607; and that
Relator MEMA be granted such other and further relief as
the court deems just and ptoper.

COUNT V (FLORIDA EX REL. MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA
V. HMA AND EMCARE DEFENDANTS) -
FLORIDA FAYLSE CLAIMS ACT
Fla. Stat. Ann, § 68.082(2)

519. Relators re-atlege 1 1-518 as though fully set forth herein.

520. This is a claim for treble damages and penalties under the Florida False Claims
Act, Fla. Stat. § 68.082(2).

521. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly presented or caused
to be presented, false or fraudulent claims to the Florida State Government for payment ot
approval,

522, By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly made, used or
caused to be made or used false records and statements, and omitted material facts to induce the
Florida State Government to approve or pay such false and fraudulent efaims.

523. The Florida State Government, nnaware of the falsity of the records, statements

and claims made, used, presented or caused to be presented by Defendants, paid and continues to

pay the claims that would not be paid but for Defendants’ illegal inducements.
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524. By reason of the Defendants’ acts, the State of Florida has been damaged, and
continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial.
i 525. The State of Florida is entitled to the maximum penalty of $10,000 for each and
every false or fraudulent claim, record or statement made, used, presented or caused to be made,
used or presented by Defendants.
WHYREFQRE, Relators request the following relief:
A.  That this Court enter judgment against Defendants
in an amount equal to three times the amount of damages
the State of Florida has sustained because of Defendants’
actions, plus a civil penalty of $10,000 for each violation of
Fla. Stat. Ann, § 68.082(2).
COUNT VI (GEORGIA EX REL. MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA
V. HMA AND EMCARE DEFENDANTS) -
GEORGIA STATE FALSE MEDICAID CLAIMS ACT
Ga. Code Ann, § 49-4-168.1 (2)(1) and (2)

526. Relators re-allege 4 [-525 as though fully set forth herein,

527, This is a claim for treble damages and peﬁa]ties under the Georgia State False
' Medicaid Claims Act.

528. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly presented or caused
to be presented, false or frandulent claims to the Georgia State Government for payment or
approval,

529. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly made, used or

caused to be made or used false records and statements, and omitted material facts to induce the

Georgia State Government to approve or pay such false and fraudulent claims,

530. The Georgia State Government, unaware of the falsity of the records, statements
and claims made, used, presented or caused to be presented by Defendants, paid and continues to

pay the claims that would not be paid but for Defendants® illegal inducements.
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531. By reason of the Defendants’ acts, the State of Georgia has been damaged, and
continues fo be danjaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial.

532, The State of Georgia is entitled to the maximum penalty of $11,000 for each and
every false or fraudulent claim, record or statement made, used, presented or caused fo be made,
used or presented by Defendants.

WHEREFOQORE, Relators request the following relief:
A.  That this Court enter judgment against Defendants
in an amount equal to three times the amount of damages
the Georgia Medicaid program has sustained because of
Defendants’ actions, plus a civil penalty of not less than
$5,500 and not more than $11,000 for each violation of Ga,
Code Ann. §49-4-168.1 {a)(1) and (2).

COUNT VII (OXLAHOMA EX REL. MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA
Y. HMA AND EMCARE DEFENDANTS) -
OKLAHOMA MEDICAID FALSE CLAIMS ACT
63 Oklahoma Statutes Annotated § 5053 et. seq.

533.  Relators re-allege 99 [-532 as though fully set forth herein.

534.  This is a claim for damages and penalties under the Ollahoma Medicaid False
Claims Act.

535. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly presented or caused
to be presented, false or fraudulent claims to the Oklahoma State Government for payment or
approval,

536, By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly made, used or
caused to be made or nsed false records and statements, and omitted material facts to induce the
Okiahoma State Government to approve or pay such false and fraudulent claims. The
Defendants also conspired to commit violations of the Oklahoma Medicaid False Claims Aet.

537. The Oklahoma State Government, unaware of the falsity of the records,

statements and claims made, used, presented or eaused to be presented by Defendants, paid and
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continues to pay the claims that would not be paid but for Defendants’ illegal inducements.

538. By reason of the Defendants’ acts, the State of Oklahoma has been damaged, and
continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount o be determined at trial.

539. The State of Oklahoma is entitled to the maximum penalty of $10,000 for each
and every false or fraudulent claim, record or statement made, used, presented or caused to be
made, used or presented by Defendants.

WHEREFORE, Relators request the following relief:

A, That this Court enter judgment against Defendants
in an amount equal to three times the amount of damages
the Oklahoma Medicaid program has sustained because of
Defendants’ actions, plus a civil penalty of not less than
$5,000 and not more than $10,000 for each violation of 63
Oklahoma Statutes Annotated § 5053.1.B;

B. That this Court enter judgment against Defendant
HMA in favor of Relators for attorneys’ fees and costs, as
authorized by 63 Oklahoma Statutes Annotated § 5053 4,
and that Relators be granted such other and further relief as
the court deems just and proper.

COUNT VHI (TENNESSEE EX REL. MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA
V. HMA AND EMCARE DEFENDANTS) -

TENNESSEE MEDICAID FALSE CLAIMS ACT
Tenn. Code Ann, § 71-5-182(a)(1)(A) and (B)

540.  Relators re-aliege 1§ 1-539 as though fully set forth herein.

541. This is a claim for treble damages and penaities under the Tennessee Medicaid
False Claims Act.

542. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly presented or caused
to be presented, false or fraudulent claims to the Tennessee State Government for payment ar
approval.

543. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendant knowingly made, used or caused

to be made or used false records and statements, and omitted material facts to induce the
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Tennessee State Government to approve or pay such false and fraudulent claims.

544, The Tennessee State Government, unaware of the falsity of the records,
statements and claims made, used, presented or caused 1o be presented by Defendants, paid and
| continues to pay the claims that would not be paid but for Defendants’ illegal inducements.

545. By reason of the Defendants’ acts, the State of Tennessee has been damaged, and
A continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial.

546. The State of Tennessee is entitled to the maximum penalty of $10,000 for cach
and every false or fraudulent claim, record or statement made, used, presented or caused to be
made, used or presented by Defendants.

WHEREFORE, Relators request the following relief:
A, That this Court enter judgment against Defendants
in an amount equal to three times the amount of dainages
the State of Tennessee has sustained becanse of

Defendants’ actions, plus a civil penalty of 510,000 for
each violation of Tenn. Code Ann. § 71-5-182(a){1)(A) and

(B).

COUNT IX (TEXAS EX REL. MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA
Y. HMA AND EMCARE DEFENDANTS) -
TEXAS MEDICAID FRAUD PREVENTION ACT
Texas Code § 36.001, et. seq.

547. Relators re-allege 19 1-546 as though fully set forth herein. |
548.  This is a claim for treble damages and penalties under the Texas Medicaid Fraud
% Prevention Act.

549. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly presented or caused
to be presented, false or fraudulent claims to the Texas State Government for payment ot
approval.

550. By viriue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly made, used or

caused to be made or used false records and statements, and omitted material facts to induce the
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Texas State Government to approve or pay such false and fraudulent claims.

551. The Texas State Government, unaware of the faisity of the records, statements
and claims made, used, presented or cansed to be presented by Defendants, paid and continues to
pay the claims that would not be paid but for Defendants’ illegal inducements.

552. By reason of the Defendants’ acts, the State of Texas has been damaged, and
continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be detettnined at trial.

553. The State of Texas is entitled to the maximum penalty of $10,000 for each and
every false or fraudulent claim, record ot statement made, used, presented or caused to be made,
used or presented by Defendants.

WHEREFORE, Relators request the following relief:
A.  That this Court enter judgment against Defendants
in an amount equal to three times the amount of damages
the State of Texas has sustained because of Defendants’
actions, plus a civil penalty of $10,000 for each violation of

Texas Code § 36.002,

COUNT X (MEMA V. BMA AND EMCARE) -
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH A CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP

554. Relator/Plaintiff MEMA re-alleges Y 1-553 as though fully set forth herein.

555,  Plaintiff MEMA had valid contracts with Defendants Lalke Norman and Davis
Regional for the exclusive provision of emergency services.

556. Defendants HMA and EmCare knew that these contracts were in place since 1996
and 2000, respectively. In fact, HMA’s executives continually threatened Relators to cause the
termination of these contracts in retaliation for Relators refusal to cooperate with HMA'’s fraud,
and/or Relators’ efforts which eonstituted protected conduct.

557. Defendants HMA and EmCare intentionally induced Defendants Lake Norman

and Davis Regional to terminate the contracts with MEMA.
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558. Defendants HMA and EmCare acted without justification, in that Defendants’
motives were not reasonably related to protecting a legitimate business interest. In fact,
Defendants’ motives, to further a scheme to defraud federal and state government-sponsored
health programs across the country, actually undermine Defendants’ legitimate business interest,

559, Defendants’conduct caused actual damage to Plaintiff MEMA.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff MEMA requests the following relief:

A. That this Court enter judgment against Defendants
and in favor of Plaintiff MEMA in an amount equal fo. the
damages MEMA has sustained because of Defendants’
aclions;

B. That this Court assess and enter judgment against
Defendants in favor of Plaintiff MEMA for punitive
damages pursuant to N.C, Gen, Stat, § 1D;

C. Such other and further relief as the court deems just
. and proper,

COUNT XI (MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA
V. DEFENDANTS HMA, LAKE NORMAN AND DAVIS REGIONAL) -
i DEFAMATION AND SLANDER PER SE
1 560. Relators/Plaintiffs re-allege ] I-559 as though fully set forth herein.
; 561. Following the Notice of Termination which Defeﬁdants ‘p‘rlovided to Relators on
May 3, 2010, Defendants caused injury to Plaintiffs MEMA, Mason, and Folstad by making
false statements concerning the Plaintiffs to third persons, including, but not limited to:

] Statements by MMA’s Lake Norman CEO, Greg Lowe, to the Lake
Norman Board of Directors that the Plaintiffs were replaced because they did not want to
practice quality medicine and they refused to use HMA's quality program,

s Defendants HMA, Lake Norman, and/or Davis Regional told numerous

other physicians that Plaintiffs were terminated because of fts failurc to commit to HMA’s

quality program and because of Plaintiffs’ patient satisfaction scores.
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562, Each of these statements was false and touched the Plaintiffs in their special trade
or occupation.

563. Defendants made these statements in bad faith, with malice, and with a direct
intent to harm Plaintiffs, and with reckless disregard for their rights. Defendants were aware at
the time that they made these statements that they were false,

564, Defendants made these statements knowing that they would cause great harm to
the Plaintiffs, including great harm to their reputations.

565. Defendants’ conduct amounts to slander per sc because these oral
communications amount to allegations that impeach Plaintiffs in their business, or profession.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs MEMA, Folstad, and Mason request
the following relief:

A, That this Court enter judgment against Defendants
and in their favor in an amount equal to the damages
MEMA has sustained because of Defendants’ actions;

B. That this Court assess and enter judgment against
Defendants and in their favor for punitive damages
pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat, § 1D; '

C. Such other and further velief as the Coitrt deems just
and proper, '

COUNT XII (MASON, FOLSTAD AND MEMA V.

DEFENDANTS HMA, EMCARE, LAKE NORMAN, AND DAVIS REGIONAL) -
NORTH CAROLINA UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT
(“UDTPA”) (N.C. Gen, Stat. § 75-1.1)

566.  Relators/Plaintiffs re-allege 99 1-565 as though fully set forth herein,
567.  As recited above, Defendants engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices,
including, but not limited to the following:

a) conducting the operations of HMA hospitals in the State of North Carolina in a

manner which compelled physicians and physician groups, hospital staff and hospitat
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administrators to participate in Defendants’ deception of government health care programs,
private insurers, and consumers related to the ordering of unnecessary tests and the provision of
unnecessary out-patient and in-patient services at HMA hospitals;

b) incentivizing or attempting to incentivize physicians to cooperate with
Defendants® fraudulent practices;

c) retaliating against physician practices, including Plainfiff MEMA, and physicians,
including Plaintiffs Folstad and Mason, and staff who would not cooperate with Defendants’
frandulent practices;

d) causing the submission of false claims for unnecessary medical services (ER
lesting, outpatient services, in-patient admissions) to state and local government health care
programs, as well as to private insurers;

e) making false and malicious statements about Plaintiffs.

568. Defendants’ conduct constitutes unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or
affecting commerce in North Carolina becausc it involves other market participants, including
consumers and public and private insurers, as well as other competitor facilities. Defendants’
unfair or deceptive practices caused patients to be treated at HMA hospitarls rather than by other
providers. Defendants’ unfair and/or deceptive practices caused government and/or private
insurers, as well as the patients themselves, to be billed for unnecessary hospital services, and/or
the revenues generated by HMA's unfair or deeeptive practices affect the investment decisions
of shareholders and other participants in publicly-traded and privately-held companies, including
HMA and its competitors.

569, Defendants’ conduct proximately caused actual injury to the Plaintiffs.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs MEMA, Folstad, and Mason request
the following relief:
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A. That this Court assess damages and enter judgment
against Defendants and in favor of the Plaintiffs in an
amount equal to three times the damages they have
sustained because of Defendants’ actions pursuant to N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 75-16;

B.  That this Court assess and enter judgment against
Defendants and in favor of the Plaintiffs for punitive

damages pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1D;

C.  That this Court enter judgment against Defendants
and in favor of Plaintiffs for attorneys® fees;

D.  Such other and further relief as the Court deems just
and proper. '
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trial by

2425569v]

DEMAND FOR A JURY TRIAL

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Relators hereby demand a

jury.

This the CM,& day of

g)f‘uwg ,2013.
Respectfully submitted,

WYATT & BLAKE, LLP

i 9 |

JAMES F. WYATT, 11, ESQUIRE
NC Bar # 13766

ROBERT A. BLAKE, JR., ESQUIRE
NC Bar # 20858

435 East Morehead Street

Charlotte, NC 23202-2609

Tele. No.: (704) 331-0767

Fax: (704) 331-0773

and

PIETRAGALLO GORDON ALFANO
BOSICK & RASPANTI, LLP

MICHAEL A. MORSE, ESQUIRE
PAMELA C. BRECHT, ESQUIRE
1818 Market Street, Suite 3402
Philadelphia, PA 19103

Tele. No.: (215) 320-6200

Fax: (215) 981-0082

Attorneys for Qui Tam Plaintiffs/Relators
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

[ hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing Relator’s Severed
Second Amended Qui Tam Complaint for Violations of Federal and State False Claims
Acts and the Anti-Kickback Statutes has been served on the following in the manner
listed below:

VIA FEDERAL EXPRESS

Marie V. Bonkowski, Esquire
Senior Trial Counsel - Commercial Litigation Branch - Civil Division
United States Department of Justice
601 D Street, NW - Room 9116
Washington, DC 20004

Justin Draycott, Esquire
Senior Trial Counsel Commercial Litigation Branch - Civil Division
Patrick Henry Building
601 D St., NW, Room 9010
Washington, DC 20004

Sabrina Bindocci, Paralegal Specialist
Commercial Litigation Branch
Civil Division
United States Department of Justice
601 D Street, NW ~ Room 1223
Washington, DC 20004 '

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

F. Edward Kirby, Jr., Esquire - Assistant Attorney General
North Carolina Department of Justice - Medicaid Investigations Unit, NC
5505 Creedmoor Road, Suite 300
Raleigh, NC 27612

Donald H. Caldwell, Jr., Esquire - Assistant United States Attorney
United States Attorney’s Office for the Western District of North Carolina
United States Department of Justice
227 West Trade Street, Suite 1650
Charlotte, NC 28202

Case 3:10-cv-00472-GCM Document 26-1 Filed 01/09/13 Page 16 of 18




Edward R, Ryan, Senior Counsel - Assistant United States Attorney
United States Attorney's Office for the Western District of North Carolina
United States Department of Justice
227 West Trade Street, Suite 1650
Charlotte, NC 28202

Jonathan H. Ferry, Esquire - Assistant United States Attorney
United States Attorney's Office for the Western District of North Carolina
United States Department of Justice
227 West Trade Street, Suite 1650
Charlotte, NC 28202

Kelli H. Ferry, Esquire - Assistant United States Attorney
United States Attorney's Office for the Western District of North Carolina
United States Department of Justice
227 West Trade Street, Suite 1650
Charlotte, NC 28202

Renae Flam, Paralegal Specialist
United States Attorney's Office for the Western District of North Carolina
United States Department of Justice
227 West Trade Street, Suite 1650
Charlotte, NC 28202

Brian S. Hunter, Esquire - Assistant Aftorney General
Office of the Attorney General - Medicaid Fraud Control Unit
P1-01, The Capitol
Tallahasses, FL 32399-1050

Nancy B. Allstrom, Esquire - Assistant Attorney General for the State of Georgia
- Georgia State Healthcare Fraud Control Unit
2100 East Exchange Place, Building 1, Suite 200
Tucker, GA 30084-5336

Christopher Robinson, Assistant Attorney General
Patient Abuse and Medicaid Fraud Control Unit - Oklahoma Office of Attorney General
313 NE 21st Street
Oklahoma City, OK 73105

L.D. Thomas, Assistant United States Attorney
United States Attorney’s Office for the Middle District of Tennessee
110 9™ Avere South
Suite A-961
Nashville, TN 37203
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Timothy P. Harlan, Assistant Attorney General
State of Tennessee Office of the Attorney General
425 Fifth Avenue, North

Nashville, TN 37243

Justin Dunlap, Esquire - Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General - Civil Medicaid Fraud Division
300 W. 15™ Street
Austin, TX 78701

Kristina M. Kennedy, Esquire - Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General - Civil Medicaid Fraud Division
300 W. 15th Street
Austin, TX 78701

PIETRAGALLO GORDON ALFANO
BOSICK & RASPANTI, LLP

MARC S. RASPAMTI, ESQUI

1818 Market Street, Suite 3402
Philadelphia, PA 19103

 Tele. No.: (215) 320-6200
Fax: (215) 981-0082

Attorneys for Qui Tam Plaintiffs/Relators

2426147v1
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